University of Rajshahi	Rajshahi-6205	Bangladesh.	
RUCL Institutional Repository		http://rulrepository.ru.ac.bd	
Department of Botany		PhD Thesis	

1994

Study of Quantitative Inheritance in Some Mutants of Rice

Azam, Md. Ali

University of Rajshahi

http://rulrepository.ru.ac.bd/handle/123456789/952 Copyright to the University of Rajshahi. All rights reserved. Downloaded from RUCL Institutional Repository.

STUDY OF QUANTITATIVE INHERITANCE IN SOME MUTANTS OF RICE

Ph. D. THESIS

by

MD. ALI AZAM, M. Phil.



DEPARTMENT OF BOTANY UNIVERSITY OF RAJSHAHI RAJSHAHI, BANGLADESH

JUNE, 1994

Study of Quantitative Inheritance in Some Mutants of Rice

Ph.D.Thesis By Md. Ali Azam, *M. Phil*.

.

June, 1994 -

1

 Department of Botany University of Rajshahi Rajshahi, Bangladesh

€.

·

Dedicated

.

.

t0

MY

.

Parents

DECLARATION

I, hereby, declare that the entire work now submitted as a thesis towards the fulfilment for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy at the University of Rajshahi, Rajshahi, Bangladesh, is the result of my own investigation.

I, further, declare that the work emboided in this thesis has not been submitted previously or concurrently as a candidature for any other degree.

(M.A^C. Azam) Candidate

(A. J. Miah) C-Supervisor

8.6.94 Ο. Ι. Supervisor

ACKNOWLEDGMENT

I wish to express my deepest sense of gratitude and appreciation to my supervisor Professor O.I. Joarder, Department of Botany, University of Rajshahi, for his guidance, encouragement, valuable advice and assistance during the course of study and preparation of the manuscript.

I am also indebted to my joint supervisor Dr. A.J. Miah, Director General, Bangladesh Institute of Nuclear Agriculture (BINA), Mymensingh, for his guidance, encouragement and facilities given in the Institute during the course of my study. I am grateful to Dr. M.A.Q. Shaikh, Director, BINA, Mymensingh, for his continuous encouragement during the course of study.

I am indebted to Dr. M.M. Uddin, Deputy Registrar, Islamic University, Kushtia, for his encouragement, valuable suggestions and advice during the data analysis for preparing the manuscript. My thanks are due to Dr. A.K.M. Rafiul Islam, Associate Professor, Department of Botany, University of Rajshahi and Mr. Mizanur Rahman Khan, Senior Scientific Officer, BCSIR Laboratory, Rajshahi for their continuous encouragement given during my course of study.

My thanks are also due to Mr. Md. Lokman Hakim, Senior Scientific Officer and Mr. H.R. Akanda, Assistant Scientific Officer, BINA, Mymensingh, who helped me during the different stages of field and pot experiments and collection of data. My

[111]

thanks are also due to Mr. M. L. Das, SSO and my other colleagues of the Institute who gave me continuous encouragement during the course of study.

Lastly, I wish to express my sincere thanks to my beloved wife, Mrs. N. Nahar and daughters, Miss Sanzida and Hridi for their continuous cooperation and encouragement.

The Author

STUDY OF QUANTITATIVE INHERITANCE IN SOME MUTANTS OF RICE

ABSTRACT

Nine agronomic characters viz., plant height, effective tillers per plant, panicle length, flag leaf length, flag leaf breadth, flag leaf area, primary branches per panicle, grains per panicle and grain yield per plant of rice (*Oryza sativa* L.) were studied in two separate investigations. Biometrical techniques were applied in analyzing the data.

Gene Action : Inheritance of nine agronomical characters were studied in a single cross of rice (*Oryza sativa* L.) using segregating (F_2 , F_3 , B_1 and B_2) and non-segregating (parents and F_1) generations. The means of segregating and non-segregating generations (F_1 , F_2 , F_3 , B_1 and B_2) were within the parental ranges in all the characters. Both additive and non-additive types of gene effects were involved in the inheritance of these characters but the former was of much importance than the latter. Epistatic gene effects were detected. The absolute magnitude of epistatic gene effects was always less than the mean effect. Additive x additive (i) type of epistasis was more pronounced in most of the characters. Duplicate type of epistatic gene effects was observed in most of the cases. Additive (D) type of genetic variation formed the major part whereas dominance (H) type of

[v]

genetic variation contributed very little to the phenotypic variation in all the cases. All type of heritability estimates were high in most of the cases. Broad sense heritability (Hb) ranged from 41.27% for panicle length to 80.24% for grain yield per plant. Narrow sense heritability (Hn) ranged from 98.18% for panicle length to 143.19% for plant height. Heritability estimated by parent offspring regression ranged from 68.42% to 108.33% for panicle length and plant height, respectively. Partial dominance in F_1 and F_2 and both partial and overdominance in F_3 were noticed. No linkage was detected for all the characters. Positive isodirectionally distributed polygenes for all the characters were common in the parents. Number of effective factors were 2-3 in majority of the cases.

Genotype - environment interaction : G X E interactions were investigated for nine agronomic characters of rice (*Oryza sativa* L.) with the same parents and generations (used in the Part I study) under eight artificially created soil environments of N, P and K fertilizers. Genotype-environment interactions were operative in both the segregating and non-segregating generations. Both the linear and non-linear functions were accounted and greater portion of G X E interactions were accounted by the linear functions of the environmental means. These two components of G X E interaction were under the control of different gene system. A real difference between the genotypes existed in relation to response and stability. Genetic diversity

[vi]

in the generations was indicated. Significant effects of different environments were detected in all the cases. The generations had varied responses to the environmental changes. Association of mean with response for all the characters was observed. On the other hand association of stability with mean and response was absent. When association of these three aspects $(\bar{X}, b_1 \text{ and } \bar{S}_d^2)$ were examined between characters, means and responses were found to be well associated while stability was not associated in most of the characters. Same gene system control for mean and response and different gene system control for stability were noticed. Nature of inheritance of mean was detected. Additivity played the major part in the inheritance of these characters. Duplicate types of gene actions were noticed in two of the studied characters. All the fertilizers (N, P and K), when applied singly, had favourable effects but N had the greatest effect than the other two fertilizers. On the basis of mean, response and stability, selection can be made for all environments from F_2 and F_3 generations.

CONTENTS

INTRODUCTION		
PART I. GENE ACTION		
REVIEW OF LITERATURE	• • •	3
MATERIALS AND METHODS		14
A. MATERIALS	• • •	14
B. METHODS		14
(a) Production of Experimental Seeds		15
(b) Preparation and Design of Experimental	l Field	16
(c) Setting of Experiment in the Field		17
(d) Collection of Data	•••	18
(e) Techniques of Analysis		19
RESULTS		36
Means and Standard Errors	• • •	36
Theoretical Means	• • •	36
Scaling Test		39
Epistatic Gene Effect		40
1) 3-Parameter Model		40
11) 6-Parameter Model		41
Components of Variation		43
i) Inclusive Analysis		44
11) Exclusive Analysis		44

.

Heritability		Page 45
Degree of Dominance		46
1) Potence Ratio Method		46
ii) Dominance Ratio Method		47
Test of Linkage		47
Number of Effective Factors		48
DISCUSSION		67
SUMMARY	•••	80
PART II. GENOTYPE - ENVIRONMENT INTERACTION		
REVIEW OF LITERATURE		83
MATERIALS AND METHODS		94
A. MATERIALS	•••	94
B. METHODS		94
(a) Production of Experimental Seeds	·	95
(b) Raising and Maitenance of Experimental	plants	95
(C) Collection of Data	• • •	96
(d) Techniques of Analysis		97
RESULTS	•••	103
Means and Analysis of Variance		103
Phenotypic Regression		
1) JointRegression Analysis		106
11) Individual Regression Analysis		108

.

. .

[1x]

Correlation Studies		Page 113
i) Correlation Within Character	•••	113
11) Correlation Between Characters	• • •	115
Genetical Studies with Means	••••	116
1) 3-Parameter Model	• • •	116
11) 6-parameter Model	•••	117
Effect of Fertilizers	•••	118
DISCUSSION	•••	160
SUMMARY	• • •	172
REFERENCES	• • •	174

* * *

.

.

LIST OF TABLES

.

.

PART-I. Gene action

•

Table	1.	Means and standard errors of different characters for different generations	•••	50
Table	2.	Observed and theoretical means of different generations	•••	52
Table	з.	Mather's Scaling Test for different characte	ers	54
Table	4.	Estimates m, d and h based on 3-parameter model and χ^2 Test	• • •	5 5
Table	5.	Estimates of m, d and h and their interactions (1,j and 1) based on 6-parameter model and x^2 Test	•••	56
Table	6.	Least square estimates of components of variations (D, H, \mathbf{E}_1 and \mathbf{E}_2) and their standard errors		57
Table	7.	Heritability estimates of different characte	rs	58
Table	8.	Degree of dominance (based on potence ratio method) of different characters	•••	59
Table	9.	Estimates of variance and covariance of different characters	•••	60
Table	10.	Results of analysis of variance for test of linkage	•••	65
Table	11.	Estimates of number of effective factors	• • •	66
PART-1	CI.	Genotype-environment interaction		
Table	1.	Mean performance of different characters of different generations		123
Table	2.	Environmental means of different characters	•••	125
Table	з.	Results of analysis of variance	•••	127
Table	4.	Joint regression analysis for linearity and non-linearity		130

Table	5.	Regression coefficients (b_i) , standard errors of b_i and stabilities of different characters	• • •	135
Table	6.	Correlation coefficients between means and responses, between means and stabilities and between response and stabilities within characters		149
Table	7.	Correlation coefficients between means, responses and stabilities of different characters		150
Table	8.	Estimates of m, d and h based on 3-parameter model		152
Table	9.	Estimates of m, d and h and their interactions based on 6-parameter model	•••	153
Table	10.	Effect of N, P, K and their different combinations on different characters	•••	154
Table	11.	Effect of N, P, K and their different combinations on different characters of different populations		155

.

* * *

INTRODUCTION

Rice is the principal food crop of tropical and subtropical regions and second most important food crop of the world. In China, India, Japan, Southeast Asia and in the adjacent islands of the Pacific over 85 percent of the world's rices are grown. China and India produce about 50% of the total world's production while Japan, Indonesia, Pakistan, Burma, Thailand, Indochina and Bangladesh produce about 30 percent of world's rice production.

Rice is one of the oldest cultivated crops and has been cultivated in China and India for at least 5000 years. It is believed that rice has originated in Southeast Asia since large areas of marshy land suitable for its cultivation exist in this area. From there rice has likely spread eastward into China.

Most of the countries of Asia and Africa are deficit in food production and they are suitable for rice cultivation. Hence, rice plays an important role in the economy of these countries.

Usually poor countries are facing the problem of food crisis and they are trying to increase the production of food crops. This is being done not only by acclimatization of introduced better exotic varieties as food crops to new areas but also by evolving high yielding varieties through hybridization and selection. The latter has a greater probability in achieving the goal. Thus plant breeders and agronomists have a great role to play in solving the problems. Of the breeding procedures crossing, selection and inheritance study of characters are the important aspects. Thus, plant breeders' principal objectives in breeding rice are yield; maturity; resistance to lodging, disease and insect; quality and varietal adaptation for specific environments such as drought and saline areas.

The present investigation comprises two parts. The first part deals with the yield and some yield components and with some leaf characteristic of a cross between two rice mutant lines. The second part includes the genotype-environment interaction of different generations of the above said cross with eight artificially created soil conditions.

PART - I

GENE ACTION

.

REVIEW OF LITERATURE

In the segregating progenies quantitative characters show a continuous variation which forms the basis of evolution and has served the practical purposes of plant and animal improvement. Rediscovery of Mendel's laws of heredity could not create much interest of the breeders to handle continuous variation as means of plant and animal improvement in earlier breeding work because the mathematical techniques required to interpret the results of continuous variation, were lacking.

Until the genetical assumptions and biometrical methods developed in the early part of this century, the fundamental nature of gene action and interactions involve in the inheritance of quantitative characters were not well understood. In 1909, for the first time, Johannsen published the theory of pure line selection in which he clearly distinguished heritable and nonheritable variances. This made the investigators to become interested in studying continuous variation as genetical aspect. In the same year (1909) Nelsson-Ehle stated his multiple factor hypothesis. East (1915) studying the inheritance of quantitative characters of *Nicotiana rustica* L. clearly showed that quantitative characters were inherited with the joint action of genetical and environmental factors. He also showed that the quantitative characters were inherited according to Mendel's laws of inheritance.

з

In 1918, Fisher studied the genetic variance in relation to environmental effect. He was the first to provide statistical methods of partitioning the total variation into genetical and environmental components. He suggested that several genes acted simultaneously on a quantitative character producing the total variation. He developed techniques for detecting the average main (additive) and dominance effects of the genes even when the genes were unequal in effect and exhibited incomplete dominance.

Later on, two lines of statistical techniques were developed to measure the gene action and interaction involved in continuous variation. According to the first, the first degree statistics (mean) of different generations were used to separate components of variation. Mather (1949) developed biometrical techniques based on mathematical models of Fisher et al. (1932). He described how the main(additive) and dominance variation could be estimated in wide variety of genetical experiments. The other statistical technique used the second degree statistics (variance and covariance) of different generations for the analysis of continuous variation present in random mating groups (Mather, 1949). It involved in partitioning the total variation of a population into heritable and non-heritable components. Heritable component was further partitioned into fixable heritable i.e. variation due to additive gene effect (D) and non-fixable heritable i.e. variation due to dominant gene effect (H). In partitioning the heritable components into D and H it requires

minimum three segregating generations $(B_1, B_2 \text{ and } F_2)$ and nonsegregating generations $(P_1, P_2 \text{ and } F_1)$ related to segregating generations. Estimates of D and H from three segregating generations do not allow sufficient statistics to test the significance of these components (Mather, 1949). Later on Mather (1949) developed least square technique to estimate heritable and non-heritable components from the cross between two inbred lines and their selfed generations $(F_2 \text{ and } F_3)$. Inclusion of F_3 generation provided sufficient statistics in the estimation of heritable and non-heritable components which allowed the estimation of standard error (S.E.) of different components. Hill (1966) have included backcross generation and different types of generations developed from crossing to different parents and selfing and backcrossing the first backcross generations for the estimation of different types of heritable and non-heritable components. The work of Fisher et al. (1932) influenced several investigators such as Yates (1947), Comstock and Robinson (1948), Mather (1949), Anderson (1953), Anderson and Kempthorne (1954), Kempthorne (1954), Jinks (1954), Hayman (1954), Hayman (1957), Hill (1966) and others to work on the gene action and interactions in continuous variations and thus, most of the genetic models to study continuous variation came into existence. Anderson and Kempthorne (1954) provided all the information about additive, dominance and digenic epistatic variation through six-parameter model. Hayman (1958)

successfully separated additive and dominance effects from epistasis by using three-parameter and six-parameter models. He suggested that means of families or generations were influenced by epistasis which often became as great as additive or dominance variation and it might be present in the form of interaction with additive effect, with dominant effect or with both additive and dominant effects. However, additive and dominant gene effects measured when significant epistasis 1s cannot be uniquely present and the relative contribution of the types gene action to various genetic phenomena such as heterosis cannot be ascertained by the partitioning method of Hayman (1960). On the other hand, estimates of the parameter do produce an indication of the relative importance of the various types of gene effects effecting the total genetic variation of an attribute. Later Mather and Jinks (1971), however, interpreted heterosis on the basis gene effects as described by Hayman (1958). Manv investigators have worked on the inheritance of quantitative characters and on the nature of gene action involved in the inheritance of quantitative characters in rice, some of which are discussed below. Chang et al. (1965) in 1-geo-tze Taiwan and Aquino and Jennings (1966) and Heu et al. (1968) in Taichung Native-1 found that one recessive gene, which was positively related to yield, controlled the short stature. Intercrosses among l-geo-tze, Dee-geo-woo-gen and Taichung Native-l showed that the recessive gene in all three semi-dwarf belongs to the

same locus (IRRI, 1967, p. 67-68). Chang and Vergera (1972) reported that a second recessive gene, non-allelic to the recessive gene of Taiwan's semi-dwarf, was found to control short plant stature in B 5580 AI-15. In the study of diallel crosses, earlier heading time was found to be regulated by predominantly dominant genes or by dominant genes with little non-allelic interaction while plant height was found to be controlled mostly by genes with additive effect and also by some genes showing dominance (Wu, 1968; Li and Chang, 1970 and and Eunus, 1975). Mohammed and Hanna (1965) showed Khaleque that plant height, in cross Sabini x Pakistan-7, was controlled by two pairs of effective factors with partial dominance. Polygenic control of length of panicle was also reported by them in 1965 and they noted that longer panicle length was dominant over shorter one. Polygenic control of plant height and of many other characters was also observed by Mitra (1962), Rajagopalon et al. (1973) and Khaleque (1975). Sathyanarayaniah and Reddi (1973), in a cross between IR8 and WC1263, found that earlier heading time and plant height was controlled by dominant gene while Rajendran and Namboodiri (1971), in Indica x Japonica and Indica x Indica crosses, noted multiple genic inheritance of these two characters.

Evaluation of genetic structure of panicle number, panicle length and spikelet number revealed that the gene action regulating these characters was largely additive, though some

loci showing dominance, was also noted (Li and Chang, 1970). Additive type of gene action regulating tiller number, panicle number and panicle length was also detected by Wu (1968).

Regarding grain weight Chandraratna and Sakai (1960) estimated 10 additive genes for this character in a cross between two Ceylonese varieties. Wu (1968) in F_1 generations and Li and Chang (1970) in F_1 and F_2 generations observed that the high count of tillers or panicles, longer panicles and larger number of spikelets were partially dominant to low count of tillers or panicles, shorter panicles and fewer number of spikelets respectively. Rahman and Eunus (1973) noted in F_1 generations that additive and dominant genetic variations were greater for panicle length and primary branch number than those for spikelet number and grain yield per panicle.

Kaul (1972) when studying the growth performance of Basumati-370, Jhona-349, IR 8, Jaya and Padma found that plant height was highly heritable character followed by grain weight, tiller number per plant, panicle length and grain number per panicle. Kaul and Bhan (1974) also found high heritability for grain number per panicle, effective tiller number per plant and culm length in 30 varieties. They also showed high expected selective limit for these characters. High broad sense heritability was observed in rice by Khaleque (1975).

 \checkmark Ali et al. (1975) studied F_1 , F_2 and F_3 generations of the crosses Giza-159 x IR 8 and Giza x Taichung Native-1. They

observed that the estimates of dominance genetic variance were significantly positive and of additive genetic variance were significantly negative. Shaalan *et al.* (1975) studied grain yield per plant, number of ear bearing tillers per plant and panicle length in two crosses and found almost similar results.

Estimates of high heritability and genetic advance were obtained by Maurya (1976) for 13 traits in 21 F_1 s and F_2 s derived from seven parents revealed that improvement in grain yield could best be effected by selection for high grain number per panicle and long grains.

Chaudhury et al. (1976) observed in crosses AC-1951 x TN-1 and Tainan-3 x AC-1951 that broad sense heritability and estimates of genetic advance were high or moderately high for plant height, number of ear bearing tillers, panicle length, number of spikelets per panicle, 100 grain weight and single plant yield. They also showed that at least one pair of genes were controlling each of these characters.

Singh and Nanda (1976) studied a 6 x 6 diallel cross. They found overdominance for yield per plant and panicle length and partial dominance for panicle number per plant. They showed that additive and dominant genes were important for yield per plant while additive genes were of major importance for panicle length and panicle number per plant. Recessive genes were more important in respect to panicles per plant whereas dominant genes were more important for yield per plant and panicle length.

Shaalai and Aly (1977) while studying the progenies of the crosses Nahda x IR 8 and Nahda x Taichung Native-1 found significant additive genetic variance for plant height and number of tillers per plant in both crosses. They also found significant dominance genetic variance for number of tillers and number of ear bearing tillers in the first cross and for plant height, number of tillers, number of ear bearing tillers and panicle length in the second cross. They observed high broad sense heritability in most of the characters of the two crosses. They also found high genetic advance for panicle length of cross 1 and for number of tillers and number of ear bearing tillers of cross 2. Khaleque and Eunus (1977) also reported high broad sense heritability for seeding to heading period, size of flag leaf, length of panicle, number of primary branches per panicle, number cf kernel per panicle, 100 kernel weight and yield per plant of 1 to 2 boro growing rice varieties. They also noted high expected selective limit for the size of flag leaf, number of primary branches per panicle, number of kernel per panicle and yield per plant. Prasad and Chandra (1977) estimated moderately high broad sense heritability for plant height, area of second leaf, total grain number per panicle and grain weight per panicle. They showed the highest estimate of selective limit for grain yield per plant.

Kim and Heu (1977) while evaluating a diallel cross and it's F_2 generations suggested that the additive effects were the main

source of variation in highly heritable culm length. Significant additive effect for culm length and plant height for 14 varieties was detected by Yen (1977). He detected significant dominant effect for plant height and suggested that at least one pair of gene was involved in controlling each of these characters.

Azam (1981) studied F_2 , F_3 and parental populations of two single crosses involving four varieties of rice. He observed additive genetic variances of yield and yield components were of more importance while dominance variations of these characters were mostly non-significant. Heritability was generally low and linkage was detected. Number of effective factors in most of the characters were detected by him to be one. He also found the presence of overdominance in most of the cases. He observed that either plus or minus genes appeared to be isodirectionally distributed in some characters while in other characters plus or minus genes were nonisodirectionally distributed.

Using a 6 x.6 diallel cross of cultivars and dwarf mutants, Kumar *et al.* (1986) estimated additive-dominance gene action in plant height. He found that the plant height was governed predominantly by additive genes with dominance gene action and it possessed high heritability.

Hahn and Chae (1987) estimated some genetic parameters of grain yield and some grain characters in four semidwarf rice varieties crossed in all possible combinations to give single, double, 3-way and backcross hybrids. He studied the additive and

Rajshahi University Library

dominance gene action in single crosses and found that the additive effects were of much importance followed by <u>heterosis</u> effects for most of the characters. He found the presence of epistasis and estimated significant heterosis for all characters except grain width. Average heterosis that he assessed, was negative for certain traits and positive for the others. He also observed that heterosis was more important for yield.

 F_1 , F_2 and backcross generations were studied by Tai *et al.* (1989) in crosses of *O. nivara* Japonica cultivars. They observed broad sense heritability were high for various traits while narrow sense heritability values were greatest for stem length, panicle length, spikelets/panicle and percentage of grain set.

Yan and Wang (1990) studied F_1 and F_2 generations of 11 indica-japonica hybrids. They found high broad sense heritability in length, breadth, area and angles between main stem and leaves. They found that the first 3 traits (length, breadth and area of leaves) were governed by at least two pair of genes. They also found significant positive estimates of heterosis in these 3 leaf characters and negative for the other 3 traits.

Ten characters were assessed by Choi (1990) in F_1 , F_2 and BC₁ generations of the semidwarf indica cultivar IR29 crossed with the early maturing Japonica variety Cheolweon 1. He observed heterosis for culm and panicle length, spikelets/panicle and early maturity in the F_1 plants. He also observed that dominant epistasis influenced heading time while complementary or multiple

type non-allelic interactions were involved in culm length.

Information on the nature of gene actions and their interactions influencing different economic characters of rice is not adequate, specially with respect to yield and yield components. The purpose of the present investigation was, therefore, to study the inheritance of nine quantitative characters of rice (*Oryza sativa* L.) using mainly the means and variances and covariances of different generations.

13

ŀ

MATERIALS AND METHODS

A. MATERIALS

The materials used in this experiment consisted of two stable rice mutant lines (obtained from a local rice variety, Nizersail, irradiated in 1973) and F_1 , F_2 , F_3 , B_1 and B_2 generations of single cross made between these two rice mutant lines. Some salient features of these two mutant lines used as parents are described below in brief:

- Mut NS1 : Tall, moderate early maturing, possesses more number of tillers, leaves are long-board, panicles are longer which bear a good number of grains and high yielder type. This mutant line was released in 1987 by Bangladesh Institute of Nuclear Agriculture under the commercial name "Binasail".
- Mut NS3 : Semi dwarf, early maturing, possesses lower number of tillers, leaves are small and moderate broad, panicles are smaller which bear less number of grains and low yielder type.

B. METHODS

The methods used in this study is described under the following sub-heads :

- a) Production of Experimental Seeds,
- b) Preparation and Design of Experimental Field,

- c) Setting of Experiment in the Field,
- d) Collection of Data, and
- e) Techniques of Analysis.

a) Production of Experimental Seeds

Seeds of two mutant lines viz., Mut NS1 and Mut NS3 were obtained from the Plant Breeding Division, Bangladesh Institute of Nuclear Agriculture, Mymensingh, Bangladesh. These two mutant lines were raised and grown in pots during the T. aman season of 1988 and sufficient number of F_1 seeds (about 300) were produced by crossing Mut NS3 as P_1 with Mut NS1 as P_2 (Mut NS3 x Mut NS1). In the subsequent year F₁ plants were grown in field during the T. aman season. Some of the F_1 plants were used to produce backcross seeds. The backcross seeds were produced by crossing F_1 plants with the parents $(B_1 = P_1 \times F_1 \text{ and } B_2 = P_2 \times F_1)$. From remaining F_1 plants F_2 seeds were harvested separately. For producing F_3 seeds, 50% of the harvested F_2 seeds were sown and F_2 plants were raised in the T. aman season of 1990. These F_2 plants were harvested separately and F_3 progeny seeds were collected. The remaining 50% F_2 seeds were kept for setting final experiments. Following the same cross combination fresh F_1 seeds were produced in the same year. Thus, the seeds of F_1s , F_2s , F_3s , B_1 s and B_2 s were produced for setting experiments.

For crossing healthy and disease-free plants were selected. Emasculation was then done in the early morning by removing anthers from flowers before they open. The emasculated plant was

treated as female plant. On the eve of emasculation, all the required instruments including hands were sterilized with rectified spirit soaked cotton. During emasculation the upper portion of the panicles as well as the flowers from the lower portions of the panicles were cut off by a sterilized scissor. Thus 20-25 spikelets were kept in the middle portion of the panicles. Then all the anthers were carefully removed with the help of a fine pointed forcep. After emasculation the operated flowers were further examined under a hand lens to became sure that no anthers or parts of anthers were left in the emasculated flowers. The emasculated panicles were then labelled and covered with fine porous polythene bags to prevent contamination by foreign pollens and to facilitate transpiration. On the next morning of emasculation, when the matured spikelets of the selected male parent just opened, anthers were collected. Then the pollination was done by rubbing the bursted anthers on the stigma of the emasculated flowers. The pollinated panicles were then covered with porous polythene bags and labelled properly. After two days of pollination, these panicles were uncovered by removing the polythene bags, crossed plants were examined and these were allowed to develop. The fully matured grains were collected along with the labels, dried well and stored in a desiccator.

b) Preparation and Design of Experimental Field

The experiment was carried on at the Farm of Bangladesh

Institute of Nuclear Agriculture, Mymensingh. The soil of the field was clay loam. By repeated ploughing, cross-ploughing and harrowing the field was made homogenous. Before final, preparation of the land triple super phosphate (TSP) muriate of potash (MP), zinc sulphate (Zn) and gypsum (sulphur) fertilizers were applied at the rate of 136, 66, 14 and 56 kg/ha, respectively. Urea (128 kg/ha) was applied in 3 splits. The first split was applied after 7 days of transplanting and the second and third splits were applied at the time of maximum tillering and panicle initiation stages for maximum utilization of urea fertilizer.

The whole experimental field comprised an area of 7.2m x 10.5m in size. The experimental field was then divided into three blocks of 3.0m x 7.2m size for replicating the experiment. The space between the plants, between the rows and between the replications (blocks) were 15 cm, 20 cm and 75 cm, respectively. There were 1.0 m footpaths all around the experimental field. c) Setting of Experiment in the Field

The experiment was set in the field of Bangladesh Institute of Nuclear Agriculture, Mymensingh, in the first week of August, 1991, with the seedlings of all the non-segregating (P_1 , P_2 and F_1) and segregating (F_2 , F_3 , B_1 and B_2) generations. Before that seedlings of all these generations were raised in the seed beds. Seeding was done on 4th July, 1992. For setting the experiment 30 days old seedlings were used and transplantation was done on

3rd August, 1991, in the sequence as follows : P_1 in 2 rows, F_1 in 1 row, 15 F_2 families in 15 rows, 15 F_3 families in 15 rows, B_1 in 1 row, B_2 and 1 row and P_2 in 2 rows in each plot (3.0m x 7.2m). The experiment was replicated thrice. The two parents were kept at the two ends of the plots so that the outer rows of the two parents served as the guard lines. Thus, there were altogether 35 experimental rows in a plot. Each row was 3.0 m long and consisted of 21 plants with 15 cm spacings between the plants. The space between the rows and between the plots were 20 cm and 75 cm, respectively.

Irrigation and other usual cultural practices were done whenever necessary.

d) Collection of Data

Data on some agronomical characters, leaf characters and grain yield were recorded on individual plant basis from 10 randomly selected plants (excluding the border plants) per line. Total number of plants from which data were collected from different generations are shown below :

Generations	Number of rows per generation	Total number of plants taken for data
$\begin{array}{c} P_1\\ P_2\\ F_1\\ F_2\\ F_3\\ B_1\\ B_2 \end{array}$	1 1 1 15 15 1 1 1	$ \begin{array}{rcrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrr$

The following characters were recorded from the selected plants :

- 1. Plant height (PH) : It was measured in cm from the base to the tip of the longest tiller.
- Effective tillers/ : Number of effective tillers in a plant (ET/P)
 Plant was counted.
- 3. Panicle length(PL) : It was measured in cm from the base to the tip of the panicle of the longest tiller.
- 4. Flag leaf length : It was measured in cm from the (FLL) base to the tip of the flag leaf of the longest tiller.
- 5. Flag leaf breadth : It was measured in cm from the (FLB) broadest part of the flag leaf of the longest tiller.
- 6. Flag area (FLA) : It was obtained by multiplying the length of the flag leaf with breadth and a constant(0.67) and was expressed in cm². The constant was used because of shape of the leaf.
- 7. Primary branches : Number of primary branches in per panicle(PB/P) the longest panicle which was taken for measuring panicle length.
- 8. Grains per panicle: Number of filled grains in the (G/P) longest panicle which was taken for measuring panicle length.
- 9. Grain yield/plant: It was the weight of total (Gy/p) filled grains in gm taken by threshing all the grains of a plant.

e) Techniques of Analysis

The biometrical techniques of analysis developed by Mather (1949) based on the mathematical models of Fisher *et al.* (1932)

and those of Hayman (1958) and Allard (1960) were followed for analysing the collected data.

Means and Standard Errors (S.E.)

The data from the three replications were pooled to compute means, variances and standard errors of each population by the following formulae :

Mean (\overline{X}) = $\Sigma X/n$ Variance (δ^2) = $[\Sigma X^2 - (\Sigma X)^2/n]/(n-1)$

Standard error (S.E.) = $(\delta^2/N)^{1/2}$

Where, X is the individual observation, n is the total number of observations and $\Sigma =$ Summation.

Theoretical Means

The theoretical arithmetic and theoretical geometric means were computed for F_1 , F_2 , F_3 , B_1 and B_2 generations following the technique of Burton (1951) :

1) Theoretical Arithmetic Means:

$$\overline{F}_{1} = 0.50 \quad (\overline{P}_{1} + \overline{P}_{2})$$

$$\overline{F}_{2} = 0.25 \quad (\overline{P}_{1} + \overline{P}_{2} + 2\overline{F}_{1})$$

$$\overline{F}_{3} = 0.25 \quad (\overline{P}_{1} + \overline{P}_{2} + 2\overline{F}_{2})$$

$$\overline{B}_{1} = 0.50 \quad (\overline{P}_{1} + \overline{F}_{1})$$

$$\overline{B}_{2} = 0.50 \quad (\overline{P}_{2} + \overline{F}_{1})$$

11) Theoretical Geometric Means:

$$\overline{F}_1 = \text{Antilog [0.50 (log}\overline{P}_1 + log}\overline{P}_2)]$$

$$\overline{F}_2 = \text{Antilog [0.25 (log}\overline{P}_1 + log}\overline{P}_2 + 2log}\overline{F}_1)]$$

$$\overline{F}_3 = \text{Antilog [0.25 (log}\overline{P}_1 + log}\overline{P}_2 + 2log}\overline{F}_2)]$$
$$\overline{B}_{1} = \text{Antilog } [0.50 (\log \overline{P}_{1} + \log \overline{F}_{1})]$$

$$\overline{B}_{2} = \text{Antilog } [0.50 (\log \overline{P}_{2} + \log \overline{F}_{1})]$$

Scaling Test

Mather (1949) and Mather and Jinks (1971) showed that owing to the presence of epistatic gene action the means of B_1 , B_2 , F_2 and F_3 generations would deviate from their expectations. For each generation, they developed scaling test separately which they designated as A, B, C and D related to B_1 , B_2 , F_2 and F_3 generations respectively. These are as follows -

$$A = 2\overline{B}_{1} - \overline{P}_{1} - \overline{F}_{1}$$

$$B = 2\overline{B}_{2} - \overline{P}_{2} - \overline{F}_{1}$$

$$C = 4\overline{F}_{2} - 2\overline{F}_{1} - \overline{P}_{1} - \overline{P}_{2}$$
and
$$D = 4\overline{F}_{3} - 2\overline{F}_{2} - \overline{P}_{1} - \overline{P}_{2}$$

Variances of A, B, C and D were calculated as follow -

$$V_{A} = 4V\overline{B}_{1} + V\overline{P}_{1} + V\overline{F}_{1}$$

$$V_{B} = 4V\overline{B}_{2} + V\overline{P}_{2} + V\overline{F}_{1}$$

$$V_{C} = 16V\overline{F}_{2} + 4V\overline{F}_{1} + V\overline{P}_{1} + V\overline{P}_{2}$$
and
$$V_{D} = 16V\overline{F}_{3} + 4V\overline{F}_{2} + V\overline{P}_{1} + V\overline{P}_{2}$$

Where,

$$V\overline{P}_{1} = (S.E.\overline{P}_{1})^{2}/r$$

$$V\overline{P}_{2} = (S.E.\overline{P}_{2})^{2}/r$$

$$V\overline{B}_{1} = (S.E.\overline{B}_{1})^{2}/r$$

$$V\overline{B}_{2} = (S.E.\overline{B}_{2})^{2}/r$$

$$V\overline{F}_{1} = (S.E.\overline{F}_{1})^{2}/r$$

$$V\overline{F}_2 = (S.E.\overline{F}_2)^2/r$$
 and
 $V\overline{F}_3 = (S.E.\overline{F}_3)^2/r$

Where, r is the number of replication.

Standard error of A, B, C and D were determined in the following way -

$$S.E._{A} = (V_{A})^{1/2}$$

 $S.E._{B} = (V_{B})^{1/2}$
 $S.E._{C} = (V_{C})^{1/2}$ and
 $S.E._{D} = (V_{D})^{1/2}$

In these estimation, if A=0, B=0, C=0 and D=0 then it will indicate that either epistasis is absent or epistasis do effect the mean of B_1 , B_2 , F_2 and F_3 generations, respectively. But where, A≠0, B≠0, C≠0 and D≠0 then it will indicate that epistasis is present in B_1 , B_2 , F_2 and F_3 generations respectively.

Epistatic Gene Effect

1) 3-Parameter Model:

The expectation of generation means in terms of segregating and non-segregating generations were as follows -

$$\overline{P}_{1} = m + d$$

$$\overline{P}_{2} = m - d$$

$$\overline{F}_{1} = m + h$$

$$\overline{F}_{2} = m + 1/2h$$

$$\overline{F}_{3} = m + 1/4h$$
(Equation 1)
$$\overline{B}_{1} = m + 1/2d + 1/2h$$

$$\overline{B}_{2} = m - 1/2d + 1/2h$$

Where, m measures the base population mean, d measures the additive gene effects and h measures the dominance gene effects. Weighted least square techniques developed by Fisher (1946), Mather (1949), Scorle (1966) and Mather and Jinks (1971) are followed for the estimation of these parameters (m, d and h). The weight used were the reciprocal of the squared of standard errors of respective generations, as follows -

Weight of $P_1 = 1/(S.E.\overline{P}_1)^2$ Weight of $P_2 = 1/(S.E.\overline{P}_2)^2$ Weight of $F_1 = 1/(S.E.\overline{F}_1)^2$ Weight of $F_2 = 1/(S.E.\overline{F}_2)^2$ Weight of $F_3 = 1/(S.E.\overline{F}_3)^2$ Weight of $B_1 = 1/(S.E.\overline{B}_1)^2$ Weight of $B_2 = 1/(S.E.\overline{B}_2)^2$

By substituting the values of m, d and h in the equations (Equation 1) the expected seven generation means were calculated. The goodness of fit were then tested by squaring the deviations of the observed values from the expected values for each of the seven generations, multiplying by the corresponding weight and then summing the product over all the seven generations. The summed value is the total Chi-square (χ^2) with 4 degrees of freedom.

Therefore, $\chi^2 = \Sigma [(\text{deviation})^2 \times \text{weight}]$ Degree of Freedom(d.f.) = Number of generations minus number of estimates.

The significant chi-square (χ^2) indicates the presence of epistasis which means that additive-dominance model was inadequate due to the presence of non-allelic gene action.

11) 6-Parameter Model:

When 3-parameter model was not suitable to interpret the gene action owing to epistasis, the data were then subjected to Hayman's (1958) 6-parameter model. The expected generation means in terms of 6-parameter model were as follows -

 $\overline{P}_{1} = m + d + 1$ $\overline{P}_{2} = m - d + 1$ $\overline{F}_{1} = m + h + 1$ $\overline{F}_{2} = m + 1/2h + 1/41$ $\overline{F}_{3} = m + 1/4h + 1/161 \qquad (Equation 2)$ $\overline{B}_{1} = m + 1/2d + 1/2h + 1/41 + 1/4J + 1/41 \qquad \text{and}$ $\overline{B}_{2} = m - 1/2d + 1/2h + 1/41 - 1/4J + 1/41$

Where, m measures the base population mean, d measures the additive gene effects, h measures the dominance gene effects, i measures the additive x additive type of non-allelic gene action, j measures the additive x dominance type of non-allelic gene action and l measures the dominance x dominance type of nonallelic gene action.

Weighted least square techniques as described in 3-parameter model were used for the estimation of m, d, h, i, j and l. The weight for each generation was also the same as used in 3parameter model.

By substituting the value of m, d, h, i, j and l in the equations (Equation 2) the expected generation means were calculated and the goodness of fit was tested by χ^2 in the same way as in the 3-parameter model. In this case there were seven generations and the number of estimates were six, so the degree of freedom (d.f.) was 7 - 6 = 1.

Components of Variation

The variances of segregating generations viz., F_2 , F_3 , B_1 and B_2 generations consisted of heritable and non-heritable components. The heritable component consisted of fixable heritable (D) and non-fixable heritable (H) variation. Variations noted in the non-segregating generations (P_1 , P_2 and F_1) were non-heritable in nature.

From the seven generations (P_1 , P_2 , F_1 , F_2 , F_3 , B_1 and B_2) seven different types of variances and covariances were calculated and these were $V\overline{F}_2$, ($V\overline{B}_1 + V\overline{B}_2$), $V\overline{F}_3$, $\overline{V}F_3$, $W\overline{F}_3/F_2$, VE_1 and VE_2 . The composition of these variances in terms of heritable and non-heritable components of variation were as follows :

$$V\overline{F}_{2} = 1/2 D + 1/4 H + E_{1}$$

$$(V\overline{B}_{1} + V\overline{B}_{2}) = 1/2D + 1/2H + 2E_{1}$$

$$V\overline{F}_{3} = 1/2 D + 1/16 H + E_{2}$$

$$\overline{V}F_{3} = 1/4 D + 1/8 H + E_{1}$$

$$W\overline{F}_{3}/F_{2} = 1/2 D + 1/8 H$$

$$VE_{1} = E_{1}$$

 $VE_2 = E_2$

The non-heritable component of variation in a segregating generation was determined from the variances of non-segregating generations as follows :

 $E_1 = 1/4 \ V\overline{P}_1 + 1/4\overline{P}_2 + 1/2V\overline{F}_1$

 $\rm E_1$ measures the non-heritable variances of the individual. $\rm E_2$ measures the non-heritable variances of $\rm F_3$ family means. In general $\rm E_2$ is less than $\rm E_1$ because each family mean was based on n number of individuals and $\rm E_2$ is equal to $(1/n)\rm E_1$. Where the members of all $\rm F_3$ families are not of equal numbers. $\rm E_2$ was measured as follows :

 $E_2 = E_1 / (Harmonic mean number of plants/F_3 families)$

Composition of $V\overline{F}_2$ was determined as follows :

Genotype	Frequency(f)	Effect(e)	fxe	f x (e) ²
AA	1/4	+d	1/4(d)	1/4(d) ²
Aa	1/2	h	1/2(h)	1/2(h) ²
aa	1/4	-d	1/4(-d)	1/4(-d) ²
	1	h .	1/2 h	$1/2d^2 + 1/2h^2$
Variance	of \overline{F}_2 (\overline{VF}_2) =	$1/2 d^2 + 1/2 h^2$	$-(1/2 h)^2$	
	=	$1/2 d^2 + 1/2 h^2$	-1/4 h ²	
	=	$1/2 d^2 + 1/4 h^2$		

Where there are K gene differences between two parents,

$$V\bar{F}_2 = 1/2 \text{ kd}^2 + 1/4 \text{ kh}^2$$

Substituting D for kd^2 and H for kh^2 ,

$$V\overline{F}_2 = 1/2 D + 1/4 H$$

Since $V\overline{F}_2$ includes non-heritable variances (E₁) also,

 $V\overline{F}_2 = 1/2 D + 1/4 H + E_1$

In backcross generations B_1 and B_2 , there will be two types of genotypes viz., as and As in the B_1 and AA and As in the B_2 . Thus, the composition of variances of these two generations was determined as follows :

Variance of \overline{B}_1 (V \overline{B}_1): Where, $P_1 = aa$								
Genotype	Frequency(f)	Effect(e)	fxe	f x (e) ²				
aa	1/2	-d	1/2(d)	1/2(-d) ²				
Aa	1/2	h	1/2(h)	1/(h) ²				
	1	- d + h	- 1/2d + 1/2 h	$1/2d^2 + 1/2h^2$				
$V\overline{B}_1 = 1/2 d^2 + 1/2 h^2 - (-1/2d + 1/2h)^2$ = 1/4 d ² + 1/4 h ² + 1/2 dh								
Where ther	re are K gene di	ifferences)	petween the two	parents,				
	$V\overline{B}_1 = 1/4 \text{ kd}^2 + 1/4 \text{ kh}^2 + 1/2 \text{ kdh}$							
Substituti	lng kd^2 and kh^2	for D and H	A respectively,					
	$V\overline{B}_1 = 1/4$	D + 1/4 H -	+ 1/2 kdh					
Variance o	of \overline{B}_2 (\overline{VB}_2):	Where, H	$P_2 = AA$					
Genotype	Frequency(f)	Effect(e)	f x e	f x (e) ²				
AA	1/2	d	1/2(d)	1/2(d) ²				
Aa	1/2	h	1/2(h)	1/2(h) ²				
	1	d + h	1/2d + 1/2 h	$1/2d^2 + 1/2h^2$				

$$V\overline{B}_{2} = 1/2 d^{2} + 1/2 h^{2} - (1/2d + 1/2h)^{2}$$
$$= 1/4 d^{2} + 1/4 h^{2} - 1/2 dh$$
$$= 1/2 d^{2} + 1/4 h^{2} .$$

Where there are K gene differences between the two parents,

$$V\overline{B}_2 = 1/4 \text{ kd}^2 + 1/4 \text{ kh}^2 - 1/2 \text{ kdh}$$

Substituting kd^2 and kh^2 for D and H respectively,

$$V\overline{B}_2 = 1/4 D + 1/4 H - 1/2 kdh$$

Therefore, variances of $\overline{B}_1 + \overline{B}_2$ ($\overline{VB}_1 + \overline{VB}_2$) become,

$$V\overline{B}_1 + V\overline{B}_2 = 1/4D + 1/4H - 1/2kdh + 1/4D + 1/4H - 1/2kdh$$

= 1/2D + 1/2H

Since, the VB_1 and VB_2 involved two independent generations they will include non-heritable variation equal to $2E_1$.

Therefore, $V\overline{B}_1 + V\overline{B}_2$ will be = 1/2D + 1/4H + 2E₁

In the F_3 generations, all the families derived from AA and aa individuals will be wholly AA and aa respectively, while those individuals from heterozygous F_2 (Aa) will repeat the genotypes like F_2 generations. The means of families from AA, aa and Aa parents will, therefore, be +d, 1/2h and -d in respect of this gene pair. The overall mean thus depart by 1/4h from the midparent and the contribution of A-a to the variance of F_3 means will be,

$$V\overline{F}_3 = 1/4d^2 + 1/2(1/2h)^2 + 1/4(-d)^2 - (1/4h)^2$$

= $1/2d^2 + 1/16h^2$

For k genes differences the total heritable variances of F_3 means

will be,

$$V\overline{F}_3 = 1/2kd^2 + 1/16 h^2$$

= $1/2D^2 + 1/16 H$

Where, $kd^2 = D$ and $kh^2 = H$ Since VF_3 calculated from F_3 family means this equation will contain non-heritable variation equal to E_2 . Therefore,

$$VF_3 = 1/2 D + 1/16 H + E_2$$

It can be shown similarly that the mean variances of F_3 families will be,

$$\overline{VF}_3 = 1/4 d^2 + 1/8 h^2 + E_1$$

= 1/4 D + 1/8 H + E_1

and the covariances of ${\rm F}_3$ means with its ${\rm F}_2$ parents measured will be,

$$W\overline{F}_3/F_2 = 1/2 d^2 + 1/8 h^2$$

= 1/2 D + 1/8 H

Mean variances of the F_3 families will contain non-heritable components equal to E_1 while covariances will be free from nonheritable effects. Therefore,

$$\overline{VF}_3 = 1/4 D + 1/8 H + E_1$$

and $W\overline{F}_3/F_2 = 1/2 D + 1/8 H$

The seven equations obtained from the non-segregating and segregating generations were subjected to a least square technique of estimation for the components of variation viz., D, H, E_1 and E_2 . An unweighted least square method as developed by Mather (1949) were used. The seven equations obtained were of two

different ranks (rank 1 and rank 2). The components D, H, E_1 and E_2 were estimated including all equations in the least square estimate (rank 1), which was termed as inclusive estimate while these components when estimated excluding $\overline{V}F_3$ statistics was termed as exclusive estimate (rank 2).

However, in order to obtained the estimates of D, H, E_1 and E_2 , two steps of calculation were needed. Firstly the C-matrix values were found from the frequencies of D, H, E_1 and E_2 of the equations $V\overline{F}_2$, $V\overline{B}_1$ + $V\overline{B}_2$, $V\overline{F}_3$, \overline{VF}_3 , $W\overline{F}_3/F_2$. The C-matrix values obtained are as follows.

Inclusive:

	D	Н	El	E ₂
D	4.19344	-7.79889	0.48357	-0.80464
Н	-7.79889	27.72939	-3.49712	1.08318
E1	0.48357	-3.49712	0.70890	-0.01160
^E 2	-0.80464	1.08318	-0.01160	0.66731

Exclusive:

	D	Н	E ₁	E ₂
D	4.62705	-9.34061	0.78920	-0.86486
Н	-9.34061	33.21108	-4.58382	1.297 31
^E 1	0.78920	-4.58382	0.92433	-0.05405
^E 2	-0.86486	1.29731	-0.05405	0.67568

The second step was to calculate SDY, SHY, SE_1Y and SE_2

which were calculated as below : $SDY = Coefficient of D (Observed V\overline{F}_2 + Observed (V\overline{B}_1 + V\overline{B}_2) + Observed V\overline{F}_3 + Observed \overline{VF}_3 + Observed W\overline{F}_3/F_2]$ $SHY = Coefficient of H (Observed V\overline{F}_2 + Observed (V\overline{B}_1 + V\overline{B}_2))$

+ Observed $V\overline{F}_3$ + Observed \overline{VF}_3 + Observed $W\overline{F}_3/F_2$] $SE_1Y = Coefficient of E_1 [Observed <math>V\overline{F}_2$ + Observed $(V\overline{B}_1 + V\overline{B}_2)$ + Observed $V\overline{F}_3$ + Observed \overline{VF}_3 + Observed $W\overline{F}_3/F_2$]

 $SE_2Y = Coefficient of E_2 [Observed VF_2 + Observed (VB_1 + VB_2)]$

+ Observed $V\overline{F}_3$ + Observed $\overline{V}F_3$ + Observed $W\overline{F}_3/F_2$]

The values of SDY, SHY, SE_1Y and SE_2Y and the values of Cmatrix analysis were used to determine D, H, E_1 and E_2 (both inclusive and exclusive) of each replication as well as the overall of each character as follows :

 $D = SDY X CDD + SHY X CDH + SE_1Y X CDE_1 + SE_2Y X CDE_2$ $H = SDY X CDH + SHY X CHH + SE_1Y X CHE_1 + SE_2Y X CHE_2$ $E_1 = SDY X CDE_1 + SHY X CHE_1 + SE_1Y X CE_1E_1 + SE_2Y X CE_1E_2$ $E_2 = SDY X CDE_2 + SHY X CHE_2 + SE_1Y X CE_1E_2 + SE_2Y X CE_2E_2$ The components of variation were estimated in the same wayas it has been described by Mather (1949), Mather and Vines (1952) and Mather and Jinks (1971).

The least square estimates of components of variation were used to determine the expected variances and covariances of F_2 , F_3 , B_1 and B_2 , generations by adding the frequency of presence of D, H, E_1 and E_2 in each variance and covariance. The least square estimates of D, H, E_1 and E_2 (both inclusive and exclusive) and

the expected variances and covariances were utilized in the further steps of analysis for some genetic studies.

Heritability

The degree to which the variability of a quantitative character may be transmitted to the progeny is referred as heritability. Heritability was calculated in the following ways:

i) Broad Sense Heritability:

It was expressed as the ratio of genotypic variance over the phenotypic variance (expected) of the F_2 generation as follows :

Heritability (Hb) = $(1/2D + 1/4H)/(1/2D + 1/4H + E_1)$ Where D, H and E₁ are the least square estimates of components of variation.

11) Narrow Sense Heritability:

It was determined as the ratio of fixable heritable variation (D) over the phenotypic variance of F_2 generation as follows :

Heritability (Hn) = $(1/2D)/(1/2D + 1/4H + E_1)$

Where D, H and E_1 are the least square estimates of components of variation.

iii) Parent-offspring regression:

Narrow sense heritability was also estimated by regressing F_3 progeny means on F_2 parental means.

Parent-offspring regression = $(WF_3/F_2)/VF_2$

. Interms of D and H, this heritability becomes,

= $(1/2D + 1/8 H)/(1/2D + 1/4 H + E_1)$

Degree of Dominance

1) Potence Ratio Method:

According to Petr and Frey (1966) degree of dominances in F_1 , F_2 and F_3 generations were calculated by potence ratio method as follows :

Degree of dominance in $F_1 = h_1 = (\overline{F}_1 - \overline{MP}) / (\overline{HP} - \overline{MP})$

Degree of dominance in $F_2 = h_2 = 2(\overline{F}_2 - \overline{MP})/(\overline{HP} - \overline{MP})$ Degree of dominance in $F_3 = h_3 = 4(\overline{F}_3 - \overline{MP})/(\overline{HP} - \overline{MP})$ Where $\overline{MP} = Mid$ -parent value and $\overline{HP} = Higher$ parent value.

11) Dominance Ratio Method:

The average degree of dominance over all loci was determined by the square root of the ratio between H and D.

Where,	$(H/D)^{1/2}$	= 0, denotes no dominance.
	(H/D) ^{1/2}	= 1, denotes complete dominance.
	(H/D) ^{1/2}	< 1, denotes partial dominance
	(H/D) ^{1/2}	> 1, denotes over dominance.

Test of Linkage

Whether the genes responsible for different characters were linked or not was tested by following techniques of Mather (1949), Hayman and Mather (1955) and Mather and Jinks (1971).

The test of linkage is also a test of homogeneity of D and H over rank 1 and rank 2 statistics. The sum of deviation square Σ (dev.²) as obtained under inclusive analysis contains variation owing to linkage and residual effects. Whereas the sum of deviation square Σ (dev.²) as obtained under exclusive analysis

contains only residual effects. Therefore, the linkage sum of square was obtained by subtracting exclusive $\Sigma(\text{dev.}^2)$ from that of inclusive analysis. These are summarized in the following form:

Item	Sum of squares	Degrees	of	freedom
Total	$\Sigma(\text{dev.}^2)$ from inclusive analysis		3	
Residual	$\Sigma(\text{dev.}^2)$ from exclusive analysis		2	
Linkage	Total S.S Residual S.S.		1	

Number of Effective Factors

The number of effective factors was estimated in three different ways as follows :

i) Castle and Wright (1921) presented the formula for the estimation of minimum number of factors or genes controlling a character. According to them the possible number of effective gene groups is estimated by dividing the square of difference of the two parental means with the difference of variances of \overline{F}_2 and \overline{F}_1 multiplied by eight.

Thus, $n_1 = (\overline{P}_1 - \overline{P}_2)^2 / 8(V\overline{F}_2 - V\overline{F}_1)$

11) According to Mather (1949) the possible number of effective factors is estimated by dividing the square of half of the difference of two parental means with D.

Thus, $K_1 = (1/2\overline{P}_1 - 1/2\overline{P}_2)^2/D$

Where, D is the least square estimate of additive components of genetic variation.

. 111) According to Burton (1951) estimation of effective factors

was made	as	follows :	
		$n_2 = [0.25 (0.75 - h + h^2) D^2] / (V\overline{F}_2 - V\overline{F}_1)$	
Where,		$D = \overline{P}_2 - \overline{P}_1$ (P ₁ always the smaller parent) and	d
		$h = (\overline{F}_1 - \overline{P}_1) / (\overline{P}_2 - \overline{P}_1)$	

•

.

RESULTS

The nine traits of rice studied showed continuous variation indicating polygenic control of these characters. Biometrical techniques of analysis were, therefore, used to determine the nature of gene actions in the expression of these traits.

A. Means and Standard Errors (S.E.)

Means over three replications and standard errors (S.E.) of means of nine characters of different generations are shown in Table-1. The means of all the generations (non-segregating and segregating) were neither greater than the means of higher parent nor less than the means of lower parent. These were within the parental means. The study of means indicated that the hybrids did not show better performance than their better parents in any of the characters studied. The standard errors (S.E.) of each generation of the cross were very low compared to their corresponding means for all the characters as it was expected. Very low standard errors indicated the presence of very low genotype-environment interaction in all the characters.

B. Theoretical Means

Theoretical arithmetic and theoretical geometric means for F_1 , F_2 , F_3 , B_1 and B_2 generations for all the nine characters were estimated and these are summarized in Table-2. Observed means of these generations are also included in the table for comparison. There was a close agreement between the theoretical

arithmetic and theoretical geometric means. The observed means, however, differed from the theoretical arithmetic means and theoretical geometric means in all the generations and characters, except in B_2 in case of primary branches per panicle (Table-2), indicating the involvement of non-additive gene effects in the inheritance of these characters.

In case of plant height the deviations of the observed means from the theoretical arithmetic and theoretical geometric means were very marked in all the generations indicating that nonadditive gene effects were operative in all the generations for controlling plant height. The observed mean plant height of F_1 was greater than the theoretical means suggesting the presence of dominance for higher plant height in this cross.

Remarkable differences were noted between the observed means and the theoretical means of effective tillers per plant of F_1 , F_2 and F_3 generations indicating non-additive genes were mostly restricted to these generations. Observed F_1 mean was found greater than the theoretical means of this character suggesting dominance for more number of effective tillers per plant was present in the cross.

The deviations between observed means and theoretical means were distinct in panicle length of F_1 , B_1 and B_2 generations indicating that non-additive genes for this trait were operative in these generations. The observed F_1 mean was found greater than the theoretical means of panicle length suggested that dominance

for longer panicles in this cross was present.

Distinct differences between the observed means and the theoretical means were noted in flag leaf length of F_1 , F_2 and F_3 generations. It suggested that non-additive gene-effects were mostly restricted to these generations. Observed F_1 mean was found greater than the theoretical means of flag leaf length showing the presence of dominance for longer flag leaf length in this cross.

In case of flag leaf breadth, the observed F_1 mean showed difference with the theoretical means and it was greater than these two means. This indicated the involvement of non-additive gene effects restricted in the F_1 generation for this trait and also indicated the presence of dominance for wider flag leaf breadth in the cross.

Well marked differences between the observed means and the theoretical means were noted in all the generations for flag area. This indicated that non-additive gene effects were operative in the trait. The observed F_1 mean was greater than the theoretical means suggesting dominance for larger flag leaf area in this cross.

The deviations between the observed means from the respective theoretical means of F_1 and F_2 generations were distinct in case of primary branches per panicle indicating non-additive gene effects were restricted in these generations. Dominance for more number of primary branches per panicle was

indicated by the greater observed F_1 mean of this traits.

Distinct differences of observed mean from their theoretical means for grains per panicle were marked in all the generations. This suggested that non-additive gene effects were operative in all generations. The observed F_1 mean was found greater than the theoretical means indicating the presence of dominance for higher number of grains per panicle in this cross.

In case of grain yield per plant the deviations of the observed means from the theoretical means were distinct in all the generations indicating the preponderance of non-additive gene effects for the trait. The observed F_1 mean was also found greater than the corresponding theoretical means suggesting the presence of dominance for higher grain yield per plant in this cross.

C. Scaling Test 👘

The types of gene action involved in the mean expression of different characters were determined by Mather's A, B, C and D Scaling Test (1949). A, B, C and D related to B_1 , B_2 , F_2 and F_3 generations, respectively, were estimated to test the significant deviations of the observed means of B_1 , B_2 , F_2 and F_3 generations from their expectations and these are presented in Table-3. The significance of the items suggested that non-additive gene action had affected the means of these segregating generations.

All the four items of the nine characters studied were found positive except the item A in case of flag leaf length where it

was negative in nature. From Table-3 it was observed that the items A, C and D in plant height; C and D in effective tillers per plant and flag leaf length; A and D in panicle length and grain yield per plant; A in flag leaf breadth; A and C in flag leaf area and all the items in grains per panicle were significant. All these significant deviations from their expectations for all the characters, except primary branches per panicle, of the cross suggested non-allelic gene action was involved in the inheritance of these characters. In case of primary branches per panicle, all the estimate B was equal to zero. This indicated the presence of epistasis but non-significantly in B_1 , F_2 and F_3 generations and epistasis did not affect the mean of B_2 generation in case of primary branches per panicle.

D. Epistatic Gene Effect

1) 3-Parameter Model :

The data of nine characters were analysed in terms of 3-parameter model according to Hayman (1958) to determine the type of gene action. The weighted least square estimates of m, d and h of all the characters were calculated separately and the results are summarized in Table-4. χ^2 test was made to test the goodness of fit of the observed generation means. The $\chi^2_{(df=4)}$ values are also included in Table-4. Significant χ^2 values indicated that epistasis was involved in controlling the different generation means of the cross. The additive-dominance

model was, however, adequate in those cases where the χ^2 values were non-significant and the interpretation of the result in terms of 3-parameter model would be valid in those cases. Significant χ^2 values were observed in all the cases except in case of flag leaf area and primary branches per panicle. The magnitude of estimates of mean effect (m) were found higher than those of additive gene effects (d) and dominance gene effects (h) and values of m were highly significant in all the characters studied. The estimates of additive gene effect (d) in all characters were found negative. Except the case of flag leaf breadth, the magnitude of d was found larger than that of dominance effect (h) and these d effects were found highly significant. The dominance gene effect (h) was found significant and positive in nature in all the characters studied.

The estimates of m, d and h from 3-parameter model will be biased to an unknown extent by effects not attributable to the additive and dominance action of genes in those case where χ^2 values were significant.

11) 6-parameter Model :

As the $\chi^2_{(df=4)}$ estimates under the 3-parameter model were significant, the data were analysed in terms of 6-parameter model to separate the epistatic gene effects from the m, d and h. The weighted least square estimates for m, d, h, i, j and l in terms of 6-parameter model were calculated and the results are presented in Table-5. Here, m measures the mean effect, d and h

measure the algebraic sum of additive and dominance effects respectively and i, j and l measure the algebraic sum of epistatic effects, additive x additive (i), additive x dominance (j) and dominance x dominance (l) types of gene interaction respectively. The χ^2 test was then made to test the goodness of fit of the observed generation means with the expected means. The $\chi^2_{(df=1)}$ was found non-significant in all the cases. Thus, in these cases the 6-parameter model was adequate and the estimates of d and h and the interaction items were interpretable.

The estimates of mean effect (m) were found highly significant and positive in all the cases and were usually greater in magnitude compared to the other estimates. All the estimates of additive gene effect (d) were also found highly significant but these effects were negative in nature (Table-5). All the d estimates, except the case of flag leaf area, were larger in magnitude than the h estimates of the respective characters. All the dominance effects (h), except the cases of effective tillers per plant and flag leaf length, were positive, low and non-significant. In case of effective tillers per plant and flag leaf length, the h estimates were also low and nonsignificant but these were negative in nature.

The estimates of epistatic gene effects (1, J and 1) showed that the magnitude of all the epistatic effects in all the traits, except the case of flag leaf breadth, were less than the

mean effects (m) and dominance effects (d). The additive x additive (i) epistasis were found to be negative in nature except the case of flag leaf breadth where it was positive. The estimates of i epistasis were observed to be significant in cases of plant height, effective tillers per plant, flag leaf length, flag leaf breadth and grains per panicle (Table-5). In case of additive x dominance epistasis both positive and negative types of j estimates were also observed. The j estimates of effective tillers per plant and grains per panicle were negative while those of the other characters were positive in nature. However, significant j estimates were observed only in case of plant height and flag leaf breadth (Table-5). The dominance x dominance type of epistasis, l estimates were found both positive and negative in nature but all the estimates were nonsignificant.

In all the traits, except in case of primary branches per panicle, opposite signs of 'h' and 'l' were observed indicating the presence of duplicate type of gene action in these cases. In case of primary branches per panicle, the signs of 'h' and 'l' were same suggesting that the interactions were on balance and were of mainly complementary type.

E. Components of Variation

The unweighted least square estimates of components of variation (D, H, E_1 and E_2) were measured both under inclusive and exclusive analysis and the results are summarized in Table-6.

D represents the additive variation, H represents the dominance variation and E_1 and E_2 represent environmental variation.

i) Inclusive Analysis :

From the results, it was observed that the estimates of D of all the characters were larger in magnitude than the other estimates (H, E_1 and E_2). It was also observed that all the estimates of D were positive and significant (Table-6). Significant estimates of D with greater magnitude found in all the characters revealed that additivity played an important role in the inheritance of these characters. The estimates of H for all the characters were found negative and non-significant. In all the cases the estimates of E_1 were found very low, positive and insignificant. Insignificant low estimates of E_2 were also observed in all the case. Estimates of E_2 were found positive except in cases of plant height and primary branches per panicle.

ii) Exclusive Analysis :

From Table-6 it was revealed that more or less similar results like inclusive analysis were obtained during the estimation of components of variation by exclusive analysis. In all the characters the estimates of D were larger in magnitude than the other estimates (H, E_1 and E_2). All the estimates of D were found positive and significant except in case of flag leaf area where it was found non-significant (Table-6). Large and significant estimates of D indicated that additive genes were of more importance than the other estimates in the inheritance of

these characters. In case of H, all the estimates were found negative and non-significant. Insignificant estimates of E_1 and E_2 were also obtained in all the cases. These estimates were very lower in magnitude compared to the estimates of D and H and were positive in nature except the cases of plant height and primary branches per panicle.

F. Heritability

Heritability estimates, both broad sense (Hb) and narrow sense (Hn), based on the components of variation as well as on the basis of parent-offspring regression, were determined in percentage for all the characters and these estimates are shown in Table-7.

Estimates of broad sense heritability (Hb) in both the analysis (inclusive and exclusive) were high in majority of the characters. Inclusive estimates of broad sense heritability ranged from 41.27% in panicle length to 80.24% in grain yield per plant (Table-7). The inclusive estimate of broad sense heritability of grain yield per plant was followed by the estimates of grains per panicle (80.20%) and flag leaf length (80.08%). Moderate inclusive estimates of broad sense heritability were observed in effective tillers per plant (41.44%) and panicle length (41.27%). Exclusive analysis of broad sense heritability estimates gave more or less similar results for all the traits. These estimates ranged from 37.12% in panicle length to 77.17% in grain yield per plant.

Estimates of narrow sense heritability (Hn), obtained from both the analysis, were also found high in all the cases. The estimates varied with wide ranges in both the analysis. In case of inclusive analysis the range was 98.18% to 143.19 (Table-7). The highest percent of narrow sense heritability estimate was observed in plant height (143.19%) followed by flag leaf breadth (120.23%) and primary branches per panicle (115.80%). The lowest percent of the estimate was observed in panicle length (98.18%). More or less similar results for all the characters were obtained in the exclusive analysis. Here the narrow sense heritability ranged from 99.71% in panicle length to 143.54% in plant height.

High heritability estimates for all the traits were also obtained from parent-offspring regression analysis. The estimates ranged 68.42% in panicle length to 108.33% in plant height (Table-7).

High estimates of heritability indicated that most of the variations were of genetic in nature.

G. Degree of dominance

1) Potence Ratio Method :

Degrees of dominance $(h_1, h_2 \text{ and } h_3 \text{ related } F_1, F_2 \text{ and } F_3$ generations, respectively) for the nine characters were estimated separately by potence ratio method and the results are presented in Table-8. All the characters of F_1 and F_2 generations showed partial dominance, except the case of flag leaf length in F_2 which showed over dominance. On the other hand in F_3 most of

characters, except panicle length, flag leaf breadth and grain yield per plant, showed overdominance. While panicle length, flag leaf breadth and grain yield per plant in F_3 showed partial dominance. The range of dominance values were 0.29 to 0.59, 0.45 to 1.13 and 0.91 to 2.22 in F_1 , F_2 and F_3 generations, respectively. However, all the dominance were positive in nature.

ii) Dominance Ratio Method:

The H estimates during both inclusive and exclusive estimation yielded non-significant negative values in all cases indicating the absence of dominance gene effect. Negative H estimates of components of variation, however, arose from the sampling errors or due to genotype-environment interaction. Such H values are to be considered as zero. Thus, considering the H estimates as zero, all the estimates of degree of dominance obtained by dominance ratio method $(H/D)^{1/2}$ were found to be zero i.e. no dominance was detected in all the traits and these estimates (zero values) are not included in the dominance table (Table-8).

H. Test of Linkage

In order to test the linkage, the expected variances and covariances of F_2 , F_3 , B_1 and B_2 generations and also the environmental variances present in them were calculated (both inclusive and exclusive) from the components of variation for different characters. The results are summarized in Table-9. The observed variances and covariances of the segregating generations

and the observed environmental variances of them are also included in Table-9. However, if the linkage was present then D and H of rank 2 statistics (excluding \overline{VF}_3 when the other variances and covariances are used) would differ from D and H of rank 1 statistics (when all the variances and covariances are used). The next step was to calculate the linkage variances for different characters with the help of variances and covariances of Table-9. The results from the analysis of variance to test the effect of linkage for different characters are presented in Table-10. The item linkage (df=1) was tested with the item residual (df=2) and it was found that in all the cases the linkage item was non-significant.

I. Number of Effective Factors

The number of effective factors for different characters were calculated in three different way following the methods of Castle and Wright, 1921 (n_1) ; Burton, 1951 (n_2) and Mather, 1949 (K_1) and the results are shown in Table-11.

According to Castle and Wright's method (1921) more than one effective factors were detected to control the nine characters studied in the cross. The number of effective factors (n_1) for controlling these characters ranged from 2 to 22 (Table-11). At least 2 pairs of gene groups were responsible for controlling flag leaf length, flag leaf breadth , flag leaf area and primary branches per panicle. At least 3 pairs of effective factors were involved in controlling plant height and panicle length. More

than 5 and 7 pairs of gene groups were detected for grain yield per plant and effective tillers per plant, respectively. However, the highest number of effective factors, at least 22 pairs of gene group, was detected in grains per panicle responsible for controlling the trait.

Similar results were obtained by Burton's method in detecting the number of effective factors (n₂) except grains per panicle. In this case at least 23 pairs of gene groups was estimated responsible for controlling this traits (Table-11).

Mather's method in detecting number of effective factor's (K_1) also resulted more or less similar numbers of gene pairs responsible for controlling these characters. At least 2 pairs of gene groups for flag leaf length, flag leaf breadth and primary branches per panicle; 3 pairs for plant height, panicle length and flag leaf area; 7 pairs for grain yield per plant; 9 pairs for effective tillers per plant and 26 pairs for grains per panicle were detected responsible for controlling these characters (Table-11).

Means and standard errors of different characters for different generations.

	 ~ ~	 			
Generations	Plant height (cm)	Effective tillers/ plant	Panicle length (cm)	Flag leaf length (cm)	Flag leaf breadth (cm)
P ₁	87.00 <u>+</u> 1.05	5.63 <u>+</u> 0.15	25.40 <u>+</u> 0.25	30.90 <u>+</u> 0.35	1.350 <u>+</u> 0.021
P ₂	137.00 <u>+</u> 1.20	9.67 <u>+</u> 0.15	28.90 <u>+</u> 0.26	38.80 <u>+</u> 0.39	1.683 <u>+</u> 0.022
F ₁	123.50 <u>+</u> 1.57	8.27 <u>+</u> 0.23	27.66 <u>+</u> 0.41	37.20 <u>+</u> 0.39	1.580 <u>+</u> 0.033
F ₂	124.30 <u>+</u> 1.75	8.18 <u>+</u> 0.09	27.56 <u>+</u> 0.15	37.08 <u>+</u> 0.40	1.564 <u>+</u> 0.013
۳ ₃	124.40 <u>+</u> 1.41	8.23 <u>+</u> 0.07	27.55 <u>+</u> 0.12	37.04 <u>+</u> 0.35	1.545 <u>+</u> 0.010
B ₁	113.60 <u>+</u> 2.09	7.00 <u>+</u> 0.18	27.00 <u>+</u> 0.32	33.94 <u>+</u> 0.84	1.503 <u>+</u> 0.027
B ₂	132.50 <u>+</u> 2.06	9.03 <u>+</u> 0.18	28.70 <u>+</u> 0.31	37.80 <u>+</u> 0.75	1.667 <u>+</u> 0.025

Continued to overleaf

Table-1 (Continued)

Means and standard errors of different characters for different generations. | Flage leaf| Primary | Grains/ | Grain yield/

Generations	area	panicle	panicle	plant
	(sq.cm.)			(gm)
P ₁	32.89	10.10	93.87	10.84
	<u>+</u> 0.47	<u>+</u> 0.25	<u>+</u> 1.40	<u>+</u> 0.29
P ₂	44.67	12.93	230.10	24.64
	<u>+</u> 0.52	<u>+</u> 0.26	<u>+</u> 1.54	<u>+</u> 0.32
F ₁	41.27	12.27	182.80	20.79
	<u>+</u> 0.53	<u>+</u> 0.40	<u>+</u> 1.56	<u>+</u> 0.32
F ₂	40.89	12.03	184.86	19.68
	<u>+</u> 0.63	<u>+</u> 0.23	<u>+</u> 1.59	<u>+</u> 0.33
F ₃	40.45	11.96	185.21	19.39
	<u>+</u> 0.52	<u>+</u> 0.18	<u>+</u> 1.42	<u>+</u> 0.29
B ₁	38.99	11.37	147.80	17.79
	<u>+</u> 0.97	<u>+</u> 0.35	<u>+</u> 3.33	<u>+</u> 0.69
B ₂	43.81	12.60	216.10	23.20
	<u>+</u> 0.83	<u>+</u> 0.31	<u>+</u> 2.97	<u>+</u> 0.62

Observed means, theoretical arithmetic means and theoretical geometric means (1st, 2nd and 3rd values of a group, respectively) of F_1 , F_2 , F_3 , B_1 and B_2 generations.

Generations	Plant	Effective	Panicle	Flag leaf	Flag leaf
	height	tillers/	length	length	breadth
	(cm)	plant	(cm)	(cm)	(cm)
F ₁	123.50	8.27	27.66	37.20	1.580
	112.00	7.65	27.15	34.85	1.517
	109.17	7.38	27.09	34.63	1.507
F ₂	124.30	8.18	27.56	37.08	1.564
	117.75	7.96	27.41	36.03	1.548
	116.12	7.81	27.38	35.89	1.535
F3	124.40	8.23	27.55	37.04	1.545
	118.15	7.92	27.36	35.97	1.540
	116.49	7.77	27.33	35.83	1.535
Bl	113.60	7.00	27.00	33.94	1.503
	105.25	6.95	26.53	34.05	1.465
	103.66	6.82	26.51	33.90	1.460
B ₂	132.50	9.03	28.70	37.80	1.667
	130.25	8.97	28.28	38.00	1.632
	130.07	8.94	28.27	37.99	1.631

Continued overleaf

Table-2 (Continued)

Observed means, theoretical arithmetic means and theoretical geometric means (1st, 2nd and 3rd values of a group, respectively) of F_1 , F_2 , F_3 , B_1 and B_2 generations.

		·		
Generations	Flage leaf	Primary	Grains/	Grain yield/
	area	branches/	panicle	plant
	(sq.cm.)	panicle		(gm)
F ₁	41.27 38.78	12.27 11.52	182.80 161.99 146.97	20.79 17.74 16.34
F ₂	40.89	12.03	184.86	19.68
	40.03	11.89	172.39	19.27
	39.77	11.84	163.91	18.43
۶	40.45	11.96	185.21	19.39
	39.84	11.77	173.42	18.71
	39.59	11.72	164.83	17.93
Bl	38.99	11.37	147.80	17.79
	37.08	11.19	138.34	15.82
	36.84	11.13	130.99	15.01
B ₂	43.81	12.60	216.10	23.20
	42.97	12.60	206.45	22.72
	42.94	12.60	205.09	22.63

Mather's A, B, C and D scaling test related to B_1 , B_2 , F_2 and F_3 generations respectively for different characters.

	Plant height 	Effec tille plant	tive rs/	Pani leng	.cle th	Flag lengt	leaf h 	Flag leaf breadth
A	16.70 <u>+</u> 2.65	0.1 <u>+</u> 0.2	0 7	0. <u>+</u> 0.	94 46	-0. <u>+</u> 1.	22 02	0.076 <u>+</u> 0.038
В	4.50 <u>+</u> 2.64	0.1 <u>+</u> 0.2	2 6	0. <u>+</u> 0.	84 45	-0. <u>+</u> 0.	40 92	0.071 <u>+</u> 0.037
С	26.20 <u>+</u> 4.52	0.8 £.0 <u>+</u>	8 6	0. <u>+</u> 0.	62 63	4. <u>+</u> 1.	22 08	0.063 <u>+</u> 0.051
D	25.00 <u>+</u> 3.93	1.2 <u>+</u> 0.2	6 2	0. <u>+</u> 0.	78 39	4. <u>+</u> 0.	30 99	0.019 <u>+</u> 0.032
	Flage le area (sq.cm.)	af P b p	rimary ranche anicle	/ s/	Grair panic	ns/ cle 	Grain plant (gm)	yield/
Ä	3.82 <u>+</u> 1.19		0.37 <u>+</u> 0.48		18.9 <u>+</u> 4.0)3)4	3.95 <u>+</u> 0.84	5
В	1.68 <u>+</u> 1.04	•	0 <u>+</u> 0.45		19.3 <u>+</u> 3.6	30 55	0.97 <u>+</u> 0.76	7
С	3.46 <u>+</u> 1.64	:	0.55 <u>+</u> 0.74		49.8 <u>+</u> 4.2	37 27	1.66 <u>+</u> 0.89	5
D	2.46 <u>+</u> 1.47	:	0.75 <u>+</u> 0.54		47.1 <u>+</u> 3.9	5 4	2.72 <u>+</u> 0.82	

Estimates of m, d and h based on 3-parameter model and χ^2 testing the heterogeneity of observed means from that of expected based on 3-parameter model for different characters.

	m	d	h	$x^2(df=4)$	
Plant height	113.80 <u>+</u> 0.72	-24.80 <u>+</u> 0.77	15.23 <u>+</u> 1.63	49.13***	
Effective tillers/plant	7.91 <u>+</u> 0.08	-2.00 <u>+</u> 0.10	0.58 <u>+</u> 0.20	16.08**	
Panicle length	27.57 <u>+</u> 0.14	-1.71 <u>+</u> 0.17	0.70 <u>+</u> 0.35	15.45**	
Flag leaf length	35.35 <u>+</u> 0.22	-3.98 <u>+</u> 0.25	2.32 <u>+</u> 0.46	18.46***	
Flag leaf breadth	1.568 <u>+</u> 0.011	-0.014 <u>+</u> 0.015	0.257 <u>+</u> 0.029	411.00***	
Flag leaf area	39.17 <u>+</u> 0.31	-5.86 <u>+</u> 0.34	2.68 <u>+</u> 0.62	6.49*	
Primary branches/ panicle	11.62 <u>+</u> 0.15	-1.39 <u>+</u> 0.17	0.80 <u>+</u> 0.37	1.26	
Grains/panicle	168.23 <u>+</u> 0.89	-73.61 <u>+</u> 1.01	21.58 <u>+</u> 1.81	161.99***	
Grain yield/ plant	18.06 <u>+</u> 0.19	-6.86 <u>+</u> 0.21	3.13 <u>+</u> 0.38	12.67*	
				ectively.	

*, ** and *** = Significant at 5%, 1% and 0.1% level, respectively.

.

Estimates of m, d and h and the three types of gene interaction (i, j, and l) based on 6-parameter model and χ_2 testing the heterogenity of observed means from that of the expected based on 6-parameter model for different characters.

	m	d	h	i	j	1	$\chi^2_{(df=1)}$
Plant height	122.11 <u>+</u> 3.18	-24.99 <u>+</u> 0.80	10.69 <u>+</u> 10.77	-10.07 <u>+</u> 3.21	12.27 <u>+</u> 6.04	-9.28 <u>+</u> 8.45	0.34
Effective tillers/plant	8.35 <u>+</u> 2.00	-2.00 <u>+</u> 0.11	-0.51 <u>+</u> 0.82	-0.65 <u>+</u> 0.21	-0.01 <u>+</u> 0.55	0.48 <u>+</u> 0.78	0.83
Panicle length	27.22 <u>+</u> 0.35	-1.73 <u>+</u> 0.18	1.53 <u>+</u> 1.43	-0.02 <u>+</u> 0.37	0.11 <u>+</u> 0.96	-1.08 <u>+</u> 1.36	1.56
Flag leaf length	37.66 <u>+</u> 0.93	-3.93 <u>+</u> 0.26	-2.83 <u>+</u> 3.39	-2.83 <u>+</u> 0.95	0.19 <u>+</u> 2.31	2.33 <u>+</u> 2.65	0.67
Flag leaf breadth	1.557 <u>+</u> 0.011	-0.080 <u>+</u> 0.015	0.221 <u>+</u> 0.118	0.392 <u>+</u> 0.031	0.269 <u>+</u> 0.079	0.011 <u>+</u> 0.112	3.48
Flag leaf area	39.02 <u>+</u> 1.27	-5.88 <u>+</u> 0.35	6.37 <u>+</u> 4.46	-0.21 <u>+</u> 1.29	1.93 <u>+</u> 2.64	-4.19 <u>+</u> 3.46	0.44
Primary branches/ panicle	11.87 <u>+</u> 0.46	-1.41 <u>+</u> 0.18	0.37 <u>+</u> 1.69	-0.33 <u>+</u> 0.47	0.36 <u>+</u> 0.99	0.02 <u>+</u> 1.49	0.02
Grains/panicle	185.51 <u>+</u> 3.90	-68.05 <u>+</u> 1.04	1.41 <u>+</u> 14.24	-23.40 <u>+</u> 3.98	-1.93 <u>+</u> 9.06	-4.73 <u>+</u> 11.05	1.78
Grain yield/ plant	18.12 <u>+</u> 0.77	-6.89 <u>+</u> 0.22	5.14 <u>+</u> 2.82	-0.36 <u>+</u> 0.79	2.76 <u>+</u> 1.90	-2.49 <u>+</u> 2.20	2.79
Table-6

Least square estimates of the components of variation D, H, E_1 and E_2 and their respective standard erreors of different characters (the upper and lower values of a pair represent the inclusive and exclusive estimates of components of variation).

	D	Н	E ₁	E ₂
Plant height	227.37+102.59	-208.09+263.81	17.73+42.18	-4.91+40.92
	233.20 <u>+</u> 105.06	-228.79 <u>+</u> 281.46	21.83+46.96	-5.71 <u>+</u> 40.15
Effective	0.458 <u>+</u> 0.221	-0.531+0.567	0.136+0.091	0.023+0.088
tillers/plant	0.476 <u>+</u> 0.227	-0.594 <u>+</u> 0.609	0.148 <u>+</u> 0.102	0.020 <u>+</u> 0.087
Panicle length	1.373 <u>+</u> 0.657	-1.592 <u>+</u> 1.689	0.411 <u>+</u> 0.270	0.075±0.262
	1.430 <u>+</u> 0.678	-1.796 <u>+</u> 1.815	0.451 <u>+</u> 0.303	0.067 <u>+</u> 0.259
Flag leaf length	11.305+4.125	-6.350+10.607	1.011+1.696	0.246+1.646
	11.546 <u>+</u> 4.298	-7.206 <u>+</u> 11.515	1.180+1.921	0.212 <u>+</u> 1.643
Flag leaf breadth	0.0094+0.0045	-0.0108+0.0115	0.0028+0.0018	0.0005+0.0018
-	0.0098 <u>+</u> 0.0047	-0.0122 <u>+</u> 0.0126	0.0030 <u>+</u> 0.0021	0.0004 <u>+</u> 0.0018
Flag leaf area	27,092+13,901	-22.255+35.747	2.398+5.716	0.253+5.545
	28.230 <u>+</u> 14.363	-26.301 <u>+</u> 38.481	3.200 <u>+</u> 6.420	0.095 <u>+</u> 5.489
Primarv branches/	3.938+1.641	-4.684+4.220	0.674 <u>+</u> 0.675	-0.019 <u>+</u> 0.655
panicle	3.864+1.712	-4.362 <u>+</u> 4.586	0.611 <u>+</u> 0.765	-0.006 <u>+</u> 0.654
Grains/panicle	179,09+64,44	-102.40+165.72	15.79 <u>+</u> 26.50	4.78 <u>+</u> 25.71
	183.02 <u>+</u> 67.08	-116.39 <u>+</u> 179.72	18.57 <u>+</u> 29.98	4.23+25.63
Grain vield/nlant	7 759+2 776	-4.441+7.139	0.682+1.141	0.201+1.107
orann yrera, prane	7.926 <u>+</u> 2.890	-5.035 <u>+</u> 7.744	0.800 <u>+</u> 1.292	0.178 <u>+</u> 1.105

57

.

	•					
	Нр Ц		Hn	P/0		
	Inclusive	Exclusive	Inclusive	Exclusive		
Plant height	77.67	73.13	143.19	143.54	108.33	
Effective tillers/plant	41.44	37.68	98.60	100.21	68.95	
Panicle length	41.27	37.12	98.18	99.71	68.42	
Flag leaf length	80.08	77.09	111.36	112.06	94.58	
Flag leaf breadth	71.85	63.32	120.23	122.64	92.98	
F1ag leaf area	79.29	69.96	98.76	101.50	85.73	
Primary branches/pani	64.02 cle	54.44	115.80	117.98	86.21	
Grains/	80.20	77.07	112.30	113.00	95.03	
Grain yield/ plant	80.24	77.17	112.41	113.09	95.13 	
Hb = Broad sense heritability Hn = Narrow sense heritability P/O = Parent offspring regression (Calculated from the exclusive estimates)						

.

Table-7

Heritability estimates in percentage of different characters.

Table-8

.

Degree of dominance based on potence ratio (h_1, h_2 and h_3) method of different characters.

	h ₁	h ₂	h ₃
Plant height	0.46	0.98	1.98
Effective tillers/plant	0.31	0.52	1.15
Panicle length	0.29	0.45	0.91
Flag leaf length	0.59	1.13	2.22
Flag leaf breadth	0.38	0.57	0.68
Flag leaf area	0.42	0.72	1.13
Primary branches/panicle	0.53	0.73	1,26
Grains/panicle	0.31	0.67	1.36
Grain yield/plant	0.44	0.56	0.96

Table-9

Inclusive and exclusive estimates of variances and covariances of different characters. The first and second value of a pair are the observed and expected estimates, respectively.

	Inclusive	Exclusive	Inclusive	Exclusive
Statistics	Plant	height	Effective	tillers/plant
VF ₂	137.52	137.52	0.360	0.360
L	79.39	81.23	0.232	0.238
	25 84	25.84	0.195	0.195
	49.10	45.87	0.236	0.237
·			0 205	0 205
VF3	89.00	89.00	0.203	0.203
	95.78	20.00	•••==	
$\overline{V}F_{2}$	41.08	-	0.161	-
5	48.56	-	0.184	-
	50 22	59 32	0.103	0.103
WF 3/F 2	87.68	88.00	0.163	0.164
	0,,,,,			A: 117
VE1	5.60	5.60	0.113	0.113
Ĩ	17.73	21.83	0.130	0.140
11TD	1 87	1.87	0.038	0.038
VE2	-4.91	-5.71	0.023	0.020

Continued overleaf

Inclusive and exclusive estimates of variances and covariances of different characters. The first and second value of a pair are the observed and expected estimates, respectively.

Statistics -	Inclusive	Exclusive	Inclusive	Exclusive
	Panicle	length	Flag leat	length
_				
VF2	1.080	1.080	7.306	7.306
-	0.699	0.717	5.076	5.151
	0 500	0 500	2 0 2 2	2 2 2 2 2
^{VB} 1 ^{+VB} 2	0.590	0.390	J.022 4 500	J.022 1 530
	0./12	W./19	4.500	4.000
VE	0.622	0.622	5.600	5.600
•• 3	0.662	0.670	5,502	5.535
	•••			
$\overline{V}F_{2}$	0.482	-	2.740	-
- 3	0.555	-	3.044	-
_		•		
WF3/F2	0.306	0.306	3.360	3.360
52	0.488	0.491	4.859	4.872
		0 247	0.120	A 439
VE1	0.34/	0.347	U.435 1 011	1 180
	0.411	0.451	1.011	1.100
VD	0 115	0 116	0.146	0.146
^{۷ ۳} 2	0 075	0 067	0.246	0.212
	u.u/J 			

Continued overleaf

Inclusive and exclusive estimates of variances and covariances of different characters. The first and second value of a pair are the observed and expected estimates, respectively.

	Inclusive	Exclusive	Inclusive	Exclusive
Statistics	Flag lead	breadth	Flag leaf	area
VFa	0.0074	0.0074	18.135	18.135
Z	0.0048	0.0049	10.380	10.740
$V\overline{B}_{+} + V\overline{B}_{-}$	0 0040	0,0040	4.871	4.871
v ₁ , v ₂	0.0048	0.0049	7.214	7.365
<u>v</u>	0 0042	0.0042	12.397	12.397
VF 3	0.0045	0.0046	12.408	12.566
<u></u>	0 0022	_	4 927	_
vr 3	0.0038	-	6.380	-
	0 0021	0 0021	5 094	6.094
^{WF'} 3 ^{/F'} 2	0.0033	0.0034	10.764	10.827
	0 0000	0 0023	0 791	0.791
VE1	0.0023	0.0030	2.398	3.200
		0 0000	0 254	0 264
VE ₂	0.0008	8000.0	W.204 0 253	0 095
	0.0005	0.0004	W.233	0.055
				overlasf

Continued overleaf

Inclusive and exclusive estimates of variances and covariances of different characters. The first and second value of a pair are the observed and expected estimates, respectively.

	I Inclusive	Exclusive	Inclusive	Exclusive
Statistics				
	Primary bran	ches/panicle	Grains/p	anicle
VF2	2.360	2.360	114.08	114.08
2	1.472	1.453	79.74	80.98
$V\overline{B}_{+} + V\overline{B}_{-}$	0.634	0.639	59.73	. 59.73
VB1 VB2	0.975	0.973	69.93	70.46
VE	1 523	1 523	90.38	90.38
vr 3	1.657	1.653	87.92	88.47
	1 105	_	42 71	-
۸ <u>۴.</u> 3	1.073	-	47.76	-
-		0.000	52 65	52 65
WF3/F2	0.908	0.908	76.75	76.96
	1.303	1.507	/01/0	
VE1	0.345	0.345	6.89	6.89
	0.674	0.611	15.79	18.57
VE ₂	0.115	0.115	2.30	2.30
2	-0.190	-0.006	4.78	4.23

Continued overleaf

.

Inclusive and exclusive estimates of variances and covariances of different characters. The first and second value of a pair are the observed and expected estimates, respectively.

	Inclusive	Exclusive
Statistics	Grain yi	.eld/plant
vF2	4.933	4.933
-	3.451	3.504
$V\overline{B}_1 + V\overline{B}_2$	2.582	2.582
1 2	3.023	3.046
$V\overline{F}$	3,905	3.905
- 3	3.803	3.826
<u>V</u> F -	1.852	-
- 3	2.067	-
	2.289	2.289
312	3.324	3.334
VE.	0.298	0.298
1	0.682	0.800
VEO	0.099	0.099
v - 2	0.201	0.178

Table-10

			~		
	Item	SS	DF	MS	VR
Plant height	Linkage Residual Total	248.82 4770.63 5019.45	1 2 3	248.82 2385.32	0.10
Effectiv tillers/ plant	Linkage Residual Total	0.0009 0.0223 0.0232	1 2 3	0.0009 0.0112	0.08
Panicle length	Linkage Residual Total	0.0074 0.1984 0.2058	1 2 3	0.0074 0.0992	0.07
Flag leaf length	Linkage Residual Total	0.1295 7.9856 8.1151	1 2 3	0.1295 3.9928	0.03
Flag leaf breadth	Linkage Residual Total	1.000002 0.000056 0.000058	1 2 3	0.000002 0.000028	0.07
Flag leaf area	Linkage Residual Total	3.38 28.91 32.29	1 2 3	3.38 14.46	0.23
Primary branches/ panicle	Linkage Residual Total	0.0375 0.3793 0.4168	1 2 3	0.0375 0.1897	0.20
Grains/panicle	Linkage Residual Total	35.67 1945.10 1980.77	1 2 3	35.67 972.55	0.04
Grain yield/plant	Linkage Residual Total	0.0646 3.6111 3.6757	1 2 3	0.1646 1.8056	0.04

Results of analysis of variance for the test of linkage for different characters.

.

Table-11

÷

Estimates of number c	of effective	factors (n ₁ ,	n_2 and K_1).
	n ₁	n ₂	к ₁
Plant height	2.40	2.66	2.68
Effective tillers/ plant	7.26	7.61	8.57
Panicle length	2.61	2.72	2.14
Flag leaf length	1.14	1.34	1.35
Flag leaf breadth	1.04	1.12	1.30
Flag leaf area	1.58	1.72	2.07
Primary branches/ panicle	1.06	1.11	1.08
Grains/panicle	21.73	22.74	25.35
Grain yield/plant	5.16	5.66	6.01

_ _ _ _ _

•

.

DISCUSSION

Inheritance of nine quantitative characters of rice (Oryza sativa L.) was studied in a single cross involving two rice mutant lines. The nine studied characters were plant height, effective tillers/plant, panicle length, flag leaf length, flag leaf breadth, flag leaf area, primary branches per panicle, grains per panicle and grain yield per plant. The biometrical techniques of analysis developed by Mather (1949) based on the mathematical models of Fisher et al. (1932) and those of Hayman (1958) and Allard (1960) were followed for studying the inheritance of these nine characters. All the characters showed continuous variations in them and followed the normal distribution in every case. The inheritance of these quantitative characters were studied on the basis of some important assumptions proposed by Mather (1949) and Anderson and Kempthorne (1954). These are (a) multiple alleles absent, (b) linkage absent, (c) lethal gene absent, (d) constant variability for all the genotypes and (e) environmental effects additive with the genotypic value. Assumptions a, b and c would be no serious bias in the estimation of the parameters. The parental lines taken for the study were pure homozygous, as these lines have been maintained through selfing for many generations since 1975, due to which multiple allele and lethal genes were not likely to be present in the cross. The variability was expected to be constant

for all the genotypes and no bias would be expected. The presence of linkage among the genes may cause important bias in the estimates. Only early generations are considered in this study and as equilibrium of linkage relations is improbable (Comstock and Robinson, 1952 and Mather, 1949), therefore, if there is epistasis, bias due to linkage relations would be present in the estimates of gene effects (Kempthorne, 1957). The most serious bias would be expected to occur in the estimates of additive x additive (i) and dominance x dominance (l) effects.

The effects of environments on genotypes were noted in several crops (Rajas and Sprague, 1952; Perkins and Jinks, 1968; Busch *et al.*, 1976 and Uddin *et al.*, 1979 and 1980). In this study, the bias due to genotype-environment interaction was less as the standard errors of each generation were low. Inclusion of different years and locations, if possible, gave an estimate of different parameters free from genotype-environment interaction.

Estimates of means showed that the means of segregating generations (F_2 , F_3 , B_1 and B_2) and non-segregating generation (F_1) were within the parental ranges i.e., did not exceeded the parental means in all the cases.

The observed means of F_1 , F_2 , F_3 , B_1 and B_2 generations differed from those of theoretical arithmetic and theoretical geometric means in most of the cases suggesting the involvement of non-additive and non-allelic gene effects in the inheritance of these characters. Allard and Harding (1963), Bitzer *et al.*

(1971), Busch *et al.* (1976), Jatasra and Paroda (1978) and Gill *et al.* (1979) reported the preponderance of non-additive gene action in the inheritance of some agronomic characters of wheat. They also noted the presence of additive type of gene actions. Domiannce towards better performances of the nine characters were observed. Dominance towards better performance of different agronomic traits have been reported by many investigators such as Li and Chang (1970), Ali *et al.* (1975), Singh and Nanda (1976), Shaalai and Aly (1977) and Kumar *et al.* (1986).

Mather's A, B, C and D Scaling Test related to B_1 , B_2 , F_2 and F_3 generations respectively were made to test the significant deviations of the observed means from their expectations. Significant deviations of the observed means from their expectations were found for all the characters in most of the tests suggesting the presence of non-additive and non-allelic gene action in the inheritance of these characters.

As A, B, C and D scaling test is specific to B_1 , B_2 , F_2 and F_3 generations respectively, a Joint Scaling Test (Cavalli, 1952) allowing all the seven generations together was done for testing the adequacy of additive-dominance model ($X^2_{df=4}$). Significant $\chi^2_{(df=4)}$ values indicated the presence of epistasis (non-allelic gene actions) while non-significant χ^2 values suggested the gene actions free from non-allelic interactions. Significant χ^2 values were observed in plant height, effective tillers per plant, panicle length, flag leaf length, flag leaf breadth, grains per

panicle and grain yield per plant suggesting the presence of nonallelic gene action. The other two characters viz., flag leaf area and primary branches per panicle showed non-significant χ^2 values indicating the gene actions free from non-allelic interactions. But Mather's Scaling Tests were significant in these two cases indicating the presence of non-additive and nonallelic gene interactions. Linkage and higher order gene interaction may cause non-significant χ^2 estimates in these two cases. Allard (1960), Bitzer *et al.* (1971) and Busch *et al.* (1976) in wheat and Kumar *et al.* (1986), Hahn and Chae (1987) and Choi (1990) in rice found non-additive and non-allelic gene interactions for different agronomic traits.

The digenic interaction model $(\chi^2_{df=1})$ was used as the additive-dominance model $(\chi^2_{df=4})$ was inadequate in this cross. Non-significant $\chi^2_{(df=1)}$ values were found in all the characters indicating that digenic interaction model was adequate in these cases. Weighted estimates of additive, dominance and digenic interaction parameters were calculated as proposed by Hayman (1958). The estimates were meaningful in all the cases as all the χ^2 values with 1 df were non-significant. Additive gene effects (d) were significant in all the traits studied suggested that additive gene effects made the major contribution to the variation of all the cases. The sign of d estimate is not important as it depends on the parental means $[d=(\overline{P}_1-\overline{P}_2)/2]$. On the other hand the estimates of dominance (h) effects of all the

characters were found non-significant. Though the h estimates of flag leaf breadth, flag leaf area and grain yield per plant were non-significant, these estimates were positive and large compared to their respective errors indicating dominance towards larger flag leaf breadth and area and towards more grain yield. However, the d as the additive (d) estimates of all the characters were significant and larger than the dominance (h) estimates, it was revealed that the additive (d) effects contributed major part in the inheritance of these characters. Gill *et al.* (1979) in macaroni wheat and Hahn and Chae (1987) in rice have reported major contribution of additive effects in the inheritance of some important agronomic traits. Kumar *et al.* (1986) while studying some crosses using rice dwarf mutants found that plant height was governed predominantly by additive genes with dominance gene action.

The estimates of epistatic gene effects (1, j and 1) showed that the total epistatic effects varied in different characters and were less than the mean effects (m). Additive x additive (1) types of epistasis were more pronounced than additive x dominance (j) and dominance x dominance (l) types of epistasis. Additive x additive (i) types of epistasis were found significant in cases of plant height, effective tillers per plant, flag leaf length, flag leaf breadth and grains per panicle. Estimates of all the dominance x dominance (l) type of epistasis were found nonsignificant. Additive x dominance effect (j) was significant in

only two characters viz., plant height and flag leaf breadth. This indicated that inheritance of these characters is not simple and strait forward. Additive x additive (i) type of gene action in yield/plant was reported by Gill *et al.* (1979) in wheat. Singh and Anand (1971) reported additive x dominance (j) type of interaction in grain number of wheat whereas significant epistasis parameters in some agronomic traits were reported by Bhatt (1972) in wheat and by Hahn and Chae (1987) in rice. Such significant j effects was expected since, the F_1 population mean indicated considerable heterosis in these cases.

The signs of 'h' and 'l' were different in most of the cases suggested the presence of duplicate type of epistasis. The presence of duplicate epistasis was reported by Singh and Anand (1971) and Bhatt (1972) in wheat. The signs of these two estimates were same in case of primary branches per panicle which suggested the presence of complementary type of gene action in this case. Complementary type of gene action involved in the inheritance of culm length of rice was reported by Choi (1990).

The components of variations (D, H, E_1 and E_2) have been estimated by using unweighted least square techniques under inclusive and exclusive analysis as proposed by Mather (1949), Mather and Vines (1952) and Mather and Jinks (1971).

The estimation of components of variation under both inclusive and exclusive analysis showed that the D estimates were significant and greater in magnitude compared to the other

estimates in almost all the characters. Significant estimates of D with greater magnitude suggested that additive component of genetic variations played an important role in the inheritance of these characters. Importance of additivity in the inheritance of quantitative characters have been reported earlier by many investigators such as Yates (1947), Comstock and Robinson (1948) Mather (1949), Jinks (1954) and Hayman (1954 and 1958) in differentent characters of different crops. Walton (1972), Gill et al. (1979), Uddin (1983) and many other investigators showed importance of both additive and dominance components of variation, but the former was of more importance in the inheritance of quantitative characters of wheat. In rice too, additive gene actions were reported to be more important in controlling different quantitative characters by Mohamed and Hanna (1965), Chang et al. (1965), Wu (1968), Li and Chang (1970), Rahman and Eunus (1973), Sathyanarayaniah and Reddi (1973), Ali et al. (1975), Khaleque (1975), Khaleque and Eunus (1975), Singh and Nanda (1976), Shaalai and Aly (1977), Kim and Heu (1977), Yen (1977), Azam (1981), Kumar et al. (1986) and Hahn and Chae (1987).

The H estimates during both inclusive and exclusive analysis yielded non-significant negative values. Variance, being a quadratic quantity, can never be negative. Negative estimates of components of variation, however, arose from the sampling errors (Mather, 1949) or due to genotype-environment interaction (Hill,

1966). Such H values are to be considered either as zero or as very small but positive numbers (Mather, 1949). Negative H estimates have been reported by Mather (1949) in <u>Nicotiana</u>, Joarder and Eunus (1968) and Joarder *et al.* (1977) in Rape seed, Paul *et al.* (1978) in Jute and Khaleque *et al.* (1978) in Rice.

Heritability estimates are the potentiality of fixable heritable variability under a particular environment. A great variability was observed in the heritability estimates of different characters. Broad sense heritability (Hb) was high in majority of the characters. The Hb ranged from 41.27% for panicle length to 80.24% for grain yield per plant. High estimates of heritability (Hb) found in the studied characters indicated that the total phenotypic variability in these cases were genetic in nature. The high estimates also indicated that the contribution of additive and/or additive x additive gene effects were more than that of dominance and/or dominance x dominance gene effects. The genetical nature of major part of the phenotypic variation have been reported by Khaleque (1975), Khaleque and Eunus (1975), Chaudhury et al. (1976), Shaalai and Aly (1977), Prasad and Chandra (1977), Kumar et al. (1986), Alfonso (1988), Tai et al. (1989) and Yang and Wang (1990) in grain yield and many other important characters of rice.

Narrow sense heritability (Hn) estimated from the components of variation were variable from characters to characters. The Hn estimates were also found to be very high in all the characters

and these values ranged 98.18% in panicle length to 143.19% in plant height. The high estimates of narrow sense heritability indicated genetic nature of major part of the phenotypic variation in all the cases. Kaul (1972), Kaul and Bhan (1974), Khaleque (1975), Maurya (1976), Kumar *et al.* (1986) and Tai *et al.*(1989) showed that plant height, panicle length, spikelets per panicle, grain number per panicle, grain weight and many other characters were highly heritable.

Parent-offspring regression heritability estimates which were comparable to most of the narrow sense heritabilities were within the limit of expectation. The parent-offspring regression analysis further suggested that most of the phenotypic variations were of genetic in nature.

Degrees of dominance $(h_1, h_2 \text{ and } h_3 \text{ related to } F_1, F_2 \text{ and } F_3$ generations respectively) for all the nine characters were estimated by potence ratio method. From the result it was revealed that most of the characters showed partial dominance in F_1 and F_2 while over dominance in F_3 generation. The results also indicated that the dominant genes were positive in nature and isodirectionally distributed. It also suggested that longer plant height, panicle length and flag leaf length over shorter plant height, panicle length and flag length; broader flag leaf breadth and larger flag leaf area over narrower flag leaf breadth and smaller flag leaf area respectively; high count of effective tillers per plant, primary branches per panicle and grains per

panicle over low count of effective tillers per plant, primary branches per panicle and grains per panicle and higher grain vield per plant over lower grain yield per plant showed partial dominance. Chang et al. (1965), Aquino and Jennings (1966), Heu et al. (1968) and Chang and Vergera (1972) found different results for plant height of rice. They found short stature was dominant over long stature of plant height. Both partial and overdominance (either positive or negative) were detected by Azam (1981) for different characters including grain yield in rice. Positive dominancy in different traits of rice is more common and has been reported by many investigators such as Mohamed and Hanna (1965), Wu (1968), Sathyanarayaniah and Reddi (1973), Khaleque and Eunus (1975); Singh and Nanda (1976) and Yen (1977). The discrepancy in the expression of dominance in F_1 , F_2 and F_3 generations may be due to change in the distribution of genes in F_2 and F_3 and could result from the repulsion-phase linkages of genes in the partial to overdominance range. Sharma and Ahmad (1980) reported such type of discrepancy in gene expression in days to heading of wheat.

The test of linkage is basically a test of homogeneity of D and H estimates over the statistics of different ranks. Out of the six statistics involving D and H, $V\overline{F}_2$, $V\overline{F}_3$, $W\overline{F}_3/F_2$ and $V\overline{B}_1$ + $V\overline{B}_2$ was of rank 1 and $V\overline{F}_3$ was of rank 2. The item linkage when tested by residual item, it was observed that all the mean square values were non-significant. The non-significant mean square

values indicated absence linkage in all the cases. In presence of linkage, D and H in the \overline{VF}_3 will differ from D and H in the first rank statistics and non-allelic gene interaction affects D and H differently over generations as well as over rank of statistics (Hayman and Mather, 1955 and Mather and Jinks; 1971). As the residual item was non-significant in all the characters, which gave non-significant linkage item, it may be assumed that the presence non-allelic gene interaction made no contribution to the second degree of variances and covariances. The non-significant linkage item indicated that the values of D and H did not differed in $V\overline{F}_3$ statistics from those in others, (Mather, 1949 and Mather and Jinks, 1971). On the contrary of this result, Uddin (1983) detected linkage in grain yield and other yield contributing characters of wheat. Azam (1981) also detected linkage in grain yield and some yield contributing characters of rice.

According to Mather (1949) an effective factor is the smallest unit of hereditary material that is capable of being recognized by the methods of biometrical genetics. It may be closely linked gene, or at the lower limit, a single gene. The number of effective factors were calculated by following three methods of estimation as developed by (i) Castle and Wright (1921), (ii) Burton (1951) and (iii) Mather (1949). All the three estimates are based on certain assumptions : (i) all the genes are equally important, (ii) one parent has all the plus genes and

other parent has all the minus genes, (111) no linkage exists between pertinent genes, (iv) gene effects combine additivity, (v) degree of dominance for all the plus genes is similar and (vi) no interaction exists between pertinent non-allelic genes. Failure of any one of these assumptions listed above to fulfil in the parents will under estimate the number of effective factors. All the three estimates gave more or less similar results in all cases. From results, it was revealed that all the characters studied were controlled by polygenes. The estimates of number of effective factors showed that two to three pairs of gene group were responsible for controlling plant height, panicle length, flag leaf length, flag leaf breadth, flag leaf area and primary branches per panicle while atleast six and eight pairs of gene group were responsible for controlling grain yield per plant and effective tillers per plant respectively. It was found that a large group, at least twenty two pairs, of effective factors were responsible for controlling grains per panicle. Chandraratna and Sakai (1960), Mitra (1962), Mohamed and Hanna (1965), Rajendran and Namboodiri (1971) Rajagopalon et al. (1973), Khaleque (1975), Khaleque and Eunus (1977) and Yang and Wang (1990) have reported similar results on polygenic control of various morphological and agronomical characters of rice. On the contrary to this result, single gene pair controlling plant height, culm length, panicle length, primary branches per panicle, spikelet and grain number per panicle and grain yield per plant of rice was reported by

Chaudhury et al. (1976), Yen (1977) and Azam (1981).

The present investigation, therefore, indicated that additivity (with greater magnitude), dominance and non-allelic gene interactions are involved in the inheritance of the nine agronomic characters of rice. The role of environment is also presumed. A breeding programme for the improvement of these characters should be designed, that will utilize all these gene effects for effective breeding. It also indicated that a large number of progeny shall have to be raised to get rid of the duplicate types of non-allelic gene interaction because it will hinder progress in selection breeding programme.

SUMMARY

Inheritance of nine quantitative characters viz., plant height, effective tillers per plant, panicle length, flag leaf length, flag leaf breadth, flag leaf area, primary branches per panicle, grains per panicle and grain yield per plant were studied with parents, F_1 , F_2 , F_3 , B_1 and B_2 generations of a single cross of rice (*Oryza sativa* L.) Biometrical techniques were adopted to study the inheritance of quantitative characters.

The means of segregating $(F_2, F_3, B_1 \text{ and } B_2)$ and nonsegregating (F_1) generations were within the parental ranges in all cases. Hybrids did not show better performances than their parents in any of the characters studied. The observed means of all the generations deviated significantly from those of the theoretical arithmatic and geometric means in most of the cases indicating the involvement of non-additive and non-allelic gene effects. Dominance towards better performances of all characters was noticed. Mather's A, B, C and D Scaling Test indicated that non-additive gene actions had affected the means of the segregating generations and also suggested that non-allelic gene actions were involved in the inheritance of these characters.

Epistatic gene action was involved in controlling the mean expression of different generations of the cross. Both additive (d) and non-additive (h) types of gene effects were involved in the inheritance of these characters but the former type was of

much importance than the latter. The estimates of epistatic gene effect (i, j and l) showed that the total epistatic effects varied in different characters and were less than the mean effects (m). Additive x additive (i) type of epistasis was more pronounced than additive x dominance (j) and dominance x dominance (l) types of epistasis. Additive x additive (i) type of of epistasis was found to be significantly operative in five of studied traits viz., plant height, effective tillers per plant, flag leaf length, flag leaf breadth and grains per panicle. In case of plant height and flag leaf breadth additive x dominance (j) type of epistasis was also found to be significantly operative. The epistatic gene effect was found to be duplicate type in all the cases, except primary branches per panicle where it was found to be complementary type.

The estimates of components of variation showed that the additive (D) type of genetic variation of all the characters were greater in magnitude, positive and significant which suggested that additive type of variation formed the major part of the total phenotypic variation in all the cases. It played an important role in the inheritance of these characters. On the other hand, dominance (H) type of genetic variation of all the cases were negative and non-significant. Negative H estimates are to be considered as zero or as very small but positive numbers (Mather, 1949). Thus, the negative H estimates suggested very little contribution of dominance genetic variation in the

inheritance of these characters.

Broad sense heritability (Hb) was high in majority of the cases. It ranged from 41.27% for panicle length to 80.24% for grain yield per plant. Narrow sense heritability (Hn) and heritability estimated by parent offspring regression analysis (P/0) were very high in all the cases. Narrow sense heritability ranged from 98.18% for panicle length to 143.19% for plant height and parent offspring regression ranged from 68.42% for panicle length to 108.33% for plant height.

Dominance relationship as measured by potence ratio method was found to be variable for different generations. The h_1 and h_2 estimates of the degree of dominance suggested partial dominance in F_1 and F_2 generations for most of the characters whereas both partial and overdominance were indicated by the h_3 estimates for different characters of F_3 generation.

The test of linkage was done and no linkage was detected for the characters studied.

The estimates of number of effective factors suggested that all the characters studied were polygenic in nature. Number of effective factors measured by three methods was found to be 2-3 for plant height, panicle length, flag leaf length, flag leaf breadth, flag leaf area and primary branches per panicle, 6-9 for effective tillers per plant and grain yield per plant and 22-26 for grains per panicle. All the three estimates $(n_1, n_2 \text{ and } K_1)$ gave similar types of information.

PART - II

GENOTYPE - ENVIRONMENT

INLERACTION

.

REVIEW OF LITERATURE

Idea that phenotypic variation comprises genotypic variation due to variation in genetic constitution of varieties and environmental variation caused by environment in which the varieties developed was first formulated by Johannsen in 1909. According to him, genes of an individual are responsible for the development of it but environment has an important role which determines the "Life situation" of the individual. Johannsen (1909), after thorough investigation on dwarf beans (Phaseolus vulgaris), concluded that the seed weight of these beans exhibited both heritable and non-heritable variations, whose effects on quantitative characters, like seed weight , were such that only breeding test could distinguish them apart. His work showed the way to a greater understanding of the process of joint regulatory effect of environment and genotype on the development of a particular individual. This understanding was to affect more than just plant breeding.

In 1910, Keeble and Pellow referred to the "well known seasonal variation" which affected the seed weight in peas, adding that caution should be taken whenever data are collected from plant grown in different seasons.

East (1915) reported that the continuous variation of a quantitative character in segregating generation was inherited in Mendelian fashion.

Fisher (1918) developed for the first time a statistical method for partitioning variance of a quantitative character in segregating population into its genetic and environmental components. Hayes (1922), while discussing the production of high-protein quantity in maize, said that there was a very low correlation between protein content of self-fertilized ears of normal varieties and the percentage of protein of their progenies grown in the following year. He suggested that the expression of a character was strongly influenced by environment in which the plant developed and thus, a low correlation could be expected. Parent-offspring correlations were also studied by Immer and Asemus (1931) and Kelly et al. (1932). The results they obtained All the studies were similar to those obtained by Hayes. described above focused on the gross effect of environments on life. And these led to further study on the detection and estimation of the interaction between genotypes and environments individuals. Existence of genotype on the development of environment interaction is indicated by the relative performances of genotypes varying under different environments. Investigation on quantitative characters, the relative performances of different genotypes become more complicated when more than one of the changes in the gene because environment is involved expression which may occur with the changes in the environments. Work in this field goes back to a number of years. Two main approaches have been made for detecting and estimating the

interaction between genotypes and environments. The first one is purely statistical method recognized and proposed by Yates and Cochran (1938). This method is applicable to any number of strains or varieties grown in any number of environments. The method was used by Finlay and Wilkinson (1963) and Eberhart and Russel (1966) to detect and measure the magnitude of genotypeenvironment interactions in Barley and Maize respectively. They did not try to show any relationship between the components of variance analyses with parameters of biometrical genetics. The second approach involves fitting models which specify the contributions of genetic and environmental actions and genotypeenvironment interactions to generation means and variances. It also determines the contributions of additive, dominance and nonallelic gene action to the total genetic and interaction components. This approach has been used to estimate genotypeenvironment interaction in Nicotiana rustica by Jinks (1954) and Jinks and Mather (1955).

Following second approach Bucio Alanis (1966) and Bucio Alanis and Hill (1966) studied a pair of inbred lines and the generations that can be derived from an initial cross between them. Their methods of analysis provided more informative conclusions and they can be used to predict across generations as well as across environments. Perkins and Jinks (1968 a and b) bridged over the gap between the two alternative analyses. Expectation of items in the statistical analysis of Yates and

Cochran (1938) was given in terms of models of gene and environmental actions and genotype - environment interaction. The analysis of Bucio Alanis (1966) was extended to cover any number of inbred lines and crosses among them.

Rajas and Sprague (1952) studied the interaction of general and specific combining ability with locations and years for yield in Corn and found that the later interaction were greater than corresponding estimates involving general combining ability. Contrary to the above findings, greater interactions of general combining ability with the environment were observed by Matzinger *et al.* (1959) for yield in Corn; Ling (1967) for yield and other characters in Sorghum and by Paroda and Joshi (1970) for yield and yield components in Wheat.

Widner and Lebsock (1973) studied with ten parent diallel crosses of durum wheat at two locations in North Dakota in 1965 and 1966. An estimate of genotype-environment interaction was determined for grain yield on the means of the F_1 , F_2 and perents. Genotype x environment mean squares were significant for the F_1 hybrids and parents but non-significant for the F_2 populations. Bains (1976) studied the G X E interactions in some crosses of spring wheat. The crosses were made on the basis of linear sensitivity of the parental lines to environments. Both the linear and non-linear components of G X E interactions of the advanced generations of each cross were noted. All the aspects of the phenotype including linear and non-linear sensitivity to the

environments were under genetical control.

Islam (1978) made a study with parental and F_1 generations of some wheat crosses under eight different nutritional treatments. He reported that genotype-environment interaction was found to operate in both parental lines and F_1 generations. A significant portion of these interactions was accounted by the linear function of genotype-environment interactions were found under the control of different gene systems. Both additive and dominant gene effects were responsible for the inheritance of the characters he studied.

Chaudhary and Paroda (1979) carried on an experiment with 21 homozygous and heterozygous genotypes of wheat in eight different environments and studied the stability parameters (b and \overline{s}_d^2) for grain yield and its components. They reported that the grain yield and its direct components showed the highest response (b) indicating that homozygous populations were buffered less than heterozygous populations.

Jatasra and Paroda (1979) studied ten wheat varieties of Mexican and Indian origin for stability with respect to synchrony traits in six environments. Genotype-environment interactions were found to be a linear component. Three parameters of stability (\overline{X} , b and \overline{S}_d^2) were positively associated with in case of synchrony of ear emergence and synchrony of height. For these traits synchronous varieties were stable and less responsive to environmental fluctuations.

Singh and Singh (1980) investigated the G X E interactions under seven environments at one location using 22 diverse and the elite cultivars (17 of *T. aestivum* and 5 of *T. durum*). The main effects as well as both the components of G X E interaction (predictable and unpredictable) effects were significant for grain yield. Within hexaploid, the tall cultivars were highly unstable and exhibited low population buffering. Two aspects of phenotype (\overline{X} and b) were positively and significantly associated. However, some of the cultivars exhibited high yield with low and zero regression.

Whingwiri and Kemp (1980) studied the spikelet development and grain yield of wheat ear in response to applied nitrogen. They observed that nitrogen significantly increased tiller number, dry matter and grain yield/plant. Total spikelet numbers increased with increasing nitrogen supply. Nitrogen supply affected grain yield per ear more by influencing the ability of florets to set grain than by varying spikelet number.

Islam *et al.* (1981) investigated variety X seeding date interaction on yield and other agronomic traits of wheat. They showed that the varieties significantly interacted with environment and its interaction was accounted for the linear function of the environmental mean. Genotypes with higher mean performance had regression coefficient greater than the unity compared to the genotypes with low mean performance.

Parh and Khan (1986) worked on G X E interaction of 20 wheat

cultivars at four seeding dates and studied correlation among the stability parameters. They reported that significant positive association was found between the mean performances and regression co-efficient for days to 50% heading and yield/plant. Non-linear component of G X E interaction (\overline{s}_d^2) was positive and significantly correlated with days to 50% heading but negatively correlated with days to maturity and plant height. They suggested insignificant correlation in all the parameters for number of tillers per plant, spike length and number by independent genetic mechanism. So, these traits might be expected to attain greater stability and ultimately the yield.

Parh and Khan (1987) studied the G X E interactions on wheat cultivars under four sowing dates. Significant G X E interactions were observed for all the characters. Cultivars suitable for unfavourable environment are Balaka and Baw 28.

Few works on genotype - environment interaction in Rice are available, except the studies on variety x fertilizer interaction in agronomical studies which showed significant variety x fertilizer interaction (Chandraratna, 1961; Kawano and Takahashi, 1968). Summaries of some studies on genotype-environment interaction in Rice are given in the following paragraphs.

Variety x environmental interactions in Rice was studied by Ree *et al.* (1964). He reported that of the interactions between the variety x location and variety x year in Central and Southern Korea, only variety x year interaction in Central Korea was found

to be significant.

Morishima *et al.* (1967) made an analysis of genetic variation in plant type of Rice. They also studied genotypeseasonal variations in different characters by using F_3 lines from the crosses of Peta x 1-geo-tze, which were grown in weight and dry crop seasons. The results of variance analysis showed that genotype x season interaction was significant indicating that the response to the growing seasons was genetically controlled. They concluded that selection for seasonal adaptability and high yielding capacity may be made simultaneously by using certain genetic criteria.

Kawano and Takahashi (1968) studied the inter-relationship among plant characters in Rice and concluded that the genotype x environment interaction was a limiting factor for negative correlations between characters.

Khaleque (1975) worked on genotype-environment interactions for eighteen characters in a 5 x 5 diallel progenies of Rice over two seasons. He mentioned that genotype-environment interactions were operating in both parental and F_2 generations. Both the linear and non-linear components of the genotype-environment interactions were under the control of different gene systems. Both dominant and additive components of variation interact with the environment and were of two different functions of the environment and under the control of different genetic systems.

Khaleque and Eunus (1977) carried out an experiment on

genotype X macro-environment interaction and diversity estimates in rice with 121 varieties over 3 boro seasons during 1970-71, 1971-72 and 1972-73. They observed that the genetic variations were significant for all the characters except yield/plant. They observed high estimates of genetic coefficient of variation (GCV), broadsense heritability (H) and genetic gain (GS)[°] for yield/plant, kernel weight, kernel number, primary branches and flag leaf.

Uddin *et al.* (1979) worked on G X E interaction for two quantitative characters in rice with parental and F_2 generations. They reported that G X E interactions were operative in both parental and F_2 generations. A significant portion of these interaction was accounted for the linear function of the environmental mean. The additive dominance components interacted with the environments and were of different function of the environmental mean. A real difference existed between the populations and there was also a real effect of different doses of nitrogen on these characters. The potence ratio was high in low doses of urea and low in high doses in most of the cases.

Azam (1981) studied genotype-environment interaction for five characters of 12 rice varieties. He found that genotypeenvironment interactions were operative in all the genotypes and were accounted both for linear and non-linear functions of the environmental means and these were controlled by different gene systems. A real difference between the genotypes existed in
relation to response and stability.

Fifteen rice genotypes of the dry (rainfed) and semidry (rainfed initially with irrigation later) type, were evaluated for stability performance for yield and 4 yield components by Amirthadevarathinam in 1987. He found significant genotypeenvironment interaction and both linear and non-linear components were equally important. He selected 2 high yielding varieties with wide adaptability and high stability suitable for unfavourable environments.

Alfonso *et al.* (1988) assessed the genotype - environment interaction of 11 genotypes in 4 seasons at 3 localities in 2 years and found greatest varietal differences in performance. He also observed the greatest genotype-environmental interactions occurred during the dry season. He estimated moderate heritability for yield and high heritability for other characters.

Ganesh and Soundrapandian studied the stability parameters in 10 short duration rice varieties under 3 environments in 1988. They found both the linear and non-linear components of genotypeenvironment interaction contributed to the total genotypeenvironment interaction and linear component predominated in plant height, number of ear bearing tillers, panicle length, member of filled grains and plot yield. They showed that selections for different environments and high yielding ability can be made simultaneously by using certain genetic criteria.

Narendra *et al.* (1988) studied 25 rice varieties during rainy seasons of 1983 and 1984 and winter of 1983-84 and found significant genotype-environment interaction for days to 50% flowering, plant height and grain yield but not for panicle length of 25 rice varieties. They selected varieties for different environments for winter and rainy seasons and also for poor environments.

However, many investigators have also studied genotypeenvironment interactions in different crops such as Fripp and Caten (1973) in Schizophyllum commune, Zuberi and Gale (1976) in Papaver dubium, Joarder and Eunus (1977) in Brassica campestris, Uddin et al. (1980) in Oryza sativa, etc. and they found that the linear relationships existing between the phenotypes and the environments.

The linear relationship usually accounts for most of the variations of genotypes over environments and it is possible to predict phenotypic performances under related environmental conditions. Since a few works have been carried out on genotype - environment interactions in Rice, the present study was undertaken to broaden our knowledge about genotype-environment interactions in relation to yield and some yield component characters of Rice (*Oryza sativa* L.).

MATERIALS AND METHODS

A. MATERIALS

The materials for the present study, G X E interaction, was the same as used in the Part-I study. The materials comprised of non-segregating (Parents and F_1) and segregating (F_2 , F_3 , B_1 and B_2) generations of the same cross combination (Mut NS3 x Mut NS1) as Part-I study. Some salient features of these two stable mutant lines, used as parents, are as follows :

- Mut NS1 : Tall; moderate early maturing, possesses more number of tillers ; leaves are long-broad ; panicles are longer which bear a good number of grains and high yielder type. This mutant line was released under the commercial name "Binasail" by Bangladesh Institute of Nuclear Agriculture in 1987.
- Mut NS3 : Semi dwarf, early maturing, possesses lower number of tillers, leaves are small and moderate broad, panicles are smaller which bear less number of grains and low yielder type.

B. METHODS

The methods used in this study can be described under the following sub-heads :

- a) Production of Experimental Seeds,
- b) Raising and Maintenance of Experimental Plants,

- c) Collection of Data, and
- d) Techniques of Analysis.

a) Production of Experimental Seeds

Seeds of parents i.e., two stable mutant lines (Mut NS1 and Mut NS3) were collected from the Plant Breeding Division, Bangladesh Institute of Nuclear Agriculture, Mymensingh, Bangladesh.

Seeds of F_1s , F_2s , F_3s , B_1s and B_2s produced during the years 1988 to 1990 along with seeds of parents were also used in this study.

b) Raising and Maintenance of Experimental Plants

Seedlings of two mutant lines and non-segregating and segregating generations (F_1 , F_2 , F_3 , B_1 and B_2) were raised on homogenous beds which were prepared as small field blocks with urea, triple-super phosphate and muriate of potash as chemical fertilizers for the supply of nitrogen (N), phosphate (P) and potash (K), respectively. Seeds were sown on 7th July, 1991.

Six hundred earthen pots (12" size) were filled up with moderately manured soil (mixed with oil-cake and cow dung). For artificial creation of differences in soil environments N, P and K were used in different combinations. There were altogather eight combinations of N, P and K including zero does i.e, absence of these fertilizers. The eight combinations were zero, N, P, K, NP, NK, PK and NPK. An amount of 7 gm triple-super phosphate and 3 gm muriate of potash were applied to the pots according to

their treatment combinations. Urea was applied in three splits to the respective treatment pots. The three splits 2 gm, 3 gm and 2 gm of urea were applied after 7 days of transplantation, at the maximum tillering stage and at the panicle initiation stage respectively. The experiment was replicated thrice. Transplantation was done on 6ht August, 1991, with 30 days old seedlings. There were altogather 75 pots for $3P_1$, $3P_2$, $3F_1$, $30F_2$ (of $10F_2$ lines), $30F_3$ (10 F_3 lines), $3B_1$, and $3B_2$ plants for each treatment. Thus, considering each combination of fertilizer as an environment there were eight environments for each population in a replication. Usual irrigation and weeding were done whenever necessary.

The experiment was repeated following the same procedure for the second time during 1992. Sowing of seeds was done on 10th July, 1992 and seedlings were transplanted on 9th August, 1992.

During both the years, pots were arranged following randomized block design.

c) Collection of Data

Data were collected on invdividual plant basis. A standard tiller was first selected and then labelled for collecting the data of panicle and flag leaf. The following characters were recorded for the present study :

- 1. Plant height (PH) (measured in cm.)
- Effective tillers per plant (ET/P)
- Panicle length (PL) (measured in cm. from the selected tiller)

- Flag leaf length (FLL) (measured in cm. from the selected tiller)
- 5. Flag leaf breadth (FLB) (measured in cm. from the selected tiller).
- Flag leaf area (FLA) (measured in sq. cm. from the selected tiller
- 7. Primary branches per panicle (PB/P) (number counted from the selected tiller's panicle)
- Grains per panicle (G/p) (number counted from the selected tiller's panicle)
- 9. Grain yield/plant (Gy/p) (measured in gm.)

d) Techniques of Analysis

The biometrical techniques of analysis developed by Fisher (1918), Yates and Cochran (1938), Mather (1949), Mather and Jones (1958), Finlay and Wilkinson (1963), Eberhart and Russel (1966), Bucio Alanis (1966), Bucio Alanis and Hill (1966) and Breese (1969) were followed for the analysis of the collected data.

Means and Analysis of Variance

The means of the seven populations were worked out by taking the arithmetic mean of three replications. The analysis of variance was done by using the data of individual plant of P_1 , P_2 , F_1 , B_1 and B_2 and means of F_2 and F_3 of each replication for testing the significant differences between the populations. Variances of different effects were estimated by using the general formula:

$$[\Sigma X^2 - (\Sigma X)^2/n] / [n - 1]$$

Where, X is the individual reading recorded at the time of

collecting data and n is the total number of individual readings in all three replications.

The effect of population i.e., genotype, environment and year and their interactions were determined according to the following formulae:

Item	SS	df
Total	$\Sigma X^2 - (\Sigma X)^2 / n$. 335
Population(P)	$1/48 \Sigma P^2 - CF$	6
Environment(E)	$1/42 \Sigma E^2 - CF$	7
Year (Y)	1/168 ΣΥ ² - CF	1
PXE	$(1/6 \Sigma PXE^2 - CF) - PSS - ESS$	55-6-7 = 42
РХҮ	$(1/24 \Sigma PXY^2 - CF) - PSS - YSS$	13-6-1 = 6
ЕХҮ	$(1/21\Sigma EXY^2 - CF) - ESS - YSS$	15 - 7 - 1 = 7
РХЕХҮ	(1/3 Σ PXEXY ² - CF) - PSS - ESS - YSS - PXESS - PXYSS - EXYSS	$\begin{array}{rrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrr$
Replication(R)	$1/112 \Sigma R^2 - CF$	1
Error	TotalSS - RSS - (1/3ΣPXEXY ² - CF)	335-2-111 = 222

P is the sum of all readings of each population over treatments, years and replications; Σ is the sum of all readings of each treatment over population, years and replications and Y is the sum of all readings of each year over populations, treatments and replications. Whereas, P SS, E SS and Y SS are the sum of squares of population effects (P), environmental effects (E) and effect of years (Y) respectively. And P X E SS,

E x Y SS, P x Y SS and P x E x Y SS represent the sum of squares of different interactions, R SS represents the sum of squares of replicational effect and CF (Correction factor) is equal to $(\Sigma X)^2/n$.

Mean squares were determined by dividing the individual sum of square (SS) values by their respective degrees of freedom (df) and the mean square values were tested against the error mean square value (Error MS).

Phenotypic Regression, Response and Stability

Finlay and Wilkinson (1963) first gave the formula for determining the phenotypic regression and they represented b_1' as the response or coefficient of regression. According to them regression SS and b_1' values were determined by the formulae:

Regression SS = $(SPXY)^2/SSX$

and Response $(b_1) = SPXY/SSX$

Where, SPXY was the sum of product of two variables (X and Y) and SSX was the sum of squares of the first variable (X).

The 'b_i' values of Finlay and Wilkinson (1963) correspond to the 1+ β_1 values of Eberhart and Russel (1966) and $\beta_1 = (b_1-1)$ values of Bucio Alanis (1966), Bucio Alanis and Hill (1966) and Perkins and Jinks (1968a).

Standard error $(\pm Sb_1)$ of regression coefficient is estimated according to the formula:

 $\pm Sb_1 = [SSY - (SPXY)b_1/(n - 2)/SSX]^{1/2}$

Where, SSY is the sum of squares of the second variable (Y) and n

is the number of environments.

Stability (\overline{S}_{d}^{2}) or non-linearity of each genotype was calculated as follows:

= Remainder MS - Error MS

Where, Remainder MS = (SSY - Regression SS)/(n - 2)

Genetical Studies with population Means (X)

Epistatic Gene Effect :

i) 3-Parameter Model:

The expectation of generation means in terms of segregating and non-segregating generations are as follows :

$$P_{1} = m + d$$

$$\overline{P}_{2} = m - d$$

$$\overline{F}_{1} = m + h$$

$$\overline{F}_{2} = m + 1/2h$$

$$\overline{F}_{3} = m + 1/4h$$

$$\overline{B}_{1} = m + 1/2d + 1/2h$$

$$\overline{B}_{2} = m - 1/2d + 1/2h$$

Where, m measures the base population mean, d measures the additive gene effects and h measures the dominance gene effects.

An unweighted least square technique developed by Mather (1949) was followed to estimate the parameters. From the estimated parameters the expected means of seven generations were calculated. Then the joint scaling test (χ^2 test) of Cavalli (1952) was done to detect the type of gene action. The degree of freedom of χ^2 test was 7-3 = 4.

The significant chi-square (χ^2) indicates the presence of epistasis which means the additive-dominance model was inadequate due to the presence of non-allelic gene action.

11) 6-Parameter Model:

When 3-parameter model was not suitable to interprete the gene action due to non-allelic gene interaction, the data were then subjected to Hayman's (1958) 6-parameter model. The expected generation means in terms of 6-parameter model were as follows :

$$\overline{P}_{1} = m + d + 1$$

$$\overline{P}_{2} = m - d + 1$$

$$\overline{F}_{1} = m + h + 1$$

$$\overline{F}_{2} = m + 1/2h + 1/41$$

$$\overline{F}_{3} = m + 1/4h + 1/161$$

$$\overline{B}_{1} = m + 1/2d + 1/2h + 1/41 + 1/4j + 1/41$$

$$\overline{B}_{2} = m - 1/2d + 1/2h + 1/41 - 1/4j + 1/41$$

Where, m measures the base population mean, d measures the additive gene effects, h measures the dominance gene effects, i measures the additive x additive type of non-allelic gene action, j measures the additive x dominance type of non-allelic gene action and l measures the dominance x dominance type of nonallelic gene action.

An unweighted least square technique as described in 3-parameter model was used to estimate these six parameters viz., m, d, h, i, j and 1.

Effect of Fertilizers :

Individual phenotypic effects of N, P and K and of their different combinations on each character (calculated from environmental means) were estimated following the formulae as given below :

		N ₁	Nl	N ₁	Nl	NØ	NØ	NØ	NØ	
		P_1	P ₁	Pø	Pø	P ₁	P ₁	P ₀	P ₀	
		к ₁	к ₀	к1	K ₀	K ₁	к _Ø	K ₁	Кø	
Effect N		+	+	· +	+					
P	-	+	+	_	-	+	+	_	_	
к	=	+	-	+	_	+	-	+	-	
NP	=	+	+					 +	+	
NK	æ	+	-	+	-	-	+	-	+	
PK		+	-	-	+	+	-	-	+	
NPK	=	-								

This means that the effect of N on a genotype/population may be found out by adding the phenotypic means of those cases where N is present minus phenotypic means where N is absent. The effect of NP is devised by summing phenotypic values where both N and P are present or absent minus those values where only one of them is present.

The effects were tested by the variances of effects against the Error MS of the analysis of variance :

 $Effect^2/n = Variance of effect$

A. Means and Analysis of Variance

Population means over three replications, two years and eight nutritional treatments for different segregating and nonsegregating generations of all the nine characters were calculated and these are presented in Table-1. Table-2 represents the mean performances of different characters performed by the different populations under eight different environments.

Examination of Table-1 showed that the population means varied within characters and between characters. Different populations showed similar performance for the characters studied. It was found that high mean performances of different characters was resumed by the better parent (P_2). Means of all the characters of the segregating and non-segregating generations (F_1 , F_2 , F_3 , B_1 and B_2) were within the parental ranges as it was expected. These means did not exceeded the better parental means in any of the characters studied. The non-segregating generation F_1 performed better than the segregating generations F_2 and F_3 . The means of all the characters of the backcross generations (B_1 and B_2) were also within their respective parental means.

Examination of environmental means (Table-2) indicated that nitrogen treatment, either singly or in combination with others, increased the magnitude of phenotypic means in all characters of all the populations whereas potassium or phosphorus specially

potassium had no or very little effect on the expression of these characters.

Analysis of variance of nine characters viz., plant height (PH), effective tillers per plant (ET/P), panicle length (PL), flag leaf length (FLL), flag leaf breadth (FLB), flag leaf area (FLA), primary branches per plant (PB/P), grains per panicle (G/P) and grain yield per plant (Gy/P) for the seven populations were done separately to test the significant differences of different sources of variation. The results are summarized in Table-3. All the mean squares of main items, population (P) and environment (E), were highly significant against the experimental errors in all the nine cases in all the generations (Table-3). Significant items population (P) and environment (E) indicated that there was a real difference existed between the generations and between the effects of different environments, respectively, in all the cases. The main item year (Y) was also found highly significant in all cases indicating that there was a real difference between the effects of years on all the characters. Among the first order interactions, the mean square values of interaction between the populations and environments (P X E) were either highly significant or significant in all cases showing that high interactions existed between the populations with environments. It suggested that the populations responded differently under different environments for all the characters. In case of interaction of population with years (P X Y), the mean

square values of panicle length (PL), flag leaf length (FLL), flag leaf breadth (FLB), flag leaf area (FLA), grains per panicle (G/P) and grain yield per plant (Gy/P) were also found significant. It indicated that there was a real effect of years on the populations which was different in different populations in respect to these six cases. On the other hand, mean square values of plants height (PH), effective tillers per plant (ET/P) and primary branches per panicle (PB/P) for the interaction of population with year (P X Y) were found non-significant indicating the absence of real effect of years on the populations in these three characters. The non-significant mean square values in all cases for the interaction between environments and years (E X Y) suggested that there was also no interactions between environments and years in any of these cases. Mean square values of second order interaction, populations with environments and years (P X E X Y), were significant in most of the cases except effective tillers per plant (ET/P) and primary branches per panicle (PB/P) indicating that combination of different environments with years had real effects on the populations in these seven traits. While the non-significant mean square values of the other two characters for this interaction indicated that there was no effect of environment and years on the effective tillers per plant (ET/P) and primary branches per panicle (PB/P) of the populations.

B. Phenotypic Regression

i) Joint Regression Analysis :

Since the analysis of variance indicated the presence of significant population x environment interaction (P X E) in all the characters, the data were further analysed following Finlay and Wilkinson (1963).

The eight different combinations of N, P and K were treated as different environments. In order to account for the effects of regression, interaction component of analysis of variance was further partitioned.

During the joint regression analysis the population x environment interaction (P X E) sum of squares, calculated involving all the seven generations, was partitioned into two orthogonal items, one measuring that portion of genotypeenvironment interactions which was due to differences between the fitted regression lines and the other measuring the accumulated deviations of the observed values around these fitted lines. The deviations of the observed values were the residual item which measured the scattered points around the regression lines. The results of regression analysis are shown in Table-4. It is clear from the results that the major part of the genotypeenvironment interaction variance was due to difference between the slopes of the linear regressions, i.e., all the populations possessed greater linear relationship with the environments for all the characters and generations concerned. The mean square

items, except the case of primary branches per panicle when tested against their respective experimental errors were found highly significant. It suggested that for these characters the populations had significantly greater portion of linear relationships compared to the experimental errors. The item deviation mean squares of all the cases were very low and found non-significant when tested against their experimental errors suggesting that there were very lower magnitude of deviations from linearity. Variance due to the differences between the slopes of linear regressions were found significantly greater than the deviation mean squares in all the cases. This indicated that in all cases the populations had significantly greater proportion of linear relationships compared to the non-linear relationships with environments. The test of linear regression with the deviation mean square further indicated that the significant linear variations were independent of their respective non-linear variations of genotype - environment interaction. When the item linear regression or heterogeneity alone is significant, the rate of change in genotypic interactions with environments do not vary. Each genotype, therefore, has its own characteristics linear response to the environmental changes. If, on the other hand, the item deviation or residual alone is significant, no relationship exists between the genotypes and the environments. In the present investigation, the item linear regression alone was found to be highly

significant when tested against the experimental errors in all the characters, except primary branches per panicle (PB/P), indicating the presence of only linear type of relationship of all the populations with environments. Thus, the joint regression analysis has transformed a complex tangle of genotype environment interactions into an orderly series of linearity that can only predict the total genotypic response.

ii) Individual Regression Analysis :

The item P X E in the analysis of variance and the item linear regression in the joint regression analysis were highly significant showing the presence of genotype - environment interactions which were linear in nature. From these two analyses no immediate generalization can be made on the relative performance of each population under changed environments, valid comparison of linearity can only be made by individual regression analysis of each population.

Regression techniques for studying the G X E interactions are among the most widely used methods for investigating the response patterns of genotypes. The performance of each population for every character under different environments was regressed against the corresponding overall environmental means (Yates and Cochran, 1938; Finlay and Wilkinson, 1963; Eberhart and Russel, 1966; Perkins and Jinks, 1968a). Regression of individual values on the eight environmental means for each population were computed. The results of individual regression

analysis are presented in Table-5. The regression coefficients (b_1) of this table correspond to the b_1 value of Finlay and Wilkinson (1963) and to the 1+b₁ value of Eberhart and Russel (1966). After substracting 1 from the b_1 value, the B_1 value of Perkins and Jinks (1968a) were calculated. For convenience of comparison of regression values, the β_1 values are also included in the Table-5. The estimates of non-linearity or stability (\overline{s}_{A}^{2}) (calculated as Remainder MS - Error MS) and the standard errors $(\pm Sb_1)$ of regression coefficients were also included in Table-5. The standard errors of $b_1 (\pm Sb_1)$ proved to be heterogeneous as the Chi-square (χ^2) values (included in Table-5) indicated that the observed deviations from their expected values were significant in all the cases. Thus, it showed that there were distinct differences between the populations in the amount of deviation around the regression slopes and suggested that these attributes were under genetic control. The actual linear regressions of the seven populations for the nine characters have been graphically represented by the Figures 1 to 9. In order to avoid confusion, individual points were not plotted in the graphs. In fact, regression coefficients measure the response of different genotypes to changing environments. Since these changes are measured by the means of all genotypes, the average range of response for one set of genotype under consideration should have a mean regression coefficient of 1.0. Regression coefficient <1.0 and >1.0 indicated below and above

average response respectively of a genotype for changing environments. Response of different populations for different characters to the changed environments as measured by regression coefficients are discussed below. For plant height (PH), all the populations showed significant responses (Table-5). And these responses showed by all the populations, except P_1 and B_1 , were above average response. $t P_l$ and $extbf{B}_1$ responded below and near the average response respectively. Stability estimates (\overline{S}_{d}^{2}) of all the generations were noted to be low and negative in nature indicating that all the generations were stable to the change of environments for the character plant height. All the nonsegregating and segregating populations showed significant response for effective tillers per plant (ET/P). Three populations viz., P_2 , F_1 and B_2 responded above the average and the other four generations showed either below the average or near the average response (Table-5). However, all the generations showed similar performance for the stability parameter. Stability estimates of the seven generations were found very low (nearer to zero) and negative in nature suggesting all the generations were most stable with changing environments for the character effective tillers per plant. In case of panicle length (PL), all the populations, except P_2 and B_2 , exhibited either average responses or below the average response. P_2 and B_2 showed above average response for this character. However, all the b $_{
m i}$ values were found highly significant (Table-5). Similar nature of

stability estimates for this character were found. \overline{s}_d^2 values were negative low and nearer to zero indicating that all the nonsegregating and segregating generations were stable with the changing environments for panicle length.

With respect to flag leaf length (FLL), regression coefficients (b₁ values) of all the populations were found highly significant (Table-5). P₁ and B₁ showed below the average, F₁, F₂ and F₃ showed near the average and P₂ and B₂ showed the above average response for this trait. Stability values (\overline{S}_d^2) were found to be very low and negative in nature showing stable nature of all the generations for this character.

Regression coefficients of all the generations for flag leaf breadth (FLB) were found highly significant (Table-5). The generations P_2 , F_1 and B_2 had above average response and F_2 , F_3 and B_1 had the response nearer to average. On the other hand P_1 had the below average response. In all the generations stability values for this trait were also found very low and negative indicating stable nature of flag leaf breadth of all the generations. Regression coefficients (b_1 values) of all the generations, except P_1 , P_2 and B_2 , for the flag leaf area (FLA) were found either equal to or nearer to the unity. P_2 and B_2 exhibited response above the unity while P_1 exhibited response below the unity. All the regression coefficients (b_1) were found highly significant (Table-5). For this character, the estimated stability values of all the populations were low and negative

suggesting stable nature of this trait of all the generations in relation to the change of environments. For the number of primary branches per panicle (PB/P), all the generations responded significantly with the change of environments (Table-5). All the populations, except P_2 and B_2 , had average or below average regression coefficients. P_2 and B_2 had above average regression coefficients. Stable nature for this character of all the generations was observed by the low negative stability values.

In case of number of grains per panicle (G/P), regression coefficients of all the generations were highly significant (Table-5). Three generations viz., P_2 , F_1 and B_2 showed above average performance while the other four generations showed near average or below average performance. As all the b₁ values were significant, it suggested that number of grains per panicle of all the generations were affected by the change of environments. Estimates of stability (\overline{S}_{d}^{2}) values indicated that all the populations were stable for this character. For grain yield per plant regression coefficients of P_2 , F_1 and B_2 generations were above the average response. On the other hand the response of the other four generations were near the average or below the average response. However, all the regression coefficients were highly significant (Table-5) like the previous characters. This suggested that changed environments had affected grain yield per plant of all the generations. For grain yield per plant,

stability estimates were found very low and negative indicating its stable nature in all the generations.

From regression coefficient values (b_1) of Table-5, it can be summarized that all the b_1 values of different characters of different populations were highly significant which indicated that all the nine traits of the non-segregating and segregating generations of the cross were affected by environments. On the other hand, stability values (\overline{s}_d^2) of this table were low, negative and did not differed much in a character suggested that all the populations for the studied trials were most stable to different environments and these populations, non-segregating (P_1 , P_2 and F_1) and segregating (F_2 , F_3 , B_1 and B_2) generations showed similar performance in respect of stability parameter.

C. Correlation Studies

Correlation coefficient (r) was calculated by the usual product moment correlation method. Correlation coefficients 'within' as well as 'between' characters were measured and are presented in Table-6 and Table-7, respectively.

i) Correlation within character :

Within characters the correlation coefficients (a) between the population means (\overline{X}) and responses (b_1) of the populations, (b) between the population means (\overline{X}) and stabilities (\overline{S}_d^2) of the populations and (c) between responses (b_1) and stabilities (\overline{S}_d^2) of the populations were calculated separately and the results are

shown in Table-6.

a) Correlation between Means (\overline{X}) and Responses (b_i) :

All the correlations between the population means (\overline{X}) and responses (b_1) of the populations for all the characters studied were found positive and significant (Table-6). It suggested that these two aspects of phenotype were dependent of each other.

b) Correlation between Means (\overline{X}) and Stabilities (\overline{S}_d^2) :

Mean performances (\overline{X}) of the populations were positively associated with stabilities (\overline{S}_d^2) in all cases, except plant height and flag leaf breadth where the relationships were negative. In all cases the relationships were non-significant (Table-6). The non-significant association, either positive or negative, indicated that these two aspects of phenotype were independent of each other.

c) Correlation between Responses (b₁) and Stabilities (\overline{S}_d^2): The correlations between responses (b₁) and stabilities (\overline{S}_d^2) were non-significant in most of the cases, except panicle length where the relationship was positive (Table-6). The association between these two aspects were negative in three cases viz., plant height, flag leaf length and flag leaf breadth. Non-significant correlations between responses and stabilities in majority cases suggested that these two aspects were also independent of each other and these are controlled by different gene systems.

ii) Correlation between characters :

Correlation co-efficients between means (\overline{X}) , between responses (b_1) and between stabilities (\overline{S}_d^2) among the characters were estimated and are presented in Table-7.

a) Correlation between Means (\overline{X}) :

The correlation co-efficients (r) between the means of the population among the characters were positive and significant in all the cases (Table-7) indicating that the means of the studied characters of the populations were directly associated with that of other characters of the populations. In other words, the means of the populations of a character increase or decrease significantly with the increase or decrease of means of other characters of the populations.

b) Correlation between Responses (b₁) :

With respect to correlations between responses among the characters significant correlations were found in all the cases (Table-7) suggesting that the responses of different populations for different characters were directly correlated with that of other characters of the populations i.e., the response of the populations for a character was found to be directly proportional to the change of responses of the populations for other characters.

c) Correlation between Stabilities (\overline{s}_d^2) :

In case of stabilities, the correlations of a character with other characters were either positive or negative and most of the

relationships were non-significant. Significant positive association was found in the cases of effective tillers per plant with flag leaf area and panicle length with grain yield per plant and significant negative association was found in case of primary branches per panicle with grains per panicle (Table-7). The nonsignificant correlations of majority cases suggested that the stabilities of the populations for the characters studied were not in significant association with that of the populations for other characters. The stability of the population for a character may be increased with the increase or decrease of stabilities of other characters but the change was non-significant. D. Genetical Studies with Means (\vec{X}) [Epistatic Gene Effect]

1) 3-Parameter Model :

In absence of epistasis the data fits in 3-parameter model in which m measures the mean effect, d measures the additive effect and h measures the dominance effect. An unweighted least square techniques developed by Mather (1949) was followed to estimate the parameters. The values of m, d and h for different characters thus computed are summarized in Table-8. A χ^2 test was done to test the goodness of fit of the observed generation means with the expected means. The $\chi^2_{df=4}$ obtained for each character is also included in Table-8. The χ^2 values were found significant for plant height and grains per panicle. The χ^2 values of the other seven characters were non-significant. Significant χ^2 values indicated that epistasis was involved in

controlling the means of plant height and grains per panicle of different generations. Results of those traits that had non-significant χ^2 values would be valid under 3-parameter model.

The estimates of mean effect (m) were highly significant in all the characters and were much higher in magnitude than those of additive (d) and dominance (h) effects (Table-8). The additive gene effects (d) were also found significant in all characters studied. However, the additive effects (d) were negative in nature. The dominance effects (h) were found non-significant in all the traits.

The estimates of m, d and h from 3-parameter model will be biased to an unknown extent by effects not attributable to the additive and dominance action of the genes in those cases where χ^2 values were significant.

11) 6-Parameter Model :

Those two traits, that showed significant $\%^2$ in 3-parameter model, were then analysed in terms of 6-parameter model following unweighted least square techniques (Mather, 1949) to separate out the epistatic gene effects from m, d and h. The values of m, d, h, i, j, and l estimated in terms of 6-parameter model are presented in Table-9. Here, m measures a mean effect, d and h measure the additive and dominance effects respectively and i, j and l measure the epistatic effects, additive x additive (i), additive x dominance (j) and dominance x dominance (l) types of gene interaction.

The estimates of mean effects (m) and additive effects (d) were significant in both the characters viz., plant height and grains per panicle (Table-9). The magnitude of mean effect (m) was larger than those of additive effects (d) and dominance effects (h) in both the cases. However, the additive effects (d) of both the traits were found significant and negative in nature while on the other hand both the dominance effects (h) were nonsignificant and positive in nature. The estimates of epistatic effects (1, J and 1) showed that the magnitude of all the epistatic effects in both the traits were less than the mean effects (m). The additive x additive (i) epistasis in both the cases were non-significant but the epistasis i in plant height was found negative and in grains per panicle it was positive in nature. Additive x dominance (j) type of epistasis was found positive while dominance x dominance (1) type of epistasis was found negative in nature in both the characters studied. However, additive x dominance (j) type of epistasis in plant height was found significant and greater in magnitude than the other types of epistasis. Opposite signs of 'h' and 'l' were observed in both the traits indicating the presence of duplicate type of gene action in these cases.

E. Effects of Fertilizers

In the analysis of variance all the mean square values of the item environment (E) for all the characters were significant against the experimental errors (Table-3) indicating that the

used fertilizers had significant effects on different characters of the populations. However, on the relative effects of different fertilizers on different characters of the populations no comparison can be made unless the individual environmental effects on the characters are separated. The significant mean square values of the item environment (E) of analysis of variance was, therefore, partitioned corresponding to the different fertilizer combinations on the different characters of different populations.

Firstly, the effect of different fertilizers individually and in combination with others were calculated from the overall environmental means. All the fertilizers, (viz., N, P and K) singly showed positive effects on all the characters and these effects, except the case of potash (K) on flag leaf length (FLL), were found significant (Table-10). The effects of fertilizers when combined with others were either positive or negative as well as non-significant in nature except the case of urea in combination with phosphate (NP) on four characters of the populations. Urea with phosphate (NP) had significant positive effects on effective tillers per plant (ET/P), primary branches per panicle (PB/P), grains per panicle (G/P) and grain yield per plant (Gy/P).

Individual effects as well as the effects of different combinations of N, P and K on different characters of different populations were separately calculated from the means over

replications and years. The results are summarized in Table-11. Application N, P and K singly had highly significant positive effects on plant height of all the seven populations (Table-11). On the other hand, different combinations of N, P and K though had positive effects on plant height of all the populations, the effects were non-significant.

In case of effective tillers per plant, all the individual effects or the effects of different combinations of N, P and K on all the populations were positive in nature. However, N, P and K individually had highly significant effects on effective tillers per plant of all the populations (Table-11). Among the different combinations, NP in P_1 and PK and NPK in F_1 also had significant effects on this character.

Individual effects of N, P and K application on panicle length of different populations were found positive and highly significant. On the other hand, different combinations of N, P and K showed both positive and negative effects, which were nonsignificant, on panicle length of the seven populations.

Flag leaf length of all the populations were affected positively by N, P and K when applied singly or by the different combinations of these fertilizers. However, only N and P showed highly significant effects on flag leaf length of all the populations. Significant effects of K on this trait were also observed in P_1 , F_1 , and F_3 populations (Table-11).

Highly significant positive effects of N, P and K, when

applied singly, were observed in case of flag leaf breadth of all the populations (Table-11). Non-significant positive effects by PK and NPK were found while NP showed non-significant negative effects for flag leaf breadth in all the populations. NK showed both positive and negative non-significant effects for this character of all the seven populations.

In case of flag leaf area, all the individual effects of N, P and K were positive and highly significant in all the populations. The effects of different combinations of N, P and K on flag leaf area of all the populations were also positive but non-significant, except the effects of PK and NPK in F_1 which were significant.

All the individual effects or the effects of different combinations of N, P and K on primary branches per panicle were positive in all the populations. The individual effects of these fertilizers or the combinations NP and NK were significant, except the case of NK in P_2 (Table-11). Significant effects of PK in F_3 and B_2 and of NPK in F_1 were also observed.

In case of grains per panicle, all the individual effects and the effects of different combinations of N, P and K on all the populations were positive and significant, except some effects of NK, PK and NPK (Table-11). The effects of NK and PK application on grains per panicle of P_1 and backcross generations were found non-significant. Application of NPK also showed non-significant effects on this trait of P_1 , F_3 and backcross generations.

All the individual effects of N, P and K, except K in P_1 and the combination NP, except in P_1 , showed highly significant positive effects on grain yield per plant of all the populations (Table-11). NK showed non-significant positive effects while PK, except in P_2 , showed non-significant negative effects. The effect of PK in P_2 was found highly significant and positive. The only significant effect of NPK, which showed positive nature, was found in P_2 for this trait.

Table-1

Mean performances of different characters of different populations.

Populations	PH	ET/P	PL	FLL	FLB
\overline{P}_1	74.1	5.9	21.5	26.4	1.19
Ē ₂	113.8	7.7	23.9	32.8	1.41
F ₁	106.4	7.0	23.2	30.5	1.34
F ₂	104.1	6.6	22.5	30.2	1.31
F3	105.6	6.6	22.9	30.1	1.30
\overline{B}_1	99.8	6.6	22.5	30.4	1.30
Ē ₂	110.0	7.4	23.6	31.8	1.37
			Co	ntinued ov	verleaf

Table-1(Continued)

.

Mean performances of different characters of different populations.

Populations	FLA	PB/P	G/P	Gy/P
P 1	21.4	8.0	70.1	6.4
P ₂	31.9	10.2	186.0	20.0
F 1	28.0	9.5	144.7	15.7
F ₂	27.1	9.4	136.7	13.3
F ₃	26.8	9.4	137.9	13.8
Β ₁	26.6	8.8	137.7	11.9
₿ ₂	28.1	9.9	167.4	17.6
PH = Plant height ET/P = Effective til PL = Panicle lengt FLL = Flag leaf len FLB = Flag leaf bre	FLA = F $PB/P = Pr$ $G/P = Gr$ $Gy/P = Gr$	lag leaf an rimary bran rains/panic rain yield/	rea nches/panicle cle /plant	

Table-2

.

Environmental means of different characters performed by different populations under different environments.

Environment	s PH	ET/P	PL	FLL	FLB
Zero	81.3	4.9	18.3	24.2	1.09
N	111.3	7.9	25.0	32.8	1.42
P	87.6	5.2	19.6	26.2	1.19
К	85.2	5.2	19.0	25.4	1.16
NP	118.6	8.6	26.9	35.2	1.45
NK	115.1	8.0	25.9	34.2	1.44
PK	91.6	5.5	20.4	27.2	1.24
NPK	125.2	9.4	28.0	37.2	1.54
			 Co	ntinued ov	erleaf

.

Table-2 (Continued)

Environmental means of different characters performed by different populations under different environments.

Environ	ments FLA	PB/P	G/P	Gy/P	
7.050	17.6				
Zero	17.6	7.1	86.9	5.7	
N	31.0	10.1	171.8	19.6	
P	21.0	7.9	97.0	6.9	
K	19.6	7.3	93.0	6.4	
NP	34.0	11.2	188.7	22.5	
NK	32.8	10.4	177.9	20.6	
PK	22.8	8.2	103.1	7.3	
NPK	38.3	12.4	202.1	23.7	
PH = Pla ET/P = Eff PL = Pan FLL = Fla FLB = Fla	nt height ective tillers/p icle length g leaf length g leaf breadth	FLA lant PB/P G/P Gy/P	= Flag lea = Primary = Grains/g = Grain y:	af area branches/p panicle leld/plant	anicle

.

.

Results of analysis of variance with combined years (only mean square values of differnent characters are given).

Item	DF	PH	ET/P	PL
Total	335	421.30***	3.50***	16.29***
Population (P)	6	8150.68***	16.51***	29.22***
Environment (E)	7	12523.44***	136.81***	624.80***
Year (Y)	1	299.83***	39.36***	327.00***
РХЕ	42	31.05***	0.36*	2.95***
ΡΧΥ	6	18.35	0.29	4.89***
ЕХҮ	7	1.47	0.18	1.92
РХЕХҮ	42	14.28*	0.07	2.14*
Replication	2	28.92	0.70	2.30
Error	222	9.84	0.24	1.44
				overleaf

Continued overleaf
Results of analysis of variance with combined years (only mean square values of differnent characters are given).

Item	DF FLL		FLB	FLA
Total	335	31.19***	0.034***	71.94***
Population (P)	6	191.21***	0.234***	457.98***
Environment (E)	7	952.21***	1.138***	2438.47***
Year (Y)	. 1	230.01***	0.252***	576.51***
PXE	42	13.33***	0.009***	16.46**
РХҮ	6	14.11*	0.018***	21.85*
ЕХҮ	7	0.45	0.004	8.60
РХЕХҮ	42	8.89*	0.006*	14.93*
Replication	2	1.67	0.004	3.15
Error	222	6.21	0.004	9.87
			Continued ov	

Table-3 (continued)

Results of analysis of variance with combined years (only mean square values of differnent characters are given).

Item 	DF	PB/P	G/P	Gy/P
Total	335	4.04***	3429.31***	81.04***
Population (P)	6	24.39***	62388.11***	908.56***
Environment (E)	7	161.44***	101270.50***	2760.95***
Year (Y)	1	27.77***	11597.25***	131.25***
PXE	42	0.24*	950.92***	37.72***
РХҮ	6	0.15	164.35***	2.99
ЕХҮ	7	0.17	52.00	2.79
РХЕХҮ	42	0.03	63.01*	3.07*
Replication	2	0.22	130.81	4.63
Error	222	0.16	44.15	2.16
*, ** and ***	Ir. 1	dicate signi evel, respect	ficant at 5%, ively.	1% and 0.1%
PH = Plant heig ET/P = Effective PL = Panicle le FLL = Flag leaf FLB = Flag leaf	ht tiller ngth length breadt	FLA s/plant PB/P G/P Gy/P h	= Flag leaf ar = Primary bran = Grains/panic = Grain yield/	ea ches/panicle le plant

_____ VR₁ SS DF MS VR₂ Item plant height : 69299.74 167 414,97 74.10*** Total Population (P) 24253.92 6 4042.32 721.84*** Environment(E) 43780.00 7 6254.29 1116.84*** 15.20 2.71*** 638.60 42 РХЕ Heterogeneity of 400.17 6 66.70 11.91*** 3970.00*** Regression 0.003 0.04 36 0.69 Deviation 112 5.60 627.22 Error (with replicate) Effective tillers/plant : 108.00*** 3.24 540.78 167 Total 278.33*** 8.35 50.11 6 Population (P) 2283.00*** 68.49 7 479.40 Environment(E) 6.00*** 0.18 42 7.76 ΡΧΕ Heterogeneity of 7.67*** 109.57*** 0.23 6 1.38 Regression 0.07 0.002 0.06 36 Deviation 0.03 3.51 112 Error (with replicate)

Joint regression analysis for linearity and non-linearity.

Joint regressi	on anary	/515 I	or rineal	ity and no	Su-Imearic
Item	SS	DF	MS	VR ₁	VR ₂
Panicle length :					
Total	2401.03	167	14.38	29.96***	
Population (P)	87.35	6	14.56	30.33***	
Environment(E)	2197.80	7	313.97	654.10***	
РХЕ	62.07	42	1.48	3,08***	
Heterogeneity of			•		
Regression	38.09	6	6.35	13.23***	441.00***
Deviation	0.52	36	0.014	0.03	
Error (with replicate)	53.81	112	0.48		
Flag leaf length	:				
Total	4465.16	167	26.74	13.93***	
Population (P)	583.19	6	97.20	50.63***	
Environment(E)	3382.73	7	483.25	251.69***	
РХЕ	283.91	42	6.76	3.52***	
Heterogeneity of					
Regression	141.14	6	23.52	12.25***	3062.50***
Deviation	0.29	36	0.00	0.004	
Error (with replicate)	215.33	112	1.92		
					od overleaf

oint regression analysis for linearity and non-linearity.

Item	SS	DF	MS	VR ₁	VR ₂
Flag leaf breadth	:				
Total	4.953	167	0.0299	33.00***	
Population (P)	0.680	6	0.1133	125.89***	
Environment(E)	3.984	7	0.5691	632.33***	
РХЕ	0.184	42	0.0044	4.89***	
Heterogeneity of					
Regression	0.012	6	0.0020	2.22*	20.18***
Deviation	0.003	36	0.0001	0.11	
Error (with replicate)	0.105	112	0.0009		
Flag leaf area :					
Total	9811.85	167	58.75	32.46***	
Population (P)	1315.49	6	219.25	121.13***	
Environment(E)	8171.70	7	1167.39	644.97***	
PXE	121.83	42	2.90	1.60*	
Heterogeneity of					
Regression	35.09	6	5.85	3.23***	40.37***
Deviation	5.21	36	0.14	0.08	
Error (with replicate)	202.83	112	1.81		

Joint regression analysis for linearity and non-linearity.

Joint regression analysis for linearity and non-linearity.

Item	SS	DF	MS	VR ₁	VR ₂
Primary branches	/panicle :				
Total	644.02	167	3.86	55.14***	
Population (P)	69.85	6	11.64	166.29***	
Environment(E)	560.87	7	80.12	1144.57***	
РХЕ	4.96	42	0.12	1.71*	
Heterogeneity of					
Regression	0.84	6	0.14	2.00	33.33***
Deviation	0.14	36	0.004	0.06	
Error (with _ replicate)	8.34	112	0.07		
Grains/panicles	:				
Total	562607.81	167	3368.91	1011.68***	
Population (P)	187170.55	6	31195.09	9367.89***	
Environment(E)	355094.12	7	50727.73	15233.55***	
РХЕ	19970.73	42	475.49	142.79***	
Heterogeneity of					
Regression	6603.60	6	1100.61	330.51***	786.93***
Deviation	50.09	36	1.39	0.42	
Error (with replicate)	372.41	112	3.33		

.

Joint regression analysis for linearity and non-linearity.

Item	SS	DF	MS	VR ₁	VR ₂
Grain yield/plan	t:				
Total	13249.96	167	79.34	330.58***	
Population (P)	2715.92	6	452.65	1886.04***	
Environment(E)	9710.87	7	1387.27	5780.29***	
РХЕ	795.65	· 42	18.94	78.92***	
Heterogeneity of					
Regression	253.54	6	42.26	176.08***	2201.00***
Deviation	0.74	36	0.02	0.08	
Error (with replicate)	27.32	112	0.24		

* and *** Indicate significant at 5% and 0.1% level,

respectively.

Pop	pulation	b ₁	^B 1=b ₁ -1	<u>+</u> Sb ₁	2 d
Plant height:	P ₁	0.72***	-0.28	0.0045	-4.95
	P ₂	1.11***	0.11	0.0025	-4.96
	Fl	1.04***	0.04	0.0023	-4.97
	F2	1.03***	0.03	0.0030	-4.97
	Fз	1.04***	0.04	0.0012	-4.98
	B ₁	0.98***	-0.02	0.0018	-4.98
	B ₂	1.09***	0.09	0.0018	-4.98
Bartlett's Homog	eneity Te	st : χ^2 (df	=6) = 15.1	2*	
Effective	P ₁	0.89***	-0.11	0.0041	-0.0554
tillers/plant:	P ₂	1.13***	0.13	0.0028	-0.0552
	Fl	1.05***	0.05	0.0128	-0.0521
	F2	0.96***	-0.04	0.0092	-0.0540
	Fз	0.95***	-0.05	0.0100	-0.0548
	B ₁	0.96***	-0.04	0.0048	-0.0555
	B ₂	1.08***	0.08	0.0076	-0.0547
Bartlett's Homog	geneity Te	st : X ² (df	=6) = 13.4	42* 	
					-1

Regression coefficient (b_{1-2} and β_1), standard error of b_1 (±Sb₁) and stability (S_d) of different characters of different populations.

	Population	b ₁	β ₁ =b ₁ -1	<u>+</u> Sb ₁	<u>-</u> 2 Sd
Panicle lengt	h: P ₁	0.92***	-0.08	0.0092	-0.4084
	P ₂	1.09***	0.09	0.0190	-0.3776
	Fı	1.00***	0	0.0101	-0.4063
	F ₂	0.98***	-0.02	0.0023	-0.4164
	Fз	1.00***	0	0.0062	-0.4128
	B ₁	0.97***	-0.03	0.0069	-0.4118
	B ₂	1.03***	0.03	0.0125	-0.3998
Bartlett's Ho	mogeneity Tes	t: ^{大2} (df	=6) = 27.6	53***	
Flag leaf	P ₁	0.88***	-0.12	0.0070	-0.7292
length:	P ₂	1.10***	0.10	0.0061	-0.7313
	Fl	1.02***	0.02	0.0024	-0.7369
	F ₂	1.01***	0.01	0.0026	-0.7367
	F ₃	0.99***	-0.01	0.0051	-0.7332
	B ₁	0.95***	-0.05	0.0079	-0.7269
	B ₂	1.06***	0.06	0.0085	-0.7250
Bartlett's Ho	omogeneity Tes	t : $x^2_{(df)}$	=6) = 17.	11**	

_____ Continued overleaf

_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _

Regression coefficient (b_{1-2} and β_1), standard error of $b_1 (\pm Sb_1)$ and stability (S^2) of different characters of different populations.

	Population	b ₁	β ₁ =b ₁ -1	<u>+</u> Sb ₁	s ² d
Flag leaf	P ₁	0.87***	-0.13	0.0252	-0.0009
breadth:	P ₂	1.12***	0.12	0.0114	-0.0010
	F1	1.05***	0.05	0.0260	-0.0009
	F ₂	0.99***	-0.01	0.0084	-0.0010
	- F3	0.97***	-0,03	0.0144	-0.0010
	B ₁	0.98***	-0.02	0.0120	-0.0010
	B ₂	1.06***	0.06	0.0135	-0.0010
Bartlett's Ho	omogeneity Tes	st : x^2 df	=6) = 14.9	97*	
Flag leaf	P ₁	0.79***	-0.21	0.0089	-1.81
area:	Р ₂	1.19***	0.19	0.0163	-1.73
	- F ₁	1.00***	0	0.0347	-1.33
	F ₂	0.99***	-0.01	0.0177	-1.71
	ے F ₃	1.00***	0	0.0035	-1.84
	B ₁	0.99***	-0.01	0.0099	-1.80
	в ₂	1.03***	0.03	0.0095	-1.80
Bartlett's H	omogeneity Te	st : % ² (df	=6) = 37.3	89*** 	

Continued overleaf

Regression co (<u>+</u> Sb _i) and st different pop	efficien tability pulations	t $(b_{1-2}and)$ (S_2) s. d	d B ₁), s of diffe	tandard ern rent chara	or of b ₁ cters of
Popu	lation	b ₁	β ₁ =b ₁ -1	<u>+</u> Sb ₁	s ²
Primary	P ₁	0.87***	-0.13	0.0180	-0.0701
branches/panicle:	P ₂	1.08***	0.08	0.0104	-0.0710
	F ₁	1.02***	0.02	0.0128	-0.0696
	F ₂	0.99***	-0.01	0.0086	-0.0720
	F3	1.00***	0	0.0156	-0.0674
	B ₁	0.95***	-0.05	0.0055	-0.0732
	B ₂	1.07***	0.07	0.0196	-0.0715
Bartlett's Homogen	eity Tes	t : X ² (df	=6) = 13.9	97*	
Grains/panicle:	P ₁	0.51***	-0.49	0.0063	-2.45
	P ₂	1.32***	0.32	0.0096	-1.57
	F ₁	0.97***	0.03	0.0072	-2.23
	F ₂	0.97***	-0.03	0.0093	-1.64
	- F3	0.99***	-0.01	0.0015	-3.08
	- В ₁	0.99***	-0.01	0.0100	-1.43
	B ₂	1.20***	0.20	0.0110	-1.08
Bartlett's Homoger	neity Tee	st : $\chi^2_{(df)}$	=6) = 20.	75**	

(Continued overleaf)

.

Regression coefficient $(b_{1-2} \text{ and } B_1)$, standard error of $b_1 (\pm Sb_1)$ and stability (S_d) of different characters of different populations.

	Population	b ₁	β ₁ =b ₁ -1	<u>+</u> Sb ₁	s ² d
Grain yield/	P ₁	0.46***	-0.54	0.0074	-0.1867
plant:	P ₂	1.40***	0.40	0.0106	-0.1601
	Fl	1.11***	0.11	0.0060	-0.1955
	F ₂	0.94***	-0.06	0.0028	-0.2085
	F ₃	0.98***	-0.02	0.0030	-0.2079
	B ₁	0.84***	-0.16	0.0036	-0.2060
	B ₂	1.26***	0.26	0.0057	-0.1972
Bartlett'	s Homogeneity	Test : X	2 (df=6) =	19.88**	
*, ** and *	** Indicate s respective	significa ely.	nt at 5%,	1% and	0.1% level,



Fig. 1. Regression of different populations on means of plant height under eight different environments.



Fig. 2. Regression of different populations on means of effective tillers per plant under eight different environments.



Fig. 3. Regression of different populations on means of panicle length under eight different environments.



Fig. 4. Regression of different populations on means of flag leaf lenght under eight different environments.



Fig. 5. Regression of different populations on means of flag leaf breadth under eight different environments.



Fig. 6. Regression of different populations on means of flag leaf area under eight different environments.



Fig. 7. Regression of different populations on means of primary branches per panicle under eight different environments.



Fig. 8. Regression of different populations on means of grains per panicle under eight different environments.



Fig. 9. Regression of different populations on means of grain yield per plant under eight different environments.

Correlation co-efficient (r) between means (\overline{X}) and responses (b_1) ; between means (\overline{X}) and stabilities (\overline{S}^2) and between responses (b_1) and stabilities (\overline{S}^2) within characters.

	Eetween	Between	Between
	\overline{X} and b_1	\overline{X} and (\overline{S}_d^2)	$b_1 \text{ and } (\overline{s}^2_d)$
			0.61
Plant height	0.99**	-0.58	-0.61
Effective tillers/ plant	0.98**	0.17	0.24
Panicle length	0.94**	0.68	0.84*
Flag leaf length	0.94**	0.03	-0.12
Flag leaf breadth	0.99**	-0.52	-0.39
Flag leaf area	0.99**	0.25	0.12
Primary branches/ panicle	0.99**	0.02	0.01
Grains/panicle	1.00**	0.52	0.52
Grain yield/plant	1.00**	0.38	0.37
	\ 		

* and ** Indicate Significant at 5% and 1% level, respectively.

.

,

Correlation co-efficients (r) between means (\overline{X}) , between responses (b₁) and between stabilities (\overline{s}_d^2) of different characters.

	PH	ET/P	PL	FLL	FLB	FLA	PB/P	G/P	Gy/P
 Betwe	en	means (X)	:						
PH	-	0.87*	0.92**	0.96**	0.95**	0.94**	0.95**	0.96**	0.94**
ET/P		-	0.98**	0.95**	0.98**	0.94**	0.94**	0.96**	0.98**
PL			-	0.95**	0.98**	0.94**	0.96**	0.96**	0.99**
FLL				-	0.98**	0.97**	0.94**	0.99**	0.96**
FLB					-	0.98**	0.97**	0.99**	0.99**
FLA						-	0.94**	0.97**	0.96**
PB/P							-	0.96**	0.98**
G/P								-	0.96**
Gy/P									-
Betwe	een	responses	s (b _i) :						
РH	-	0.77	* 0.84*	0.75	0.86*	0.90**	0.94**	0.96**	0.93**
ET/P		-	0.93**	0.93**	0.98**	0.86*	0.92**	0.89**	0.94**
PL			-	0.84*	0.94**	0.96**	0.94**	0.94**	0.96**
FLL				-	0.94**	0.81*	0.86*	0.84*	0.88**
FLB					-	0.92**	0.94**	0.94**	0.97**
FLA						-	0.90**	0.96**	0.93**
PB/P							-	0.96**	0.99**
G/P								-	0.97**
Gy/P									

,

	Corre betwe diffe	elati een re erent	on co- esponse charac	efficie s (b _i) ters.	and be) betwe tween st	en m tabili	ties (S	(),) of
	 РН	ET/P	PL	FLL	FLB	FLA	PB/P	G/P	Gy/P
Betwe	en stal	biliti	es (\overline{s}_d^2) :					
рн	- ·	-0.12	0.33	-0.14	0.58	0.07	0.07	-0.18	0.64
ET/P		-	-0.18	-0.71	0.45	0.92**	0.25	-0.14	-0.20
PL			-	0.21	-0.14	0.03	0.07	0.34	0.93**
FLL				-	-0.26	-0.63	-0.39	0.46	0.12
FLB					-	0.57	0.30	-0.41	0.14
FLA						-	0.12	-0.06	0.06
PB/P							-	-0.88**	-0.01
G/P								-	0.17
Gy/P									-
	* and *	* Indi	.cate Si	gnificant	at 5% an	d 1% lev	els, re	spectivel	у.
PH ET/P PL FLL FLB	= Plar = Effe = Pani = Flag = Flag	nt heig ective icle Le g leaf g leaf	ght tillers ength length breadth	/plant	FLA PB/P G/P Gy/P	= Flag l = Primar = Grains = Grain	eaf are y branc /panicl yield/p	a hes/panic e lant	le

•

Estimates of m, d and h based on 3-parameter model (unweighted analysis) for different characters.

	m 	d	h	$\chi^2_{(df=4)}$
PH	96.97 <u>+</u> 4.45,	-19.96 <u>+</u> 4.73	12.74 <u>+</u> 8.74	111.95***
ET/P	6.74 <u>+</u> 0.17	-0.88 <u>+</u> 0.18	0.23 <u>+</u> 0.33	0.16
PL	22.70 <u>+</u> 0.20	-1.18 <u>+</u> 0.21	0.45 <u>+</u> 0.39	0.23
FLL .	29.85 <u>+</u> 0.68	-2.84 <u>+</u> 0.73	1.18 <u>+</u> 1.34	2.63
FLB	1.30 <u>+</u> 0.02	-0.09 <u>+</u> 0.02	0.04 <u>+</u> 0.03	0.002
FLA	26.59 <u>+</u> 1.00	-4.50 <u>+</u> 1.07	1.36 <u>+</u> 1.97	5.69
PB/P	9.16 <u>+</u> 0.08	-1.10 <u>+</u> 0.08	0.29 <u>+</u> 0.15	0.03
G/P	132.09 <u>+</u> 10.76	-52.30 <u>+</u> 11.44	20.33 <u>+</u> 21.15	654.83***
Gy/P	13.15 <u>+</u> 0.59	-6.58 <u>+</u> 0.62	2.23 <u>+</u> 1.15	1.94
	*** Indicate sig	nificant at 0.1%	level	
PH ET/P PL	<pre>= Plant height = Effective tille = Panicle Length</pre>	FLA rs/plant PB/P G/P	= Flag leaf are = Primary branc = Grains/panicl	a hes/panicle e

- FLL = Flag leaf length
- FLB = Flag leaf breadth
- Gy/P = Grain yield/plant

152

.

Estimates of m, d and h and their three types of gene interaction (i, j and l) based on 6-parameter model (unweighted analysis) for plant height and grains per panicle.

	Plant height	Grains per panicle
m	102.20 <u>+</u> 6.32	113.70 <u>+</u> 19.04
d	-22.40 <u>+</u> 2.21	-57.95 <u>+</u> 6.67
h	12.33 <u>+</u> 19.27	98.21 <u>+</u> 58.11
i	-8.03 <u>+</u> 6.41	15.16 <u>+</u> 19.33
t	24.40 <u>+</u> 9.89	56.50 <u>+</u> 29.81
1	-7.94 <u>+</u> 14.85	-67.29 <u>+</u> 44.77

Effect of N, P, K and their different combinations on different characters performed by the populations.

.

	N N	₽	K	NP	NK	PK	NPK
PH	123.43***	29.65***	16.85***	4.71	1.79	2.01	2.07
ET/P	13.04***	2.82***	1.50***	1.48***	0.24	0.62	0.60
PL	28.48***	6.66***	3.50**	1.32	0.48	0.10	0.04
FLL	36.35***	9.19***	5.49	1.67	1.21	0.41	0.57
FLB	1.18***	0.32***	0.22***	-0.04	-0.02	0.04	0.08
FLA	55.08***	14.72***	9.84***	2.44	2.28	2.72	3.16
PB/P	13.68***	4.74***	2.14***	1.44**	1.08	1.02	0.80
G/P	360.45***	61.33***	31.65***	20.91***	7.43	7.35	7.17
Gy/P	60.06***	7.99***	3.34***	3.94***	0.94	-0.14	0.46
**	and ***	Indicate si respectively	gnificant	at 1% a	nd 0.	1% level	.s,
PH = ET/P = PL = FLL = FLB =	Plant hei Effective Panicle L Flag leaf Flag leaf	ght tillers/pla ength length breadth	FLA PB/F G/F Gy/F	= Flag P = Prima P = Grain P = Grain	leaf a ry bra s/pani yield	rea nches/pa cle /plant	nicle

Effect of N, P, K and their different combinations on different characters of different populations.

	N	P	к	NP	NK	PK	NPK
	·						
P1ar	nt height :		•				
P ₁	90.49***	20.83***	13.17***	4.17	1.83	1.49	1.51
P ₂	139.16***	33.50***	19.50***	4.84	2.86	3.18	3.16
F ₁	130.16***	31.50***	17.84***	5.18	2.84	2.38	2.50
Fo	128.00***	31.20***	17.80***	5.40	2.40	2.40	2.20
Fa	129.36***	31.04***	18.02***	5.22	2.64	1.56	2.38
B1	122.84***	29.18***	16.84***	5.18	2.16	2.50	2.50
-1 В ₂	135.82***	32.50***	18.84***	4.84	2.50	2.50	2.84
Eff	ective tille	ers/plant :					
₽ı	11.50***	2.50***	1.50***	1.18***	0.18	0.50	0.50
Po	14.67***	3.01***	1.67***	1.67	0.33	0.67	0.65
2 F 1	13.54***	2.80***	1.54***	1.52	0.14	0.88**	0.80*
۲ Fa	12.50***	2.90***	1.30***	1.50	0.30	0.70	0.50
-∠ ਸ	12 30***	2.70***	1.30***	1.30	0.30	0.70	0.50
* 3 ¤	10 50***	2.82***	1.50***	1.50	0.18	0.50	0.50
^D 1	12.JV	2.22	1.67***	1.65	0.33	0.65	0.67
^в 2	T3'22	2.55					
				Ċc	ntinued	overie	aī

Effect of N, P, K and their different combinations on different characters of different populations.

	N	P	К	NP	NK	PK	NPK
Pani	cle length	:					
P ₁	26.33***	6.67***	3.33**	1.33	0.67	0.33	-0.33
P ₂	30.18***	6.50***	3.84***	1.50	0.16	-0.16	0.16
F ₁	28.98***	6.34***	3.66***	1.66	0.34	0.34	-0.34
F2	28.10***	6.70***	3.30**	1.56	0.70	0.10	0.10
۶FЗ	28.50***	6.70***	3.30**	1.30	0.70	0.10	-0.10
B ₁	27.83***	6.83***	3.51***	1.17	0.49	0.17	-0.17
в ₂	29.50***	6.82***	3.50***	1.18	0.50	-0.18	0.82
Flag	leaf lengt	h:					
P ₁	31.83***	8.17***	4.83	1.83	1.17	0.83	0.49
P ₂	39.84***	10.16***	5.84*	1.82	1.50	0.50	0.16
F1	37.01***	9.33***	5.67	1.67	1.33	0.33	0.67
F ₂	36.70***	9.30***	5.70*	1.70	1.30	0.30	0.70
Fз	36.20***	9.00***	5.60	1.40	1.20	0	0.40
B ₁	34.48***	8.49***	5.83*	1.49	0.83	0.17	0.49
^B 2	38.24***	10.00***	5.34	1.66	1.00	0.66	1.00

Effect of N, P, K and their different combinations on different characters of different populations.

		 Р	K	 NP	NK	 РК	NPK
Flag	leaf bread	dth :					
P ₁	1.01***	0.29***	0.21***	-0.01	-0.07	0.01	0.11
P ₂	1.31***	0.37***	0.25***	-0.07	-0.03	0.03	0.07
F1	1.16***	0.34***	0.26***	-0.04	0.04	0.06	0.08
F2	1.15***	0.33***	0.21***	-0.03	-0.03	0.03	0.07
F3	1.15***	0.31***	0.21***	-0.05	-0.03	0.05	0.09
B ₁	1.14***	0.30***	0.22***	-0.04	0	0.04	0.10
^B 2	1.23***	0.35***	0.25***	-0.05	-0.03	0.05	0.05
Flag	leaf area	:					
P ₁	43.52***	11.73***	7.14***	2.51	1.12	1.73	2.54
P ₂	65.81***	17.64***	12.03***	2.02	2.23	2.22	1.82
F1	54.13***	15.52***	10.92***	2.73	3.34	5.91*	6.33*
F ₂	54.64***	15.81***	10.21***	3.44	3.21	1.04	1.61
Fз	55.21***	15.03***	9.84***	2.41	2.02	2.62	2.84
B ₁	54.63***	14.22***	16.43***	2.02	2.23	2.23	2.02
^B 2	57.04***	15.24***	9.42***	2.83	2.24	2.81	4.03

Effect of N, P, K and their different combinations on different characters of different populations.

	N	P	к	NP	 NK	 РК	NPK
Pr	imary bra	nches :					
		•••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••					
P ₁	11.84***	4.16***	1.50***	1.18*	1.16*	0.67	0.50
^P 2	14.66***	5.34***	2.32***	1.34**	1.00	1.00	1.00
F ₁	13.83***	5.03***	2.17***	1.17*	1.19*	0.83	1.17*
F ₂	13.40***	4.80***	2.00***	1.40***	1.40***	0.80	1.00
F3	13.70***	4.90***	2.10***	1.50***	1.10*	1.10*	0.90
^B 1	12.83***	4.51***	1.83***	1.17*	1.17*	0.85	0.83
^B 2	14.50***	5.16***	2.18***	1.50***	1.16*	1.18*	0.84
Gra	ains/panio	cle :					
P ₁	182.01***	32.80***	13.62***	12.83***	1.64	1.20	1.21
^P 2	475.70***	78.11***	45.53***	24.14***	13.50***	13.71***	13.32***
F ₁	370.72***	60.92***	35.74***	18.70***	9.91***	10.92***	9.93***
F ₂	349.03***	56.43***	,34.80***	16.81***	10.82***	10.23***	10.64***
F3	355.24***	59.24***	31.81***	19.82***	8.63*	8.04*	7.20
^B 1	356.50***	63.30***	27.52***	24.53***	3.50	3.50	3.51
^B 2	433.41***	77.22***	33.43***	28.84***	4.81	4.81	5.22

Effect of N, P, K and their different combinations on different characters of different populations.

	N	P	К	NP	NK	PK	NPK
Grain	yield/pla	ant :					
P ₁	27.66***	3.0***	2.00	2.00	1.00	-0.34	-0.02
P ₂	82.15***	12.17***	2.83***	7.51***	0.17	2.83***	2.17*
F ₁	66.98***	9.34***	3.34***	4.66***	0.66	-0.34	0.34
F ₂	56.70***	7.50***	2.90***	3.50***	0.90	-0.30	0.50
Fз	58.90***	1.90***	3.10***	3.90***	0.70	-0.30	0.50
B ₁	50.37***	7.03***	3.03***	3.31***	0.63	-0.03	0.37
^B 2	75.67***	10.67***	3.67***	4.99***	1.35	-0.33	0.67
*, **	and ***	Indicate s	significan ly.	it at 5%	, 1%	and 0.1%	levels

DISCUSSION

The occurrence of genotype-environment interaction has long been provided a major challenge to obtain a fuller understanding of genetic control of variability. The study of genotypeenvironment interaction in its biometrical aspect is important, not only from genetical and evolutionary points of view, but also very relevant to the production problem of agriculture in general and to plant breeding in particular (Breese, 1969). A knowledge of the nature and relative magnitude of the various types of genotype-environment interaction is thus important in making decisions concerning breeding methods, selection programmes and testing procedures in crops. Plant breeders are well aware of the problems regarding genotype-environment interaction in breeding better varieties but until recently there was no agreement about its analytical approaches. Recently two approaches have been made to study the genotype-environment interaction. The first approach is purely statistical (Yates and Cochran, 1938; Finlay and Wilkinson, 1963; Eberhart and Russell, 1966) and the second approach is based on the biometrical genetics (Jinks, 1954; Jinks and Mather, 1955; Mather and Jones, 1958; Bucio Alanis, 1966; Bucio Alanis and Hill, 1966; Perkins and Jinks, 1968a). Both the similar results which show that genotypeanalyses gave environment component is often a linear function of the environmental means. In the present study, a major part of the

genotype-environment interaction both in segregating (F_2 , F_3 , B_1 and B_2) and non-segregating (F_1 and parents) generations was accounted for by the linear function of the environmental means, although very smaller and non-significant part was non-linear and independent of this linear component in all the characters.

A plant breeder pins his hope for crop improvement upon evidence of genetic variation for the character being selected. Accurate estimates of the genetic variance will be obtained only if such estimates are unbiased by variation owing to G X E interactions. Unbiased estimates of genetic and G X E components of variance can be readily obtained by equating the expected mean squares with those calculated from the experiment. Significant G X E interactions suggested that significant differences existed between the different generations interacted with the environments. This also indicated that G X E interactions were operative in the characters under study.

Population means of different segregating (F_2 , F_3 , B_1 and B_2) and non-segregating (F_1 and parents) generations varied within and between environments. The means of cross populations were within the parental ranges. The variation of mean performance between the generations was an indication of genetic diversity of the different generations. Estimates of environmental means indicated that different environments had different effects on the different characters of the populations considered. All the segregating and non-segregating populations

for all the characters were greatly affected by the different nutritional treatments. It was, however, observed that nitrogen treatment either singly or in combination with others, always increased the phenotypic means of all the characters of all the generations. On the other hand, the treatment zero $(N^-P^-K^-)$ or the treatment phosphate and potash, either singly or in combination with others, decreased the magnitude of the phenotypic means in majority of the cases. Pearman *et al.* (1978), Islam (1978), Whingwiri and Kemp (1980) and many other investigators reported the higher effects of nitrogen (N) on yield and other characters of wheat. Effect of N on different characters of rice was also reported by Uddin *et al.* in 1979. It was evident from the nutritional effects that a wide range of environments gave ample opportunity for the manifestation of genotype-environment interaction.

Analysis of variance showed that the items population (P), environment (E) and year (Y) were highly significant in all the traits indicating that real differences existed between the populations, between the effects of different environments and between year effects. Among the interactions real differences were found in case of P X E in all the characters, in case of P X Y in five characters and in case of P X E X Y in seven characters. The varied mean squares of P X E revealed that different characters of the populations interacted differently with the environments.

During the joint regression analysis linear relationships of the populations with the environments were found to be present in all the characters. It was also observed that the linear relationships of all the populations in all the characters were significant when tested with error or deviation mean squares and non-linear relationships were non-significant when tested with error mean squares. This indicated that in all cases the populations had significantly greater proportion of linear relationships compared to the non-linear relationships with environments i.e. greater influence of environments were present on the characters of the populations. The linear and non-linear relationships of different crops with environments have been shown by many investigators such as Yates and Cochran (1938), Finlay and Wilkinson (1963), Eberhart and Russel (1966), Bucio Alanis (1966), Perkins and Jinks (1968a and 1968b), Freeman and Perkins (1971) and Frip and Caten (1973). In recent years, Widner and Lebsock (1973), Bains (1976), Islam (1978), Jatasra and Paroda (1979) Singh and Singh (1980), Islam et al. (1981) and Parh and Khan (1986 and 1987) have also detected linear and nonlinear relationships with environments of different wheat genotypes. In rice also Khaleque (1975), Khaleque and Eunus (1977), Uddin et al. (1979), Azam (1981), Amirthadevarathinam (1987), Alfonso (1988), Ganesh and Soundrapandian (1988) and Narendra et al. (1988) have found linear and non-linear relationships were operative in different quantitative characters
of different genotypes with environments. The test of linear regression with deviation mean square further indicated that significant linear variations were independent of their respective non-linear variations of genotype-environment interaction. It also suggested that both linear function or response and non-linear function or stability of environment are under the control of different gene systems (Perkins and Jinks, 1968b).

Different measures of stability have been used by various workers. Earlier, Finlay and Wilkinson (1963) considered linear regression slopes as a measure of stability. Eberhart and Russel (1966) defined the linear and non-linear function of genotypeenvironment interactions as "Stability parameters", β_1 (Linear regression, b_i) and \overline{S}_d^2 (deviation from regression) respectively. They also emphasized that the phenotypic expression of a particular genotype under a specific environment depend on the mean expression (μ_1), the linear response of the genotype to change of the environment (β_1) and the extent of residual deviation from regression (δ_{11}). Later, Breese (1969), Samuel et al. (1970), Paroda and Hayes (1971) and Jatasra and Paroda (1978) emphasized that the linear regression could simply be regarded as a measure of response of a particular genotype, whereas, the deviation around the regression line (\overline{s}_d^2) is the most suitable measure of stability and genotypes with the lowest standard error (Sb_1) or deviation around the regression line being the most

stable and vice versa. Accordingly, it was possible to judge the stability of genotypes and due consideration was also given to their mean performances and linear responses. They proposed that the criteria for stability should be regression coefficient (b_1) of unity and a minimum \overline{S}_{d}^{2} . A cultivar with high mean yield and fulfilling the above two criteria would perform well in all environments. In the light of these statements it may be concluded that first a genotype for a particular character having high mean performance (\overline{X}) , average regression coefficient (b₁) and low \overline{S}_{d}^{2} value will be suitable under favourable environments. Secondly, the genotype having comparatively low b_1 and \overline{s}_d^2 value with moderately high mean performance will be specially adopted to low yielding environments. These genotypes are so insensitive that they are unable to exploit high yielding environments. Lastly, the genotype that have low mean performance, b_1 and \overline{s}_{d}^{2} will be consistently low yielders under all environments. However, the genotypes which have high \overline{s}_d^2 yet they deserve inclusion to suitable environments because of the presence of high b_1 and high mean performances and these genotypes are very sensitive to environmental changes.

In the present experiment, most of the genotypes of segregating and non-segregating generations had significant response (b_1) for all the characters which indicated that the linear component contributed to most of the total genotype-environment interaction. This information is in confirmity with

the one obtained from joint regression analysis. The range of ${ t b_1}$ values of the segregating and non-segregating generations (F $_1$, F_2 , F_3 , B_1 and B_2) did not exceeded the parental range in any of the cases which indicated that this aspect of phenotype was simply inherited. All the b_1 values of P_1 and B_1 generations were below the average response while those values of P_2 and B_2 generations were above the average response and the b₁ values of F_1 , F_2 and F_3 generations were near the average response in all the cases. The results suggested that the b $_{
m 1}$ values were heterogeneous in all the cases. Wide range and great diversity were met with these b₁ values as revealed by Bartlett's Homogeneity Test indicating the presence of great genetic diversity among the populations in the amount of linear relationship with the environment. It also suggested that the genotypes had their own intrinsic variation and this attribute is under gene control. On the other hand, all the populations showed more or less similar performance for non-linearity or stability. The stability estimates (\overline{s}_d^2) did not vary much in a particular character. Linear function of different genotypes have been reported earlier by many investigators such as Finlay and Wilkinson (1963) in Barley, Eberhart and Russel (1966) in Maize, Perkins and Jinks (1968a) in Nicotiana. In wheat also many workers such as Widner and Lebsock (1973), Bains (1976), Islam (1978), Chaudhary and Paroda (1979), Jatasra and Paroda (1979), Singh and Singh (1980), Islam et al. (1981) and Parh and Khan

(1987 and 1988) have reported linear functions of different genotypes for grain yield and different agronomic characters. Linear function of different genotypes for different characters in rice have also been reported in recent years by many scientists such as Khaleque and Eunus (1977), Uddin *et al.* (1979), Azam (1981), Amirthadevarathinam (1987), Ganesh and Soundrapandian (1988) and Narendra et al. (1988). In the present study non-linear functions or stability estimates were found to be very low and non-significant compared to the linear functions or responses of different characters of different genotypes. The relative proportions of stability estimates for parents and cross populations suggested that non-linear component contributed to some extent in the genotype-environment interaction of these characters. These results coincide partly with the results of Khaleque and Eunus (1977), Uddin et al. (1979), Azam (1981), Amirthadevarathinum (1987) and Ganesh and Soundrapandium (1988). They found both linear and non-linear functions were operative of which linear function predominantly contributed to the G X E different genotypes in interaction of different characters of rice.

From the results it was observed that among the parents and cross populations, parent Mut NS1 had high response (b_1) with high mean and low stability in all the characters which indicated its suitability for favourable environments. On the other hand, the cross populations F_1 , F_2 and F_3 generations had more or less

unit response, moderate high mean and low stability in all the characters which indicated their suitability for all environments. Thus selection from the segregating generations (F_2 and F_3) for all environments will be more effective. Azam (1981), Amirthadevarathinam (1987), Narendra *et al.* (1988) and Ganesh and Soundrapandian (1988) made selections on the basis of \overline{X} , b_1 and \overline{S}_d^2 for different environments for grain yield and other characters in rice.

The correlation between mean (\overline{X}) and response (b_1) of all the characters were found highly significant and positive in nature indicating that response is directly proportional to population mean of the genotypes i.e. response of population increases with the increase of mean. This also indicated that these two aspects of phenotype are under the control of same gene system. Eberhart and Russel (1966), Perkins and Jinks (1968a), Westerman (1971), Bush et al. (1976) and Singh and Singh (1980) reported positive correlations between these three aspects $(\bar{X}, b_1 \text{ and } \bar{S}_d^2)$ of phenotype. On the other hand, correlations between mean (\overline{X}) and stability (\overline{S}_d^2) and between response (b_1) and stability (\overline{s}_d^2) whether positive or negative were found to be non-significant in most cases. This suggested that stability is independent of the other two aspects (mean and response) of phenotype and it is under the control of different gene system. The independent nature of stability or non-linearity from response or linearity was also indicated by joint regression

analysis. The independent nature of these three aspects $(\overline{X}, b_1 and \overline{S}_d^2)$ of phenotype in different crops was reported by many workers such as Khaleque, 1975; Bush *et al.*, 1976; Uddin *et al.*, 1979 and Uddin, 1983.

Significant positive association of means of different characters in all the cases suggested that mean performance (either increase or decrease) of any character is dependent on the mean performances (either increase or decrease) of other characters. The association of responses of different characters in all the cases, except one, gave similar results. On the other hand, the insignificant association, either positive or negative, between stabilities in most of the cases suggested that stability parameters of the characters are independent of stability parameters of other characters. The significant association between means and between responses supports foregoing discussion that means and responses are controlled by same gene systems.

Regarding the genetic control of means (\overline{X}) of different characters, the data of this study confirmed the observation and genetic architecture presented in the PART I of this Thesis. Additivity, dominance and non-allelic gene actions were found from the present data. Significant additive effects (d) and nonsignificant dominance (h) effects suggested that additive genes compared to dominance genes contributed a major part in the inheritance of these characters. Non-allelic gene action or epistasis was observed in case of plant height and grains per

panicle. Opposite signs of 'h' and 'l' in these two characters suggested the involvement of duplicate type of gene action in these cases. These results also confirmed our results presented in PART I.

Results obtained from the estimation of effect of different fertilizers and their combinations on different characters indicated that the fertilizers (N, P and K) singly had significant single effect on all the characters except K on flag leaf length. The nature of these effects were positive suggesting that plants receiving these three fertilizers singly had increased performance of grain yield and other characters. Significant positive effect of N in combination with P was also observed in effective tillers per plant, primary branches per panicle, grains per panicle and grain yield per plant. However, the effect of N application was much more greater than the effects produced by other fertilizers. Similar types of results were obtained by Khaleque and Eunus (1977), Uddin et al. (1979) and Azam (1981) in grain yield and yield components of rice. Favourable effect of N application have also been reported by Uddin et al. (1980) in root-shoot characters of rice.

Results of effects of different fertilizers and their combinations on different characters of different populations also showed more or less similar results. All the characters of different populations were affected by the fertilizers when applied singly. These fertilizers, when applied singly, produced

favourable and significant effect on the characters of different populations except the case of flag length of P_1 , F_1 , F_3 and B_2 and grain yield/plant of P_1 . The combination of N with P significantly affected primary branches per panicle, grains per panicle and yield per plant of most of the populations. Few of the studied characters of some of the populations have been affected by the other combinations of N, P and K.

From the foregoing discussion it becomes evident that high mean performance of grain yield and other eight different characters have been inherited from the mutant lines to their cross generations and the characters of these populations were highly stable with response near to unity. This suggested their suitability for all environments. The discussion also indicated that additivity played the major role in the inheritance of these means of different characters. The use of these mutant lines in future breeding programme is, therefore, highly desirable.

SUMMARY

An investigation on genotype-environment interaction was carried out for nine agronomic characters of rice (*Oryza sativa* L.) involving segregating (F_2 , F_3 , B_1 and B_2) and non-segregating (F_1 and parents) generations under eight artificially created soil environments with N, P and K fertilizers. It also included the study of relationship between three parameters viz., mean (\overline{X}), response (b_1) and stability (\overline{S}_d^2) of a phenotype and a genetic nature of mean. Means of different segregating and non-segregating generations were different for different characters. These means varied within and between environments. The means of cross populations were within the parental ranges. Environmental means indicated that means of all the characters of the populations were greatly affected by the different nutritional treatments.

Genotype-environment interactions were found to be operative in both segregating and non-segregating generations. Linear functions of the interactions were significant suggesting that major part of the interactions were accounted by the linear functions of the environmental means. However, some of the interactions were accounted by the non-linear functions which were independent of the linear functions of the environmental means. Both linear and non-linear components of genotype-. environment interaction were under the control of different gene

systems. The genotypes had varied responses to environmental changes. The range of responses among the segregating and nonsegregating generations (F_1 , F_2 , F_3 , B_1 and B_2) did not exceed the parental ranges in both the directions in all the cases. For different characters average, below average and above average responses were exhibited by the different genotypes and the standard errors of responses were heterogeneous. All the genotypes showed more or less similar stability in all the characters. Joint regression analysis gave the similar indication. Selections for all environments can be made from the segregating generations (F_2 and F_3). Correlation studies of three aspects viz., mean, response and stability $(\overline{X}, b_i \text{ and } \overline{S}_d^2)$ of phenotype indicated that response is dependent and stability is independent of the means. It also indicated that mean and response are controlled by same genes system while stability is controlled by different gene systems.

Nature of inheritance of mean was detected and estimated. It was found that additivity played the major part in the inheritance of mean of all the characters. Duplicate types of gene actions were also noted in two of the studied characters.

Individual application of fertilizers (N or P or K) had favourable effects on all the characters of the populations. Application of N, compared to the other fertilizers or different combinations of these three fertilizers, had the greatest effect on the studied characters.

REFERENCES

- Alfonso, R.; J. E. Deus and E. Suarez, 1988. Evaluation of genotype - environment interaction and heritability of some agronomic traits in rice (*Oryza sativa*). Agrotecnia-de-Cuba, 20 (1) : 41 - 48.
- / Ali, A. E.; M. I. Shaalan; M. A. El-Fawal; A. M. Gad and A. A. Elkhishen, 1975. Breeding studies on some crosses of rice (*Oryza sativa* L.). I. Inheritance of plant height. Egyptian J. Genet. & Cytol., 4 (2) : 474.
 - Allard, R. W., 1960. Principles of Plant Breeding. John Wiley and Sons. Inc. N.Y.
 - Allard, R. W. and J. Harding, 1963. Early generation analysis and prediction of gain under selection in derivatives of a wheat hybrid. Crop. Sci., 3 : 454 - 456.
 - Amirthadevarathinam, A., 1987. Stability analysis of some released varieties, local cultivars and promising cultures of dry and semi-dry paddy. Madras Agricultural Journal, 74 (10-11) : 434 - 439.
 - Anderson, V. L., 1953. Ph.D. Thesis. Iowa State College Library (Cited by Hayman, B.I., 1955). The description and analysis of gene action and interaction. Cold Spring Harbor Symposia on Quantitative Biology. Vol. XX.
 - Anderson, V. L. and O. Kempthorne, 1954. A model for the study of quantitative inheritance. Genetics, 39 : 883 898.

- Aquino, R.C. and P.R. Jennings,1966. Inheritance and significance of dwarfism in an indica rice variety. Crop Sci., 6 : 551-554.
- Azam, M. A., 1981. Gene action and genotype environment interaction in rice (*Oryza sativa* L.). M. Phil. Thesis, University of Rajshahi, Bangladesh.
 - Bains, K. S., 1976. Parent dependent genotype environment interaction in crosses of spring wheat. Heredity, 36 : 163-171.
 - Bhatt, G. M., 1972. Inheritance of heading date, plant height and kernel weight in two spring wheat crosses. Crop Sci., 12 : 95 - 98.
- ✓ Bitzer, M. J.; F. L. Patterson and W. E. Nyquist, 1971. Hybrid vigour and gene action in six-parent diallel cross of soft winter wheat. Can. J. Genet. Cytol., 13 : 131 - 137.
 - Busch, R. H.; J. Hammond and R. C. Frohberg, 1976. Stability and performance of hard red spring wheat bulks for grain yield. Crop. Sci., 16 : 256 - 259.
 - Breese, E.L., 1969. The environment and significance of genotypeenvironment interaction in grasses. Heredity, 24 : 27 - 44.
 - Buico Alanis, L., 1966. Environment and genotype environmental components of variability. Inbred lines. Heredity, 21 : 387 - 397.
 - Bucio Alanis, L. and J. Hill, 1966. Environment and genotype environmental components of variability. II. Heterozygotes.

Heredity, 21 : 399 - 405.

- Castle, W. E. and S. A. Wright, 1921. An improved method of estimating the number of blending inheritance. Science, 54: 223.
- Cavalli, L. L., 1952. An analysis of linkage in quantitative inheritance. HMSO. London. pp. 135 144.
- Chandraratna, M. F., 1961. Variety-Nitrogen interactions in rice. IRC News Lettr, 10 : 17 - 19.
- Chandraratna, M. F. and K.I. Sakai, 1960. A biometrical analysis of matroclinous inheritance of grain weight in rice. Heredity, 14 : 365 - 373.
- Chang, T.T.; H. Morishima; C.S. Heang; O. Tagumpay and K. Tateno, 1965. Genetic analysis of plant height, maturity and other quantitative traits in the cross of Peta x 1-geo-tze. J. Agr. Ass. China, 51 : 1 - 8.
- Chang, T.T. and B. S. Vergera, 1972. Ecological and genetical information on adaptibility and yielding ability in tropical rice varieties. Rice Breeding, IRRI, 1972 : 431 - 458.
- Chaudhary, B. S. and R. S. Paroda, 1979. Stability in relation to homogeneous and heterogenous populations in wheat. Indian J. Genet. Pl. Breed., 39 : 425 - 433.
- Chaudhury, D.; S. N. Ratho; S.N. Mira and M.J. Balakrishna Rao, 1976. Variability and correlation studies in the F generation of two intravarietal crosses in rice. Riso., 25 (2) : 103 - 111.

- Choi, H. C., 1990. Inheritance of some characters and their recombined variations in a remote cross of rice, IR29/ Cheolweon 1. Research Reports of the Rural Development Administration, Rice. Korea Republic, 32 (1) : 1 - 11.
 - Comstock, R.E. and H.F. Robinson, 1948. The components of genetic variance in populations of biparental progenies and their use in estimating the average degree of dominance. Biometrics, 4 : 254 - 266.
 - East, E. M., 1915. Studies on size inheritance in Nicotina. Genetics, 1 : 164 - 176.
 - Eberhart, S. A. and W. A. Russel, 1966. Stability parameters for comparing varieties. Crop Sci., 6 : 36 40.
 - Finlay, K.W. and G.N. Wilkinson, 1963. The analysis of adaptation
 in a plant breeding programme. Aust. J. Agric. Res.,14 : 742
 754.
- Fisher, R. A. 1918. The correlation between relatives on the supposition of Mendelian inheritance. Trans. Roy. Soc. Edin., 52 : 399 - 433.
- Fisher, R. A.; F. R. Immer and Q. Tedin, 1932. The genetical interpretation of statistics of the third degree in the study of quantitative inheritance. Genetics, 17 : 107 - 124.
- Freeman, G.H. and J.M. Perkins, 1971. Environmental and genotypeenvironmental components of variability. Relations between genotypes grown in different environments and measures of these environments. Heredity, 27 : 15 - 23.

- Fripp, Y. J. and C. E. Caten, 1973. Genotype environmental interaction in Schizophyllum commune. III. The relationship between mean expression and sensitivity to change in environment. Heredity, 30 : 341 - 349.
- Ganesh, S. K. and G. Soundrapandian, 1988. Stability analysis in short duration varieties of rice (<u>Oryza sativa</u> L.). Madras Agricultural Journal, 75 (5-6) : 189 - 195.
- Gill, K. S.; G. S. Bhullar and G. S. Mahal, 1979. Gene action in seven parent diallel cross of macaroni wheat. Indian J. Agric. Sci., 49 : 827 - 831.
- Hahn, W.S. and Y.A. Chae, 1987. Estimating genetic parameters and effeciency analysis of the crossing among single, double, three way and back cross in rice (Oryza sativa L.) breeding. Research Reports of the Rural Development Administration, Agriculture Engineering, Farm management and Sericulture, Korea Republic, 29 (2) : 36 - 57.
 - Hayman, B. I., 1954. The analysis of variance of diallel table. Biometrics, 10 : 235 - 244.
 - Hayman, B. I. and K. Mather, 1955. The description of gene interaction in continuous variation. Biometrics, 10 : 69 - 82.
 - Hayman, B. I., 1957. Interaction, heterosis and diallel crosses. Genetics, 42 : 336 - 355.
 - Hayman, B.I., 1958. The separation of epistasis from additive and dominance variation in generation means. Heredity,12:371-390.

- Hayes, H. K. 1922. Production of high protein maize by Mendelian method. Genetics, 7 : 235 257.
- Heu, M.H., T.T. Chang and H.M. Beachell, 1968. The inheritance of culm length, panicle length, duration of heading and bacterial leaf blight reaction in a rice cross : Singadis x Taichung (native) 1. Jap. J. Breed., 18 : 7 - 11.
- Hill, J., 1966. Recurrent backcrossing in the study of quantitative inheritance. Heredity, 21 : 85 - 120.
- Immer, F. R. and E.R. Ausemus, 1931. A statistical study of wheat and oat strains on grown in rod-row trails. J. Amer. Soc. Agrn., 23 : 118 - 131.
- IRRI, 1967. Annual report, 1966. IRRI, Philippines. p. 302.
- Islam, R., 1978. Inheritance of some quantative characters of wheat. M. Phil. Thesis, University of Rajshahi, Bangladesh.
- Islam, R., O.I. Joarder and A.M. Eunus, 1981. Genotype X seeding date interaction in wheat. Bangladesh J. Bot., 10 (2) : 195 - 200.
- Jatasra, D.S. and R.S. Paroda, 1978. Genetic divergence in wheat under different environmental conditions. Cereal Research Communications, 6 : 307 - 317.
- Jinks, J. L., 1954. The analysis of heritable variation in a dialled cross of *Nicotiana rustica* varieties, Genetics, 39 : 767 788.
- Jinks, J. L. and K. Mather, 1955. Stability and development of heterozygotes and homozygotes. Proc.Roy.Soc.B., 143:561-578.

- Joarder, O.I. and A. M. Eunus, 1968. Inheritance of earliness and plant height in an éleven parent diallel cross of <u>Brassica</u> <u>juncea</u> L. Sci. Res., 5 : 200 - 211.
- Joarder, O. I. and A. M. Eunus, 1977. A study of environmental interaction shown by heading and hervasting time of Brassica campestris L. Z. Planzenzuchtung, 78 : 310 - 318.
- Joarder, O. I.; A. M. Eunus and S. Rahman, 1977. Analysis of F generation of <u>Brassica campestris</u> L. Acta Agronomica, 26 : 354 - 364.
- Johannsen, W., 1909. Elemente der exakten Erblichaeitslehre. Fisher, Jena.
- Johnson, H. W.; H. F. Robinson and R.E. Comstock,1955. Estimation of genetic and environmental variability in soybeans. Agron. J., 47 : 314 - 318.
- Kaul, M. L. H., 1972. Performance, interrelationship and heritability estimates of certain morphological traits of Oryza sativa L. J. Indian Bot. Soc., 51 : 286 - 290.
- Kaul, M. L. H. and A. K. Bhan, 1974. Studies on some genetic parameters of rice (Oryza sativa L.). Theo. App. Genet., 44 (4) : 178 - 183.
- Kawano, K. and M. Takahashi, 1968. Studies on the relationship among plant characters in rice. II. Genotype - environment interaction as a limiting factor for negative correlation between characters. Ikushugaku Zasshi/Jap. J. Breed., 18 : 27 - 45.

- Keeble, F. and C. Pellow, 1910. The mode of inheritance of stature and time of flowering in peas (*Pisum sativum*). J. Genet., 1 : 47 - 56.
- Kelly, O.; J. Fred and W. W. Hull, 1932. Parent offspring correlations in Corn. J. Amer. Soc. Agrn., 24 : 861 - 867.
- Kempthorne, O., 1954. The correlation between relatives in a random mating population. Proc. Roy. Soc. B., 143 : 103 - 113.
- Kempthorne, 0., 1957. An introduction of genetic statistics. John
 Wiley and Sons, Inc. N.Y.
- /Khaleque, M. A., 1975. Studies on quantitative characters in rice (*Oryza sativa* L.). Ph.D. Thesis. Rajshahi University.
 - Khaleque, M. A. and A. M. Eunus, 1975. Inheritance of some quantitative characters in a diallel experiment of six rice strains. SABRAO Journal, 7 (2) : 217 - 224.
 - Khaleque, M.A. and A.M. Eunus, 1977. Genotype X Macro-environment interaction and diversity estimates in rice. Curr. Agric., 1 - 2 : 41 - 44.
 - Khaleque, M. A.; O. I. Joarder; A.M. Eunus and A.K.M.N. Islam, 1978. Nature of gene interaction in the inheritance of yield and yield components in rice. Oryza, 15 : 157 - 172.

Kim, K.H. and M.H. Heu, 1977. Genetic segregation of plant height in intervarietal rice crosses. V. Crosses between semidwarf varieties. Korean J. Breed., 9(2) : 129 - 134.

Kulkarni, N.; P. P. Reddy; D.V.S.R. Rao and G. M. Rao, 1988. Genotype X environment interaction in rice (Oryza sativa).

Indian Journal of Agricultural Sciences, 58(6) : 473 - 475.

- Kumar, C.R.A.; S.R. Sree Rangasamy and S. R. S. Rangasamy, 1986. Diallel analysis for plant height in rice. Egyptian Journal of Genetics and Cytology, 15 (2) : 223 - 230.
 - Li, C. C. and T. T. Chang, 1970. Diallel analysis of agronomic traits in rice. Bot. Bull. Acad. Sinica., 11 : 61 78.
 - Liang, G. H., 1967. Diallel analysis of agronomic characters in grain sorghum, *Sorghum vulgure*. Can. J. Genet. Cytol., 9 : 269 - 276.

Mather, K., 1949. Biometrical genetics. Dover Pub. Inc. N. Y.

- Mather, K. and A. Vines, 1952. The inheritance of height and flowering time in a cross of *Nicotiana rustica* L. Quant. Inheritance HMSO, London, pp. 49 - 80.
- Mather, K. and R. M. Jones, 1958. Interactions of genotypes and environments in continuous variation. I. Description. Biometrics, 14: 343 - 359.
- Mather, K. and J. L. Jinks, 1971. Biometrical genetics. Cornell University Press.
- Matzinger, D. F.; G. F. Sprague and C.C. Cockerhum, 1959. Diallel crosses of maize in experiments repeated over locations and year. Agron. J., 51 : 346 - 350.
- ✓ Maurya, D. M., 1976. Heritability and genetic advance in rice. Oryza, 13 (2) : 97 - 100.

- Mitra, G. N., 1962. Hybrid vigour and inheritance of height in rice. Nature, 194 : 704 708.
- Mohamed, A. H. and A. S. Hanna, 1965. Inheritance of quantitative characters in rice II. Inheritance of panicle length. Can. J. Genet. Cytol., 7 : 406 - 417.
- Morishima, H.; H.I. Oka and T.T. Chang, 1967. Analysis of genetic variations in plant type of rice. 2. Seasonal change in genetic plant type. Ikushugaku Zasshi/Jap. J. Breed., 17 : 251 - 261.
- Nelsson-Ehle, H., 1909. Kreuzungsuntersuchungen an hafer und weizen. Lund.
- Parh, D. K. and S. H. Khan, 1986. Association among stability
 parameters in wheat. Bangladesh J. Agric. Sci., 11 (2) : 122
 126.
- Parh, D. K. and S. H. Khan, 1987. Stability of component characters in relation to stability in wheat. Bangladesh J. Agric. Sci., 14 (2) : 49 - 53.
- Paroda, R.A. and A.B. Joshi, 1970. Genetic architecture of yield and components of yield in wheat. Indian J. Genet. Pl. Breed., 30.
- Paroda, R.S. and J.D. Hayes, 1971. An investigation of genotype environment interactions for rate of ear emergence in spring barley. Heredity, 26 : 157 - 175.
- Paul, N. K.; O. I. Joarder and A. M. Eunus, 1978. Inheritance of fibre yield of <u>Corchorus olitorius</u> L. Bangladesh J. Bot., 7: 1 - 5.

- Pearman, I.; S. M. Thomas and G. N. Thorne, 1978. Effect of nitrogen fertilizer on growth and yield of semidwarf and tall varieties of winter wheat. J. Agric. Sci. 91 : 31 - 45.
- Perkins, J.M. and J.L. Jinks, 1968a. Environmental and genotypeenvironmental components of variability. III. Multiple lines and crosses. Heredity, 23 : 339 - 356.
- Perkins, J. M. and J. L. Jinks, 1968b. Environment and genotype environmental components of variability. IV. Non-linear interactions for multiple inbred lines. Heredity, 23 : 525 - 535.
- Petr, F.C. and K.J. Frey, 1966. Genotype correlations, dominance and heritability of quantitative characters in oats. Crop Sci., 6 : 259 - 262.
- Prasad, K. D. and J. K. Chandra, 1977. Note on genetic parameters for biometrical characters in short statured rice varieties. Indian J. Agric. Sc., 47(10) : 525 - 526.
- Rahman, M.A. and A.M. Eunus,1973. Inheritance of yield components in 6 - parent diallel cross of rice (Oryza sativa L.). Bang. J. Bot., 2 : 119 - 130.
 - Rajagopalon, K.; J. Chandramohan and T. Narayanaswamy, 1973. Studies on cross between dwarf and tall indica rice varieties. Madras Agric. J., 60 : 104 - 110.
 - Rajas, B. A. and J. F. Sprague, 1952. A composition of variance components in corn yield traits III. General and specific combining ability and their interaction with locations and

years. Agron. J., 44 : 462 - 466.

- Rajendran, P.G. and K.M.N. Namboodiri, 1971. Inheritance of plant height and flowering duration in four rice crosses. Agric. Res. J. Kerala, 9:58 - 62.
- Ree, J.H., H.O. Choi and S.K. Hahn, 1964. Studies on rice variety x environment interactions. Nong. Sa. Si-hemp. Yen-Ku-Po-Ko/ Res. Rep. Office Rur. Dev. Suwen., (Korea) 7 (2) : 99 - 105.
- Samuel, C. J. A.; J. Hill; E. L. Breese and A. Davies, 1970. Assessing and predicting environmental response in Lolium perenne. J. Agric. Sci., (Camb.), 75 : 1 - 9.
- Sathyanarayaniah, K. and M.V. Reddi, 1973. Inheritance of certain morphological characters in a cross between IR-8 X WC 1263 rice. Andhra Agric. J., 18 : 177 - 183.
- Shasma, J. C. and Z. Ahmed, 1980. Genetic architecture for some traits in spring wheat. Indian J. Agric. Sci., 50 : 457 - 461.
- Shaalai, M.I. and A.E. Aly, 1977. Studies on type of gene action in some crosses of rice (Oryza sativa L.) in Egypt. Lybian J. Agric., 6 (1) : 235 - 243.
- Shaalan, M. I.; A. M. Gad; A. E. Aly; M. A. El-Fawal and A. A. Elkhishen, 1975. Breeding studies on some crosses of rice (<u>Oryza sativa</u> L) II. Inheritance of yield and its components. Egyptian J. Genet. and Cytol., 4 (2) : 474.
 - Singh, K.B. and S.C. Anand, 1971. Inheritance of grain number in wheat. Indian J. Genet. Pl. Breed., 31 : 177 183.

- Singh, D. P. and J.S. Nanda, 1976. Inheritance of yield and yield contributing characters in rice. Indian J. Agric. Sci., 40 (7) : 323 - 326.
 - Singh, S. V. and R. V. Singh, 1980. Stability of component characters in relation with the stability of yield. Indian J. Genet. Pl. Breed., 40 : 93 - 98.
- "Tai, S. F.; S.T. Wu and F.S. Thseng, 1989. Genetic and breeding studies on the progranic of *Oryza nivara* Sharma et Shastry X *O. sativa* L. II. Variation in terms of agronomic characters in the F₂hybrids and BC₁ populations. Journal of Agriculture and Forestry, 38 (2) : 165 - 189.
 - Uddin, M.M., 1979. Studies of genotype ennvironment interaction of rice (Oryza sativa L.). M. Phil. Thesis. University of Rajshahi, Bangladesh.
 - Uddin, M.M., 1983. Studies on some agronomic characters of wheat (*Triticum aestivum* L. em. Thell.). Ph.D. Thesis, University of Rajshahi, Bangladesh.
 - Uddin, M. M.; O. I. Joarder and M. A. Khaleque, 1979. The measurement and significance of genotype - environment interaction in rice, Bang. J. Sci. Res., 2 : 51 - 60.
 - Uddin, M. M.; O.I. Joarder; M.S. Islam; M.A. Qaiyyum; A.M. Eunus and M. A. Khaleque, 1980. Genotype - environment interaction of root-shoot charcters of rice associated with differences in soil. Oryza, 18 : 133 - 140.

Walton, P. D., 1972. Quantitative inheritance of yield and

associated factors in spring wheat. Euphytica, 21 : 553 - 556.

- Westerman, J. M., 1971. Genotype environment interactions and development regulations in <u>Arabidopsis thalliana</u> I. Inbred lines description. Heredity, 25 : 609 - 627.
- Whingwiri, E. E. and D. R. Kemp, 1980. Spikelet development and grain yield of the wheat ear in response to applied nitrogen. Aust. J. Agric. Res., 31 : 637 - 647.
- Widner, J. N. and K. L. Lebsock, 1973. Combining ability in durum wheat. I. Agronomic Characteristics. Crop Sci., 13 : 164 -167.
- Wu, H. P., 1968. Studies on the quantitative inheritance of <u>Oryza</u> <u>sativa</u> L. I. Diallel analysis of heading time and plant height in F progeny. Bot. Bull. Acad. Sinica, 9 : 129.
- Yan, Y.M. and X.X. Wang, 1990. Study on the inheritance of flagleaf shape in hybrids between indica and japonica rice. Hereditas-Beijing, 12 (1) : 1 - 4.
 - Yates, F., 1947. Analysis of data from all possible reciprocal crosses between a set of parental lines. Heredity, 1 : 287 - 301.
 - Yates, F. and W. G. Cochran, 1938. The analysis of groups experiments. J. Agric. Sci., 28 : 556 - 580.
- Yen, C. F., 1977. Studies on the genetics and breeding of semidwarf rice. Anatomy and biometrical genetics of stem. J. Agric. Asso. China, 100 : 60 - 77.

Zuberi, M. I. and J. S. Gale, 1976. Variation in wild populations
 of Papaver dubium. X. Genotype - environment interaction
 associated with differences in soil. Heredity, 36 (3) : 359
 - 368.

